
Democratic Services
Guildhall, High Street, Bath BA1 5AW
Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard Date: 10 November 2015
Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 395090 E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk
  

To: All Members of the Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment Panel

Councillor Christopher Pearce (Chair), Councillor David Veale, Councillor Cherry Beath, 
Ann Berresford, Councillor Mary Blatchford and Shirley Marsh

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers
Press and Public

Dear Member

Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment Panel: Wednesday, 18th November, 2015 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment 
Panel, to be held on Wednesday, 18th November, 2015 at 9.30 am in the Council Chamber  
- Guildhall, Bath.

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

Sean O'Neill
for Chief Executive

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report.

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/


NOTES:

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Sean O'Neill who is 
available by telephoning Bath 01225 395090 or by calling at the Guildhall Bath (during 
normal office hours).

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday) 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Sean O'Neill as above.

3. Recording at Meetings:-

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.

Some of our meetings are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, 
please make yourself known to the camera operators.

To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or 
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to 
the camera operator

The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be 
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound 
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

4. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Sean O'Neill as 
above.

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:-

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies - 
Midsomer Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.  

For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms.

5. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting.

http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast


6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER.

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted.

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.



Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment Panel - Wednesday, 18th November, 2015

at 9.30 am in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath

A G E N D A

1.  EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out under 
Note 9.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
complete the green interest forms circulated to groups in their pre-meetings (which will 
be announced at the Council Meeting) to indicate:

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.

(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

3.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

To receive any declarations from Members of the Committee and Officers of 
personal/prejudicial interests in respect of matters for consideration at this meeting, 
together with their statements on the nature of any such interest declared.

4.  TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR 

5.  ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS 

6.  ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED AND ADDED 
MEMBERS 

To deal with any petitions or questions from Councillors and, where appropriate, co-
opted and added members.

7.  MINUTES: 11 SEPTEMBER 2015 (Pages 7 - 12)

Before discussing the exempt minutes of 11 September 2015, Members are invited to 



consider the arguments set out in the Public Interest document and to pass the 
following resolution:

“The Committee having been satisfied that the public interest would be better 
served by not disclosing relevant information, RESOLVES that the public shall 
be excluded from the meeting during the discussion of the exempt minutes of 
the meeting of 11 September 2015, in accordance with the provisions of section 
100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, because of the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act as amended.”

8.  MANAGING LIABILITIES - ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS (Pages 13 - 96)

9.  REBALANCING POLICY (Pages 97 - 164)

10.  REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE (Pages 165 - 236)

Before discussing exempt appendix 3, Members are invited to consider the arguments 
set out in the Public Interest document and to pass the following resolution:

“The Committee having been satisfied that the public interest would be better 
served by not disclosing relevant information, RESOLVES that the public shall 
be excluded from the meeting during the discussion of exempt appendix 3, in 
accordance with the provisions of section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, because of the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act as amended.”

The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Sean O'Neill who can be contacted on 
01225 395090.

Protocol for Decision-making

Guidance for Members when making decisions

When making decisions, the Cabinet/Committee must ensure it has regard only to relevant 
considerations and disregards those that are not material.

The Cabinet/Committee must ensure that it bears in mind the following legal duties when 
making its decisions:

 Equalities considerations

 Risk Management considerations



 Crime and Disorder considerations

 Sustainability considerations

 Natural Environment considerations

 Planning Act 2008 considerations

 Human Rights Act 1998 considerations

 Children Act 2004 considerations

 Public Health & Inequalities considerations

Whilst it is the responsibility of the report author and the Council’s Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer to assess the applicability of the legal requirements, decision makers should 
ensure they are satisfied that the information presented to them is consistent with and takes 
due regard of them.



Bath and North East Somerset Council 

 

 
Page 1 

 

 
AVON PENSION FUND COMMITTEE - INVESTMENT PANEL 

 

Minutes of the Meeting held 
Friday, 11th September, 2015, 2.00 pm 

 
Members: Councillor Christopher Pearce (Chair), Councillor David Veale, Councillor 
Cherry Beath, Ann Berresford and Councillor Mary Blatchford 
Advisors: Tony Earnshaw (Independent Advisor), Steve Turner (Mercer) and James Giles 
(Mercer) 
Also in attendance: Tony Bartlett (Head of Business, Finance and Pensions), Liz 
Woodyard (Investments Manager) and Matthew Clapton (Investments Officer) 

 
1 EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 

The Democratic Services Officer read out the procedure. 
  

2 

  
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

There were none. 
  

3 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 

Apologies were received from Shirley Marsh. 
  

4 TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  

 

There was none. 
  

5 ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 

PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  

 

Two questions had been submitted by Virginia Williamson of Transition Bath. These 
and the answer provided by officers were: 
 

1. What is the size of the Avon Pension Fund's investment in fossil fuels, 
including exploration? 

 
The Fund has approximately 1.2% of its assets invested in fossil fuel companies or 
c. £44m. 
 

2. How much does the APF invest in renewable energies, including their 
research? 

 
The Fund does not allocate directly to renewables.  The investment managers can 
invest in both renewable energy and research into renewables through the stocks 
that they hold in their portfolios.   
 
At the invitation of the Chair, Ms Williamson made a statement about her background 
and how she had come to raise these questions. The Head of Business, Finance 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

 
Page 2 of 4 

 

and Pensions informed Ms Williamson that the Committee would be conducting a 
review of its responsible investment policy over the next twelve months, commencing 
with a paper that would be on the agenda of the next meeting on 25 September. 
Issues like the ones that Ms Williamson had raised would be considered as part of 
the review. 
  

6 ITEMS FROM COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED AND ADDED MEMBERS  

 

There were none. 
  

7 MINUTES: 4 MARCH 2015  

 

These were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
  

8 MANAGING LIABILITIES  

 

The Investment Manager presented the report.  She said that the two main means of 
managing a gap between the Fund’s liabilities and its investment assets to meet 
those liabilities were generating more income / capital through the Investment 
Strategy or by raising the level of employer contributions. Mercer had produced a 
presentation on investment options and possible ways of managing this investment 
risk. The Panel was being invited to explore these issues before decisions were 
taken by the Committee. 
 
Mr Turner gave a presentation based on the Mercer document that had been 
circulated with the agenda. He explained the possible options as to how the Fund 
could more effectively manage the risk that the mismatch between liabilities and 
assets posed to the Fund. The concept of leverage was explained in detail.  
 
The Chair asked for clarification of the discount rate. He wondered whether it meant 
that future liabilities were calculated at present cash value and, secondly, whether 
the amount of bonds held would need to vary inversely to the level of interest rates. 
Mr Turner confirmed both of these suggestions.  
 
There was discussion about the future trend of interest rates. The Head of Business, 
Finance and Pensions pointed out that political, rather than purely market factors, 
would have a major impact on the trend. Mr Turner said that markets had already 
priced in an expected rise in interest rates. 
 
After discussion, the Panel felt that it was not able to make firm recommendations to 
the Committee at this time, and that they should consider Mercer’s proposals again 
at a future meeting. Members agreed with the suggestion of the Investments 
Manager that a presentation by an investment manager on how such strategies 
including leverage worked would be useful.  
 
RESOLVED  

 
1. To request that further work be done on Mercer’s proposals on an investment 

risk management framework and that they should appear on the agenda of a 
future meeting of the Panel. 

 

Page 8



 

 
Page 3 of 4 

 

2. To increase the allocation to Index Linked Gilts to the maximum permitted, 
funding the switch from fixed interest gilts. 

 
3. To invite one of the Fund’s investments manager to present to the Panel on 

how leverage works. 
 
  

9 REVIEW OF STRATEGIC HEDGING OF CURRENCY EXPOSURE  

 

RESOLVED that the Committee having been satisfied that the public interest would 
be better served by not disclosing relevant information, the public shall be excluded 
from the meeting during the discussion of this item, in accordance with the provisions 
of section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act as amended. 
 
The Investment Manager presented the report. 
 
After discussion, Members RESOLVED to made recommendations to the 
Committee. 
 
The meeting returned to open session. 
  

10 INVESTMENT REPORT  

 

The Investments Manager presented the report. She said that there no major issues 
to report to the Panel at the moment. The headline figures were given in paragraph 3 
of the covering report. The latest funding position was not available at present, but 
would be given in the report to the next Committee meeting. She drew attention to 
Appendix 4 dealing with performance reporting of Partners Overseas Property 
Mandate; it was proposed to make changes to Partners’ benchmarks as explained 
on agenda page 227 in order that the benchmark and performance target more 
accurately reflected the assets held within the portfolio. 
 
Mr Turner commented on the Mercer investment report. 
 
No issues arising from the investment report were identified for reporting to the 
Committee. 
 
RESOLVED to note the information set out in the reports. 
  

11 WORKPLAN  

 

The Investments Manager presented the report. 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the panel was scheduled for 18 November 
2015. 
 
The Investments Manager suggested that the Meet the Managers Workshop should 
take place in November, and said that proposed dates would be circulated to 
Members. 
 

Page 9



 

 
Page 4 of 4 

 

RESOLVED 

 
1. To note the workplan to be included in the Committee papers. 

 
2. To note the proposed manager meeting schedule for the Panel. 

  
 
 

The meeting ended at 4.42 pm  
 

Chair(person)  

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 

 

Page 10



Document is Restricted

Page 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: AVON PENSION FUND INVESTMENT PANEL

MEETING 
DATE:

18 November 2015 AGENDA
ITEM
NUMBER

TITLE: MANAGING LIABILITIES – ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS

WARD: ALL

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Mercer Report: Risk Management Framework – Further training and 
scenario analysis

Appendix 2 –  Copy of Mercer report to September Panel Meeting - Risk Management 
Framework

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 At the September meeting, the Panel considered recommendations from Mercer 
on how the liability risks could be managed more effectively. At the meeting the 
Panel requested further analysis before making full recommendations to 
Committee.

1.2 The report from Mercer providing the additional analysis is at Appendix 1.

1.3 Insight Investment (an investment manager with experience of managing liability 
matching mandates) will give a presentation to the Panel on how an investment 
mandate of this nature can be implemented.

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Panel having considered the additional information provided by 
Mercer and agrees:

(1) That, in principle, the Fund should put a framework in place to more 
effectively use the investment assets to match the liabilities. 

(2) To prepare the proposed framework to be considered by the Panel for 
recommendation to the Committee.  The proposal will bring together the 
work done to date and the proposed framework including a 3 year plan to 
increase the level of matching and a longer term plan to reach a target 
level of matching when affordable.

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
3.1 There is provision in the 2015/16 budget for investment advice relating to the 

review of the Fund’s management of liability risks. Any future implementation of 
a liability risk management framework may incur additional costs for future 
budgets.

4 BACKGROUND
4.1 Pension liabilities are the accrued benefits that will be paid out in the future. The 

monetary values of these cashflows are known. However, the “net present value” 
of these liabilities changes over time and the investment strategy only partially 
matches these cashflows, i.e. there is a “mismatch”. The funding strategy 
calculates the contributions required to be paid into the Fund to fully fund 
pension cashflows as they fall due.  

4.2 Why manage these risks? By managing the mismatch between the change in 
value of assets and liabilities over time, the Fund can minimise funding level 
volatility and stabilise employer contribution rates more effectively.  

4.3 What are the causes of such risks? The 2 largest factors affecting changes in 
the value of liabilities are as follows:

 Changes in interest rate – higher interest rates increase the discount rate 
used to value liabilities, thereby reducing the current value put on future 
liabilities (and vice versa)

 Changes in inflation rate – higher rates of inflation lead to larger benefits 
payments to members 

4.4 How can we manage these risks? The impact of these risks on the funding 
level and contributions can be reduced by investing in assets whose value 
responds to changes in interest rates, inflation rates or longevity, in a similar way 
as the value of liabilities responds to such changes (i.e. by improving the 
‘matching characteristics’ of the stabilising portfolio to the liabilities).

4.5 The stabilising portfolio seeks to reduce volatility in the valuation outcome; the 
majority of the investment portfolio remains invested in growth assets that 
generate higher returns.  These “excess” returns help reduce the deficit 
contributions and employer contribution rates within the funding strategy.

4.6 Progress to date: In September, the Panel considered recommendations from 
Mercer and requested additional information before making full 
recommendations to Committee. Mercer’s original recommendations to the 
September Panel are outlined in Appendix 2 which is a copy of the September 
paper in which they explain the rationale, the impacts and the risks of the 
proposed framework. Specifically the report included:

(1) How interest rates and inflation rates impact the liabilities and investments 
portfolio and how the ‘mismatch’ in changes to liabilities and assets arises.

(2) How by using current bond assets more efficiently the Fund can significantly 
improve the matching characteristics of the investments portfolio. 

Page 14



(3) How by setting a target level of matching and putting an appropriate framework 
in place to reach that target the Fund can ensure the programme is implemented 
in an efficient manner.

(4) How by managing this mismatch, the increased certainty of outcome allows the 
actuary to reassess the level of prudency assumed when valuing the liabilities 
and thereby manage consistent contribution levels.

(5) An explanation of the nature of the investments to be made to achieve the 
desired outcome.  

5 MERCER REPORT WITH ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS
5.1 Having considered Mercer’s report at the September meeting, the Panel 

requested further work covering the following:

(1) How interest rates and inflation rates impact the liabilities and investments 
(2) Explanation of leverage, how it is used and the risks
(3) Scenario analysis outlining the impact of moves in yields
(4) Explanation of gilt repo’s as a hedging instrument and the inherent risks
5.2 The new report produced by Mercer with the additional information requested is 

included at Appendix 1. 

6 RECOMMENDATIONS
6.1 Mercer’s original recommendations to the September Panel are outlined in 

Appendix 2. The recommendations were:
(1) An immediate change to the UK government bond portfolio to improve matching.
(2) Developing a three year plan to increase the level of matching.
(3) Establish a longer term plan to reach a target level of matching when affordable.
6.2 At the September meeting the Panel agreed recommendation 1, to change the 

government bond portfolio to improve the matching of liabilities.
6.3 Having considered the information on liability driven investing provided to date, 

the Panel is asked to agree the following:
(1) Whether in principle they believe the Fund should put a framework in place to 

more effectively use the investment assets to match the liabilities.
(2) To prepare the proposed framework to be considered by the Panel for 

recommendation to the Committee.  The proposal will bring together the work 
done to date and the proposed framework including a 3 year plan to increase the 
level of matching and a longer term plan to reach a target level of matching when 
affordable.

6.4 The final proposal to be put forward to the Committee will be considered at the 
next Panel meeting in February.

7 RISK MANAGEMENT
7.1 The Avon Pension Fund Committee is the formal decision-making body for the 

Fund.  As such it has responsibility to ensure adequate risk management 
processes are in place.  It discharges this responsibility by ensuring the Fund 
has an appropriate investment strategy and investment management structure in 

Page 15



place that is regularly monitored.  The creation of an Investment Panel further 
strengthens the governance of investment matters and contributes to reduced 
risk in these areas.

8 EQUALITIES

8.1 An equalities impact assessment is not necessary as the report contains only 
recommendations to note.

9 CONSULTATION

9.1 N/a

10 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION

10.1 Are set out in the report.

11 ADVICE SOUGHT

11.1 The Council's Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director – Business Support) has 
had the opportunity to input to this report and has cleared it for publication.

Contact person Liz Woodyard, Investments Manager 01225 395306

Background papers

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative 
format

Page 16



H E A L T H  W E A L T H  C A R E E R

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  F R A M E W O R K  –
F U R T H E R  T R A I N I N G  A N D
S C E N A R I O  A N A L Y S I S
A V O N  P E N S I O N  F U N D

FEBRUARY 11 2015

Steve Turner
Partner

18 NOVEMBER 2015P
age 17



© MERCER 2015 1

A G E N D A

• Recap – September Panel Meeting 2

• Why do yields matter? 5

• What is leverage? 7

• Sensitivities 12

• Recapitalisation / re-leveraging events 15

• What is a Gilt Repo 19

• Summary and Next steps 24

• Appendix 29

P
age 18



© MERCER 2015 2
2

RECAP – SEPTEMBER
PANEL MEETING

P
age 19



© MERCER 2015 3

R E C A P  – S E P T E M B E R  P A N E L  M E E T I N G

• At the September meeting, the Investment Panel agreed to switch the Fund’s
current holdings in fixed interest and overseas government bonds into Index Linked
Gilts in order to better match the Fund’s liabilities (with 12% in Index-Linked Gilts).

• This move makes “better use” of the Fund’s existing “bond” assets to help
(modestly, but in the right direction) to reduce funding level volatility.

• As a further step, it was noted that using 3x leveraged funds would allow the Fund
to match 36% of funded liabilities. The attraction of this is that funding level volatility
could be reduced, whilst maintaining the current allocation to growth assets.

• This report provides more training on the use of leverage, and the impact on the
Fund and on leveraged assets should yields rise or fall.

P
age 20



© MERCER 2015 4

I M P R O V I N G  M AT C H I N G
I N I T I A L  T A R G E T  ( N E X T  T H R E E  Y E A R S )

Strategy Current – switch fixed interest gilts to
index-linked gilts to match duration

Initial target

Liability protection from government bonds
(% of assets)

12% of assets 36%

Best estimate return (% p.a.) 6.0% 6.0%

Illustrative discount rate (% p.a.) 4.3% 4.5%

One year deficit risk £1.0bn £0.9bn

I N C R E A S E  I N  D I S C O U N T  R A T E  P O S S I B L E B E C A U S E
G R E A T E R  C E R T A I N T Y  A L L O W S  P R U D E N C E  T O  B E

R E L E A S E D

P
age 21



© MERCER 2015 5
5

WHY DO YIELDS
MATTER?

P
age 22



© MERCER 2015 6

Understand
the
Liabilities

• There is an inverse relationship between interest rates (aka long-term gilt yields)
and liability values

• Index-Linked Gilt yields are currently used to value the liabilities and therefore the
type of gilt yield that matters most to the Fund.  Index-Linked Gilts provide
exposure to real yield (a combination of nominal interest rates and inflation)

• Getting more exposure to real yields should help reduce funding level volatility

If long-term interest
rates fall, the
Fund’s discount
rate falls

Hence the Fund’s
liabilities rise

So, all else being
equal, the funding
level deteriorates

Liability ValueInterest
Rates

H O W  D O  I N T E R E S T  R A T E S  A N D  I N F L A T I O N  A F F E C T
L I A B I L I T I E S  O N  T H E  C U R R E N T  F U N D I N G  B A S I S ?

P
age 23



© MERCER 2015 7
7

WHAT IS  LEVERAGE?

P
age 24



© MERCER 2015 8

E V E R Y  D AY  E X A M P L E  O F  L E V E R A G E

£ 1 0 0 , 0 0 0
M O R T G A G E

£ 1 0 0 , 0 0 0
D E P O S I T

£ 1 0 0 , 0 0 0
M O R T G A G E

£ 2 0 0 , 0 0 0
D E P O S I T

Exposed to £200,000 of movements in house prices, but only requires £100,000 of investment –
“two times leveraged”

B o u g h t  f o r
£ 2 0 0 , 0 0 0

W O R T H
£ 3 0 0 , 0 0 0

H O M E  O W N E R  V A L U E  D O U B L E S

H O U S E  P R I C E S  R I S E  5 0 %

P
age 25



© MERCER 2015 9

• Physical instruments require a capital investment at outset (i.e. funded)
• Liquidity varies by instrument
• Pricing is typically transparent and standard instruments are traded
• Commonly held by pension schemes and generally well understood

• Can be funded (i.e. capital commitment is made) or unfunded (i.e. geared or
leveraged)

• Typically these are Over the Counter (“OTC”, i.e. bespoke) although some
exchange traded versions also exist

• Liquidity varies by instrument and within each type, some are highly illiquid and
could be more illiquid than physicals

• Less transparency on pricing for OTC contracts, although some standard
contracts address this

• Can offer more efficient hedging – i.e. more liability hedging per pound invested

Physical
Instruments

(1:1 exposure)

Synthetic /
Derivative

Instruments
(allows leveraged

exposure)

Index-Linked GiltsCorporate BondsFixed-Interest Gilts

Interest  Rate Swaps Inflation Swaps Gilt repos

H E D G I N G  I N S T R U M E N T S

P
age 26



© MERCER 2015 10

Funded exposure

• It is said that the position is funded (or unleveraged) if the
amount of assets (i.e. collateral*) invested in the hedging
portfolio is backing the same amount of risk exposure

• e.g. £100 of collateral is backing £100 of risk

Unfunded exposure

• If amount of collateral invested is less than the amount of
liabilities being hedged then the hedging portfolio is said to be
levered

• e.g. £100 of assets hedging £300 of risk

Funded vs Unfunded exposure

Why use leverage? To “free up” assets to use elsewhere in the portfolio, i.e. for return seeking purposes

£300
bond

exposure Unfunded

£100
collateral

£100
bond

exposure

£100
collateral

L E V E R A G E  E X P L A I N E D

*Collateral: a term used to describe the underlying assets invested in the LDI funds. The assets are typically high quality and liquid assets such as cash instruments and
government bonds, and are “on deposit” as security. These assets would be used to offset the potential loss should either counterparty default on its obligation under a swap or
gilt repo.

P
age 27



© MERCER 2015 11

• Starting position: £300 of interest rate exposure

• Obtained using £100 of collateral (e.g. cash)

• i.e. 3 times levered (i.e. 3 times more sensitive to movements in
rates)

If yields rise by 1%, it increases leverage

• Loss on interest rate exposure of £50

• So value of collateral drops from £100 to £50

• Leverage is £250 / £50 = 5 times (up from 3)

If yields rise by 2%, collateral extinguished(!)

• Loss on interest rate exposure of £100

• Value of collateral drops from £100 to zero

• More collateral required or close position

• In practice, collateral should be replenished long before this point is
reached.

What if?

£300 exposure

£50 collateral
£250 exposure

£200 exposure

No assets left!

£100 collateral

Leverage will rise / fall as net interest rates rise / fall

L E V E R A G E  E X P L A I N E D

P
age 28



© MERCER 2015 12
12

SENSITIV IT IES

P
age 29



© MERCER 2015 13

S E N S I T I V I T I E S  – W O R K E D  E X A M P L E
R A T E S  F A L L

• At 30 June 2015 the Fund had an estimated deficit of c.£1.1bn
with a funding level of 77%.

• LDI assets amount to c.12% of asset portfolio. Based on
leverage of around 3x around 36% of funded liabilities could be
hedged (c. 29% of total liabilities because of the deficit)

Starting position

Liabilities increase, assets also increase

RATES FALL BY 0.5% p.a.

• The value of the liabilities increases by around £455m, with
hedging assets increasing by £130m (asset increase would be
c. £43m without leverage)

• The deficit increases by around £325m and funding level falls
to 73%. (would be c. 71% without leverage)

• Leverage in the LDI portfolio falls to c.2.6x.

Unhedged
Liabilities

Other assets

Hedging assets
Hedged Liabilities

Deficit

£3,451m
£3,269m

£461m
£1,383m

£1,104m

Unhedged
liabilities á

Other assets -

Hedging assets á
Hedged

liabilities á

Deficit á
£3,775m

£3,269m

£590m
£1,513m

£1,429m

Numbers assume liabilities are 100% real in nature; ignores impact of changes in interest rates on corporate bond portfolio.

Liabilities increase, funding level falls (but matching assets provide some protection).

P
age 30



© MERCER 2015 14

S E N S I T I V I T I E S  – W O R K E D  E X A M P L E
R A T E S  R I S E

• At 30 June 2015 the Fund had an estimated deficit of c.£1.1bn
with a funding level of 77%.

• LDI assets amount to c.12% of asset portfolio. Based on
leverage of around 3x around 36% of funded liabilities could be
hedged (c. 29% of total liabilities because of the deficit)

Starting position

RATES RISE BY 0.5% p.a.

Unhedged
Liabilities

Other assets

Hedging assets
Hedged Liabilities

Deficit

£3,451m
£3,269m

£461m
£1,383m

£1,104m

Numbers assume liabilities are 100% real in nature; ignores impact of changes in interest rates on corporate bond portfolio.

Positive outcome for the Fund – liabilities fall and funding level increases.

• The value of the liabilities reduces by around £415m, with
hedging assets falling by £120m (asset increase would be
c. £40m without leverage)

• The deficit reduces to around £810m and funding level
increases to 82%. (would be c. 84% without leverage)

• Leverage in the LDI portfolio increases to c.3.7x.

Liabilities decrease, assets also decrease

Unhedged
liabilities â

Other assets -

Hedging assets â
Hedged

liabilities â

Deficit â
£3,155m

£3,269m

£342m
£1,264m

£808m

P
age 31



© MERCER 2015 15
15

R E C AP I TA L I S AT I ON  /
RE-LEVERAGIN G EVENTS

P
age 32



© MERCER 2015 16

R E C A P I T A L I S A T I O N  /  R E - L E V E R A G I N G  E V E N T S
If yields rise or fall beyond certain points the leverage may be too high or low to be managed efficiently. Once certain levels
are breached a recapitalisation or re-leveraging event may be triggered.

An increase in yields means that leverage levels increase.

If this level becomes too high, the value of the fund may be
too volatile as increasingly small changes in yields can
decrease the level of collateral materially.

A manager may require that collateral be “topped up” within a
particular timeframe. This additional money decreases the
unfunded exposure.

This additional capital would have to be funded from the
Fund’s holdings in growth assets or corporate bonds, which
would reduce the expected return on assets. However, in this
scenario yields have risen and so the funding level of the
Fund has improved. All else being equal, less risk needs to
be taken to achieve the existing funding objective

Leverage too
high e.g. 4.0x

Recapitalisation

A reduction in yields means that leverage levels fall.

If this level becomes too low, the LDI portfolio may be seen
as inefficient as additional liabilities could be hedged with the
same level of collateral.

A manager may “return” to the Fund cash to invest, whilst
maintaining the level of liability matching.

Re-leveraging

Exposure - Unfunded

Collateral

Liabilities -

Leverage too
low e.g. 2.0x

Exposure -
Unfunded

Collateral

Liabilities -

P
age 33



© MERCER 2015 17

V O L AT I L I T Y  O F  B O N D  Y I E L D S

17

Pooled liability driven investment funds
“typically” constructed to be able to
withstand a 1% - 1.5% p.a. shift in yields
without requiring adjustment (i.e.
recapitalisation or re-leveraging)

Bespoke segregated mandates can be
designed to withstand more significant
shifts in yields

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream

P
age 34



© MERCER 2015 18

Summary: liabilities have fallen, and so have matching assets; collateral is reduced and so
additional assets required to replenish capital.

R E C A P I T A L I S A T I O N  E V E N T  – W O R K E D  E X A M P L E

• Assume that the Fund invests £450m in the BlackRock 2032
Leveraged Index Linked Gilt fund (currently 3.07x leveraged,
i.e. effectively hedging approximately £1,380m of liabilities).

• In practice, the Fund would invest in a number of LDI funds
rather than just one.

STARTING POSITION

• Gilt yields rise (by 0.94%*), and the value of the leveraged fund
falls by £190m to £260m

• The value of the liabilities hedged also falls to £1,190m

• Net result, the leverage increases from 3.07x to 4.6x (at
BlackRock’s limit for the fund).

INITIAL IMAPCT – LEVERAGE INCREASES

• Manager requires £115m within an agreed timeframe (to be
taken from  pre-agreed source).

• The level of hedging provided by the fund remains unchanged,
while the collateral in the fund is increased.

• Leverage moves from 4.6x to 3.2x

“RECAPITALISATION” EVENT OCCURS

MANAGER REQUIRES £115m

Liabilities
Unfunded

Collateral

£1,380m
£930m

£450m

Liabilities â Unfunded

Collateral â

£1,190mâ £930m -

£260mâ

Liabilities -
Unfunded â

Collateral á

£1,190m -
£815mâ

£375má

RATES RISE

*Based on recent market conditions – the actual rise in yields to trigger a recapitalisation event will depend on the specific funds invested in, and market conditions at the time of investment.

P
age 35



© MERCER 2015 19
19

WHAT IS  A GILT REPO?

P
age 36



© MERCER 2015 20

W H A T  I S  A  G I L T  R E P O ?  ( 1 )

• A pension scheme buys a gilt and subsequently “sells” it
to a counterparty.

• The pension scheme agrees to repurchase it (“repo“) at a
pre-fixed price in the future. The cash received may be
subject to a “haircut” retained by counterparty.

• The pension scheme can use the cash to purchase
another gilt (and use repo again if desired).

• Exposure to the changing value of the gilt is retained.

Sell gilt for £100

Pay £100 Cash

Pay £100 +  repo rate

Return Gilt

Day of the trade

End of contract
• The pension scheme re-purchases the gilt at the

pre-determined price.

• Gilt coupons received during the term of the contract are
passed to the pension scheme.

• The pension scheme benefits/loses from increases/falls in
the market value of the gilts.

• At the end of the contract a repo arrangement can occur
again.

Pension
Fund

Counter
party

Pension
Fund

Counter
party

Market

Buy gilts

to value of

£100

Market

Cash
received
for gilts

sold

A gilt repurchase agreement is a liability hedging instrument which allows investors to employ leverage, that is
to hedge a higher level of liabilities than the value of the underlying assets.

Gilt repo contracts work as follows

P
age 37



© MERCER 2015 21

The “haircut” (in this case assumed to be c. 5%) is retained by the counterparty for the life of the gilt repo and reflects the risk that
the Fund defaults on repaying the cash borrowed and the counterparty has to sell the gilt on unknown terms

£100m
2027 Gilt

Gilts exposure

£100m
2027 Gilt

£95m
2027 Gilt

£100m
2027 Gilt

£95m

Cash

£90m

Cash

£100m
2027 Gilt

£90m
2027 Gilt

£95m
2027 Gilt

£90m
2027 Gilt

£95m
2027 Gilt

£100m
2027 Gilt

£100m
2027 Gilt

£95m
2027 Gilt

Cash Physical gilts

W H A T  I S  A  G I L T  R E P O ?  ( 2 )

The “haircut” (in this case assumed
to be c. 5%) is retained by the

counterparty for the life of the gilt
repo and reflects the risk that the

Fund defaults on repaying the cash
borrowed and the counterparty has

to sell the gilt on unknown terms

£285m exposure to gilts
– c. 3x leverage

1x

2x

3x

P
age 38



© MERCER 2015 22

K E Y  R I S K S  A S S O C I A T E D  W I T H  R E P O

Challenges Mitigants
Roll/liquidity risk Roll risk is the risk that it becomes either:

• very/too expensive to re-transact the
position (i.e. repo rates rise); or

• it becomes impossible to roll the position
(i.e. counterparties refuse to transact);

and there is insufficient liquidity available to
purchase the gilt securities outright to
preserve the hedge – see overleaf for more
detail

This risk can be partially mitigated through laddering
the repo maturity dates, reducing gilt repo exposure
in favour of using other (potentially less efficient)
instruments and/or ensuring that there is sufficient
access to liquidity to purchase the gilts outright.

Counterparty risk The risk that the investment bank on the other
side of the repo transaction defaults on its
obligation.

This risk can be mitigated (but not removed) by
regular collateralisation of the repo position.

We note that since repo contracts can be short term
in nature, exposure could be moved away from
counterparties with deteriorating credit quality (but
this clearly would not work in a jump-to-default
situation).

Collateral adequacy
risk

Most market participants trade gilt repo under
documentation that specifies that collateral be
posted in the form of either cash or gilts.
Collateral needs to be posted to cover any
mark-to-market losses on the gilt repo
positions and collateral adequacy risk is the
risk that sufficient eligible collateral is not
available (forcing sales of other assets).

The more cash/gilts retained as collateral, the lower
collateral adequacy risk will be.

P
age 39



© MERCER 2015 23

• Supply of gilt repurchase agreements can reduce if banks lose the desire to lend cash against gilt collateral
• The trading costs for gilt repo could increase. Impact of changes in bank regulation.
• During economic downturn, liquidity in the bond markets can decrease (although gilt repo market held up well in 2008)
• In a pooled arrangement, the pooled fund sits between the pension fund and the counterparty.

W H A T  I S  R O L L  R I S K ?

Examples of roll risk

Although the maturity of gilts are many years in to the future, gilt repurchase agreements often have terms of up to 12 months.
If a pension scheme uses gilt repo as a liability hedging instrument the gilt exposure may have to be rolled many times during
the life of the hedge. This introduces roll risk.

Why do gilt repos need to roll?

2. Transaction costs may exceed affordable levels

1. Banks may not wish to lend cash against gilt
collateral

Pension
Fund

Counter
partyMarket

3. There may be limited buying
opportunities for gilts

• Reduce level of liability hedging until market more attractive
• Replace gilt exposures with swaps when required
• Diversify initial hedge with gilts and swaps
• Reduce leverage by investing in physical gilts if funding position improves
• Reduce leverage by synthesising growth assets (e.g. equity total return swaps) and investing in gilts

What happens if repo cannot be rolled?

P
age 40



© MERCER 2015 24
24

SUMMARY AND NEXT
STEPS

P
age 41



© MERCER 2015 25

S U M M A R Y :  R E C A P  O F  S E N S I T I V I T I E S  W I T H  A N D
W I T H O U T  L E V E R A G E

Illustrative figures as at 30 June 2015 based on current funding basis and change in real rates – see pages 13 and 14 for details. Numbers assume liabilities are 100% real in nature; ignores
impact of changes in interest rates on corporate bond portfolio.

0.5% fall in rates 0.5% rise in rates

Current Using leverage Current Using leverage

Change in liabilities
(c. £4.8bn)

+£455m +£455m (=) -£415m -£415m (=)

Change in hedging
assets (c. £460m)

+£43m +£130m (á) -£40m -£120m (â)

Change in funding
level (starting
position 77%)

-6% -4%
(Fund better off than

without leverage due to
improved matching )

+7% +5%
(Fund worse off than

without leverage due to
improved matching, but

funding level still
improves )

Change in leverage N/A 3xà 2.6x N/A 3xà 3.7x

Impact on other
assets

Potential for re-
leveraging – assets

returned and
invested elsewhere

Potential for re-
capitalisation –
assets required
from elsewhere

(growth portfolio or
corporate bonds)

P
age 42



© MERCER 2015 26

S U M M A R Y  A N D  N E X T  S T E P S

• Agreement in principle from September Panel meeting to switch current fixed-interest UK and overseas government bonds to
index-linked gilts to improve inflation protection

− Better matches the Fund’s liabilities which are predominantly linked to inflation

− Discussing appropriate allocation with BlackRock to best match liabilities of the Fund

• Significant benefit from “putting a plan in place” to be able to increase the level of liability protection when acceptable to the
Fund.
– Initial suggestion would be using a combination of time and yield based triggers to switch this combined 12% of assets to

provide greater liability protection over the next three years using leverage
– with a longer-term plan to increase this to 50%

• Next steps
– Agree proposal to take to Committee (formal written advice)..
– Use Fund specific liability cash-flows to identify broad characteristics of hedging portfolio (already undertaking this

analysis for index-linked gilt portfolio)
– Agree implementation route (e.g. pooled funds or other approach)
– LDI manager selection decision – combine with passive equities / other form of growth assets in order to facility future de-

risking opportunities in a timely fashion
– Identify specific hedging solution with the appointed manager
– Legal and investment review of relevant documentation.
– Ongoing training throughout the process

P
age 43



© MERCER 2015 27

Q U E S T I O N S ?

P
age 44



© MERCER 2015 28

References to Mercer shall be construed to include Mercer LLC and/or its associated companies.

© 2015 Mercer LLC. All rights reserved.

This document contains confidential and proprietary information of Mercer and is intended for the exclusive use of the parties to whom it was
provided by Mercer.  Its content may not be modified, sold or otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity, without
Mercer’s prior written permission.

The findings, ratings and/or opinions expressed in this document are the intellectual property of Mercer and are subject to change without
notice.  They are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment products, asset classes or capital
markets discussed.  Past performance does not guarantee future results. Mercer’s ratings do not constitute individualised investment advice.

Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third party sources.  While the information is believed to be reliable, Mercer
has not sought to verify it.  As such, Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information presented and
takes no responsibility or liability, (including for indirect, consequential or incidental damages,) for any error, omission or inaccuracy in the
data supplied by any third party.

This does not constitute an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell securities, commodities and/or any other financial instruments or
products or constitute a solicitation on behalf of any of the investment managers, their affiliates, products or strategies that Mercer may
evaluate or recommend.

For the most recent approved ratings of an investment strategy, and a fuller explanation of their meanings, contact your Mercer
representative.

For Mercer’s conflict of interest disclosures, contact your Mercer representative or see www.mercer.com/conflictsofinterest.

Mercer’s universes are intended to provide collective samples of strategies that best allow for robust peer group comparisons over a chosen
timeframe. Mercer does not assert that the peer groups are wholly representative of and applicable to all strategies available to investors.

I M P O R T A N T  N O T I C E S

P
age 45



© MERCER 2015 29
29

APPENDIX

P
age 46



© MERCER 2015 30

I M P O R T A N T  T E R M S

• Interest Rate Swap – Two parties exchanging two sets of cashflows, usually based
on one party paying a “fixed” rate (e.g. 3% p.a.) and the other paying a “floating”
rate (e.g. Bank of England Base Rate + 2%)

• Repurchase Agreement (Repo) – An agreement to sell a security (usually a bond)
to another party with the promise to buy it back at a specified date and price

• Repo Rate – The interest rate charged to the seller of the security in a repo

• Basis Risk – Risk that arises when an investor aims to hedge a position using an
instrument that has an underlying security whose risk is being hedged.  For
example, a pension fund using bonds to hedge liabilities they do not perfectly match

P
age 47



© MERCER 2015 31

W H A T  I S  A  “ S W A P ” ?

Pay a “fixed” rate

Receive RPI

Pension

Fund
Counterparty

• An Over-The-Counter (“OTC”) transaction between a
pension fund and counterparty bank.

• Using an inflation swap as an example:

• One party (usually the pension fund, but not always):
– pays a fixed “swap” rate
– receives a floating Retail Price Index (RPI) rate.

• The other party (usually the bank) pays the floating RPI
and receives the fixed rate.

• The fixed rate varies by maturity and rates are quoted by
many banks.

• Creates inflation rate exposure similar to that of a bond

• Fixed and floating cash flows have equal value (apart from
transaction costs) at outset – no initial payment required.

For LGPS funds, swaps typically not held directly but through pooled funds.

P
age 48



© MERCER 2015 32

Mercer Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Registered in England No. 984275 Registered Office: 1 Tower Place West, Tower Place, London EC3R 5BU

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



H E A L T H  W E A L T H  C A R E E R

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T
F R A M E W O R K

A V O N  P E N S I O N  F U N D

FEBRUARY 11 2015

Steve Turner
Partner

11 SEPTEMBER 2015

P
age 51



© MERCER 2015 1

A G E N D A

• Introduction and objectives 2

• Risk management options 13

• Proposed risk management framework 21

• Next steps 32

• Appendices 36

P
age 52



© MERCER 2015 2
2

INTRODUCTION AND
OBJECTIVES

P
age 53



© MERCER 2015 3

R I S K  C O N S I D E R AT I O N S

Risk Manage, reduce or monitor? How?

Equity and growth asset risk Monitor (and potentially reduce)
We expect to be rewarded for this risk but
could reduce if we get ahead of plan

Performance monitoring + de-
risking if affordable

Credit risk Monitor (and potentially reduce)
We expect to be rewarded for this risk but
could reduce if we get ahead of plan

Performance monitoring

Active manager risk Monitor
We expect to be rewarded for this risk

Performance monitoring

Interest rate risk Reduce – two of the larger risks facing the
Fund, and arguably unrewarded

Use physical index-linked gilts
and in time leveraged index-
linked giltsInflation

Longevity risk Monitor As part of the actuarial valuation

Covenant risk Manage and monitor Develop employer specific
investment strategies

P
age 54



© MERCER 2015 4

P R I N C I P L E S  O F  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

• Risk needs to be taken in order to achieve returns but risk does not guarantee returns

Objectives are two-fold but conflicting

• No need to take the same level of risk when 70% funded (say) than when 100% funded

Need to ensure a reasonable balance between the two objectives

Stable and affordable
contribution rate

Achieve investment returns
required under current
funding arrangements

versus

P
age 55



© MERCER 2015 5

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  F R A M E W O R K

5

Strategic Rationale

• Will help reduce deficit volatility which is high, through better protection against adverse changes in long-
term interest rates and inflation expectations

• Expected return on the investment policy is expected to remain broadly the same given proposed initial
structure (i.e. no reduction, which is clearly expected to help reduce the deficit over the long-term)

Forward Looking

• Initial emphasis on putting in place “the plumbing” to facilitate future de-risking in a timely fashion, following
improvements in the funding level and / or increases in market yields

Maintaining required
expected return

Better Liability Risk
Management

Improved long-term
affordability and

sustainability in the cost
of pension provision

+ =

P
age 56



© MERCER 2015 6

Understand
the
Liabilities

• There is an inverse relationship between interest rates and liability values

• There is a direct relationship between changes in inflation expectations and liability
values

If long-term interest
rates fall, the

Fund’s discount
rate falls

Hence the Fund’s
liabilities rise

So, all else being
equal, the funding
level deteriorates

Liability ValueInterest
Rates

H O W  D O  I N T E R E S T  R A T E S  A N D  I N F L A T I O N  A F F E C T
L I A B I L I T I E S ?

P
age 57



© MERCER 2015 7

Projected
Liability
payment

Date of payment to
member

Liability
value prior
to
payment

20 years prior to
payment

Increase
in value of
liability

Interest
rates are
2%

Interest
rates are
3%

Value of liability is changed
(but projected cashflow is not)

H O W  D O  I N T E R E S T  R A T E S  A F F E C T  L I A B I L I T I E S ?

P
age 58



© MERCER 2015 8

Projected
Liability
payment

Liability
value prior
to
payment

Increase
in liability
due to
inflation

Interest rates
unchanged

Value of liability is changed

Size of future
cashflow is
changed

Increase

H O W  D O E S  I N F L A T I O N  A F F E C T  L I A B I L I T I E S ?

Date of payment to
member

20 years prior to
payment

P
age 59



© MERCER 2015 9

S I N C E  T H E  L A S T  V A L U A T I O N
A V O N  F U N D I N G  L E V E L  V O L A T I L I T Y

Source: FSM

• Funding level at 30 June 2015 marginally lower than
from March 2013 actuarial valuation

• BUT: deficit has increased from £877m to
c. £1,100m at 30 June 2015

• Strong returns from Fund’s assets and deficit
contributions more than offset by impact of falling
discount rates.

• Avon’s funding level experience in line with the rest of
the LGPS

• Key learning points:

• “Investment returns” (i.e. being below
expectations) have not been the issue

• Increase in deficit due a significant asset and
liability mis-match

• Stronger focus needed on liability risk
management, combined with achieving strong
investment returns

68%

70%

72%

74%

76%

78%

80%

82%

84%

86%

88%

Mar 2013 Sep 2013 Mar 2014 Sep 2014 Mar 2015

P
age 60



© MERCER 2015 10

W H Y  I S  T H E  M I S M A T C H  S O  G R E A T ?

• Value of liabilities linked to changes in expected asset returns / interest rates and inflation.

• Fund does not hold enough index-linked bonds to match the change in value of the liabilities (the “best” matching
asset given nature of liabilities).

• Duration is a measure of sensitivity to changes in the value of bonds. The Fund’s liabilities are approximately 8 - 9x
more sensitive to changes in interest rates than the Fund’s assets

• This means that on the current funding basis, changes in interest rates and inflation have a significant impact on the
funding position and could lead to increased contribution requirements to meet a deficit

AS S E T S :  D U R AT IO N C .  2  YE AR S

LIABIL IT IE S:  DURATION C.  18  YEARS

P
age 61



© MERCER 2015 11

All three aspects are interlinked

More certainty of outcomes (e.g. around deficit volatility and contributions)
can be achieved by investing in a more liability aware manner.

Covenant
(Affordability)

Funding
Strategy

Investment
Policy

I N T E R A C T I O N  W I T H  2 0 1 6  V A L U A T I O N

P
age 62



© MERCER 2015 12

D I S C O U N T  R A T E S
D E C I D E  O N  L E V E L  O F  P R U D E N C E

Kensington &
Chelsea Westminster Hammersmith &

Fulham

Liabilities are calculated using a “prudent”
expected return on assets.

Increasing the certainty over returns means a
smaller prudent margin is required

In combination this means:
• Lower value placed on liabilities
• Lower deficit
• More certain outcome

P
age 63



© MERCER 2015 13
13

RISK MANAGEMENT
OPTIONSP

age 64



© MERCER 2015 14

T H E  K E Y  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  O P T I O N S

• Better match assets and liabilities to reduce volatility of the
funding position

• Use current government bond allocation to do this and retain
growth assets (needed to provide returns to meet cost of
benefits and remove deficit).

Make the physical
bond holdings
more efficient

• Put pragmatic plan in place to move from current level of
liability protection to improved position by using leverage
(building up over three years, but accelerating if market
conditions are attractive)

• And then on to longer-term target (suggested at 50%).

Use of leverage

• Potentially a longer term development – will be considered at
a future meeting

• Introduce flexibility for employers to align strategy with
covenant and tolerance for volatility

• Specific cashflow driven strategy for “orphan” / corporate-
bond basis liabilities to minimise volatility

Employer specific
strategies

P
age 65



© MERCER 2015 15

P L A N  T O  I M P R O V E  M A T C H I N G  A S S E T S

S TA B I L I S I N G  A S S E T
B E N C H M A R K
A L L O C A T I O N R O L E

Index-Linked Gilts 6% Match for inflation characteristics

Fixed Interest Gilts 3%
Small allocation and limited link to majority
of liabilities. No contribution to excess
return.  Propose moving to index-linked gilts

Overseas Government Bonds 3%

Small allocation and very limited link to
majority of liabilities.  No contribution to
excess return. Propose moving to index-
linked gilts

Corporate Bonds 8% Contributes to asset returns - retain

Proposal:

1. Move Fixed-Interest Gilts and Overseas Government Bonds to Index-Linked gilts to provide more liability
protection (exact transfer process to be agreed).  No reduction in expected return.

2. Put plan in place to improve protection from these gilts by moving to leveraged version over next three
years (with a trigger in place to complete switch if real yield above CPI is at least 1%).

P
age 66



© MERCER 2015 16

W H A T  I S  L E V E R A G E ?

• It is said that the position is funded (or unleveraged) if the
amount of assets invested in the hedging portfolio is
backing an equivalent amount of risk exposure.

• e.g. £100 of collateral is hedging £100 of risk.

Funded Exposure

£100 Collateral £100 Liabilities

• If the amount of collateral invested in the hedging portfolio
is less than the equivalent amount of risk being hedged
then the hedging portfolio is said to be geared.

• e.g. £100 of collateral hedging £300 of risk.

Unfunded Exposure

£100 Collateral

Unfunded

£300 Liabilities

Leverage can be used to “free up” assets to use elsewhere in the portfolio while still hedging a greater
proportion of the liabilities; it is implemented using derivatives.

P
age 67



© MERCER 2015 17

N E W  R I S K S  I N T R O D U C E D  A S  A  R E S U L T  O F  U S I N G
L E V E R A G E

Counterparty  and
manager risk

• Default of counterparty bank may lead to losses

• Significantly mitigated through collateralisation, but not eliminated

• Process managed by the fund manager

Funding
• Pension schemes obligation to pay a cash (LIBOR) rate with interest rate swaps and repo rate with

repurchase agreement

• LIBOR cannot be generated without taking risk

Valuation

• Potential for basis risk between assets held by pension scheme (e.g. swaps) and yields used to value
the liabilities (i.e. gilts or corporate bonds)

• Some level of mismatch vs. the liabilities is inevitable as it may not be possible to find assets that are a
perfect match for the liabilities

Liquidity • Liquidity can be low at times (particularly for inflation swaps) and transaction costs have increased in
both physical and synthetic markets

Regret
• Unrealistic to expect sustained and significant increases in long-term gilt yields

• Consider trigger mechanisms to hedge at acceptable levels

Leverage
• Profits or losses will vary with changes in interest rates and inflation

• May require the transferring of assets from another portfolio to the hedging mandate so that  collateral
can be posted by the pension scheme to the counterparty banks

Majority of risks can be mitigated through a combination of holding collateral,  diversification of
counterparty exposure and providing limits on leverage allowed

P
age 68



© MERCER 2015 18

I M P R O V I N G  M A T C H I N G
I N I T I A L  T A R G E T  ( N E X T  T H R E E  Y E A R S )

Strategy Current Initial target

Liability protection
(% of assets)

15% of assets*
(18.5% when switched to ILG)

36%

Best estimate return (% p.a.) 6.0% 6.0%

Illustrative discount rate (% p.a.) 4.3% 4.5%

One year deficit risk £1.0bn £0.9bn

I N C R E A S E  I N  D I S C O U N T  R A T E  P O S S I B L E B E C A U S E
G R E A T E R  C E R T A I N T Y  A L L O W S  P R U D E N C E  T O  B E

R E L E A S E D

*Higher level of liability protection than bond holding,
as bonds held are of slightly longer duration that liabilities

P
age 69



© MERCER 2015 19

I M P A C T  O F  I M P R O V E D  P R O T E C T I O N

Impact on deficit of increase in hedging
Protection in

downside
scenarios

Some upside
given up in

“boom” times

More stable
position

More certainty
of outcomes

In an economic boom, the liabilities and (bond) assets
are both expected to fall; as the liability protection is
not 100%, liabilities fall by more than the assets do and
the deficit falls. Improving liability protection  limits this
upside to c. £1.3bn (the white bar), whilst under the
current allocation the upside is c. £1.5bn (the blue bar)

However, in a stagflation scenario, liabilities rise more
than assets and the deficit rises; this increase in deficit
is smaller when better liability protection is in place
(and so the impact on contribution requirements is
limited).

P
age 70



© MERCER 2015 20

I M P L E M E N T  A  F L I G H T P A T H

1.

• Propose moving Fixed Interest and Overseas Government bonds to Index-
Linked gilt holdings (increasing protection from current 15% of assets to c.
18.5%, as index-linked gilts are a better match for liabilities.

2.

• And over a three-year period increase the level of liability protection from
18.5% to 36% by quarterly switches of 1% of total Fund assets from index-
linked gilts to leveraged index-linked gilts

• Phased approach helps diversify timing risk of the move and provides certainty
that risk reduction will be achieved

3.

• With a trigger that if the Fund can buy liability protection with an expected
return of at least 1% p.a. above CPI then implement the switch to 36% liability
protection immediately.

• Use of trigger helps takes advantage of potential market opportunity

P
age 71



© MERCER 2015 21
21

P R O P O S E D  R I S K
M AN AG E M E N T
F R AM E W O R KP

age 72



© MERCER 2015 22

S U M M A R Y

• Achieve a fully funded position by 2033 (in line with the current deficit
recovery plan) or earlier

• Increase certainty of outcomes and contributions but maintain
sufficient real returns to achieve the objective

O B J E C T I V E

• Make the bond portfolio more efficient
• Have a plan to remove risk over time when affordable
• Develop alternative strategies for different employers

H O W  T O
A C H I E V E  T H I S

• Use existing government bonds to avoid reducing expected returns
• Switch fixed interest and overseas government bonds to index-linked

gilts for better liability protection

I M M E D I AT E
C H A N G E

• Increase liability protection by switching 1% of Fund assets from
index-linked gilts into leveraged gilts each quarter (to spread timing)

• Accelerate switch if a real yield of CPI + 1% is available.

N E X T  T H R E E
Y E A R S

• Funding level based triggers to increase liability protection to 50%
when affordable

• Cashflow driven strategy for selective employers / liabilities
LONG TERM PLAN

P
age 73



© MERCER 2015 23

R I S K  C O N S I D E R AT I O N S

Risk Manage, reduce or monitor? How?

Equity and growth asset risk Monitor (and potentially reduce)
We expect to be rewarded for this risk but
could reduce if we get ahead of plan

Performance monitoring + de-
risking if affordable

Credit risk Monitor (and potentially reduce)
We expect to be rewarded for this risk but
could reduce if we get ahead of plan

Performance monitoring

Active manager risk Monitor
We expect to be rewarded for this risk

Performance monitoring

Interest rate risk Reduce – two of the larger risks facing the
Fund, and arguably unrewarded

Use physical index-linked gilts
and in time leveraged index-
linked giltsInflation

Longevity risk Monitor As part of the actuarial valuation

Covenant risk Manage and monitor Develop employer specific
investment strategies

P
age 74



© MERCER 2015 24

W H A T  R E A L L Y  M A T T E R S ?
I M P A C T  O N  D E F I C I T  – C U R R E N T  B A S I S

In
cr

ea
si

ng
Im

pa
ct

In
cr

ea
si

ng
Im

pa
ct

Typicalfocus
Typicalfocus

Approximate figures based on 2013 valuation sensitivities and 30 June 2015 estimated funding position.

£20m

£25m

£105m

£300m

£410m

£410m

Active managers
underperform by 1%

Credit spreads widen by 1% p.a.

Members live one year
longer than expected

Growth assets fall by 10%

Interest rates fall
by 0.5% p.a.

Inflation increases
by 0.5% p.a.

Covenant risk ?

P
age 75



© MERCER 2015 25

• Options for implementing increase in hedging from 12% in conventional index-
linked gilts to use leveraged gilts

IMMEDIATE EXECUTION

PHASED OVER TIME

TRIGGER BASED

M
AR

K
ET

AW
AR

E

Set minimum pricing criteria (e.g. trigger level or levels) which, once satisfied, will
action switches towards the target strategy. If implemented on their own, run the
risk of inaction due to not hitting triggers.

Phase the switching over time by splitting the trade into tranches (e.g. 10 switches
of equal sizes).  The switches are done irrespective of price.

Immediate switch from the current to the target strategy, irrespective of the price
(e.g. yield levels)

SI
M

PL
IC

TY

No single right answer – driven by beliefs and risk tolerance. A combination of approaches often

adopted in practice. Suggest phasing in increase in liability protection with 12 quarterly switches

of 1% of assets (to spread switch over time) plus a pragmatic yield trigger to capture upside.

W H E N  T O  H E D G E

P
age 76



© MERCER 2015 26

W H E N  T O  H E D G E

15%

18.5%

36%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Current Day one 3 months 6 months 9 months 12 months 15 months 18 months 21 months 24 months 27 months 30 months 33 months Initial
target

Li
ab

ili
ty

pr
ot

ec
tio

n

S W I T C H  F I X E D  I N T E R E S T
G O V E R N M E N T  B O N D S  T O

I N D E X - L I N K E D  G I L T S

I N C R E A S E  L I A B I L I T Y  P R O T E C T I O N
T H R O U G H  L E V E R A G E  ( Q U A R T E R L Y

S W I T C H E S )  – A C C E L E R A T E  I F  R E A L
Y I E L D  T R I G G E R  M E T

P
age 77



© MERCER 2015 27

Physical Assets

Synthetic Assets

Client-specific Pooled Fund

• A Fund specific, tailored ‘pooled fund for a single investor’.

• Only an IMA is required. Other documentation is done by the manager.

• Typically set up as Dublin registered Qualified Investor Fund (“QIF”).

Multi-client Pooled Funds

• LDI providers offer a variety of ranges of pooled funds.  These include
– Gilt-based LDI funds (real and nominal, various durations)
– Swap-based LDI funds (real and nominal, various durations)
– Dynamic LDI funds (instrument selection / curve positioning)

In
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

be
sp

ok
e

In
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

be
sp

ok
e

Sim
plicity

Sim
plicity

H O W  I M P L E M E N T ?

Can be comfortably implemented using pooled funds. While liability protection remains at 50% or lower; most straightforward approach.

Not concerned over manager concentration risk at these levels and initially using 12% of assets (currently all held with one manager
anyway); re-evaluate this if and when increasing further (and consider if a bespoke pooled fund is more efficient).

Currently use income on segregated bond holdings to pay benefits; this will not be available from pooled leveraged funds, and so
disinvestments from elsewhere will be needed.

P
age 78



© MERCER 2015 28

G O V E R N A N C E  S T R U C T U R E

Decision
making

• Strategic decisions to be confirmed / made by Committee, e.g. level of liability protection
to target

• Implementation detail to be agreed by Panel, e.g. broad vehicles to use, use of pooled
funds

• Detail on triggers, execution and choice of manager to be delegated to Officers

Delegation

• Delegate implementation of agreed triggers and liability protection increases  to LDI
manager (ensures opportunities captured, and time based triggers implemented to plan)

Monitoring

• Limited additional governance requirements once implemented, although reporting likely
to be required on the level of hedging in place, and market levels relative to any triggers.

P
age 79



© MERCER 2015 29

I M P A C T  O N  T H E  V A L U A T I O N

Strategy Current Initial target Long-term (see overleaf)

Asset allocation

Hedging ratio (of assets) 15%
(18.5% when switched to ILG)

36% 50%

Best-estimate return (p.a.) 6.0% 6.0% 5.8%

Illustrative discount rate (p.a.) 4.3% 4.5% 4.5%

One year deficit risk £1.0bn £0.9bn £0.8bn

I N C R E A S E  I N  H E D G I N G R A T I O  T H R O U G H  U S E
O F  L E V E R A G E ;  D I S C O U N T  R A T E  I N C R E A S E D  /
R E T A I N E D  T H R O U G H  R E L E A S E  O F  P R U D E N C E

P
age 80



© MERCER 2015 30

L O N G - T E R M  L I A B I L I T Y  P R O T E C T I O N  T A R G E T

Increasing the hedge ratio to 50% has the greatest impact on risk and hence certainty of outcomes.
Increasing the hedge ratio above this level has marginal benefits due to the level of growth asset risk.

Further risk reductions may be achieved by selling growth assets and extending the hedge ratio further (but
this would be a longer term consideration).

P
age 81



© MERCER 2015 31

M O V I N G  T O  L O N G - T E R M  T A R G E T

Increasing liability protection from 36% of assets to 50% would require an
extra 4.7% of Fund assets to be held in leveraged index-linked gilts
(c. £170m)

We would propose assessing the funding position once the interim position
has been achieved (i.e. after three years at the latest) and then agreeing a
real yield trigger to implement this switch

This would require disinvestment from other assets – potentially those with
lower expected returns, e.g. the RLAM corporate bond mandate, or the
Fund’s Diversified Growth Fund holdings

P
age 82



© MERCER 2015 32
32

NEXT STEPS

P
age 83



© MERCER 2015 33

S U M M A R Y  A N D  N E X T  S T E P S

• Significant benefit from “putting a plan in place” to be able to increase the level of liability
protection when acceptable to the Fund.
– Propose switching the current fixed-interest and overseas government bonds (totalling 6%

of assets) to index-linked gilts which better match the Fund’s liabilities, and using a
combination of time and yield based triggers to switch this combined 12% of assets to
provide greater liability protection over the next three years…

– … with a longer-term plan to increase this to 50%

• Next steps
– Agree proposal to take to Committee
– Use Fund specific liability cash-flows to identify broad characteristics of hedging portfolio
– Agree implementation route (pooled funds are most straight-forward)
– LDI manager selection decision – combine with passive equities / other form of growth

assets in order to facility future de-risking opportunities in a timely fashion
– Identify specific hedging solution with the appointed manager
– Ongoing training throughout the process

P
age 84



© MERCER 2015 34

Q U E S T I O N S ?

P
age 85



© MERCER 2015 35

References to Mercer shall be construed to include Mercer LLC and/or its associated companies.

© 2015 Mercer LLC. All rights reserved.

This document contains confidential and proprietary information of Mercer and is intended for the exclusive use of the parties to whom it was
provided by Mercer.  Its content may not be modified, sold or otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity, without
Mercer’s prior written permission.

The findings, ratings and/or opinions expressed in this document are the intellectual property of Mercer and are subject to change without
notice.  They are not intended to convey any guarantees as to the future performance of the investment products, asset classes or capital
markets discussed.  Past performance does not guarantee future results. Mercer’s ratings do not constitute individualised investment advice.

Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third party sources.  While the information is believed to be reliable, Mercer
has not sought to verify it.  As such, Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information presented and
takes no responsibility or liability, (including for indirect, consequential or incidental damages,) for any error, omission or inaccuracy in the
data supplied by any third party.

This does not constitute an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell securities, commodities and/or any other financial instruments or
products or constitute a solicitation on behalf of any of the investment managers, their affiliates, products or strategies that Mercer may
evaluate or recommend.

For the most recent approved ratings of an investment strategy, and a fuller explanation of their meanings, contact your Mercer
representative.

For Mercer’s conflict of interest disclosures, contact your Mercer representative or see www.mercer.com/conflictsofinterest.

Mercer’s universes are intended to provide collective samples of strategies that best allow for robust peer group comparisons over a chosen
timeframe. Mercer does not assert that the peer groups are wholly representative of and applicable to all strategies available to investors.

I M P O R T A N T  N O T I C E S

P
age 86



© MERCER 2015 36
36

APPENDICES

P
age 87



© MERCER 2015 37

R E A L  Y I E L D S  O V E R  T H E  L A S T  1 5  Y E A R S

S O U R C E :  T H O M S O N  R E U T E R S  D A T A B A N K

P
age 88



© MERCER 2015 38

D I S C O U N T  R A T E S
D E C I D E  O N  L E V E L  O F  P R U D E N C E

Kensington &
Chelsea Westminster Hammersmith &

Fulham

E X P E C T E D  R E T U R N S  A B O V E  C P I

Example
lower return

High
probability
of success

(2 in 3
chance)

Best
estimate =

return

Margin for prudence

50% chance
of success

(1 in 2
chance)

CPI + 3.5%

CPI + 2.2%

Equivalent 2013
valuation assumption

CPI + 3.0%

GAD assumptions
CPI + 1.4%

CPI + 1.8%

“Consistent” valuation
assumption as at 30

June 2015

• Liabilities are calculated using a “prudent” expected return on assets; given the fall in
real yields since 2013, a “consistent” approach to defining the discount rate would give
a lower expected return relative to CPI inflation.

• Increased certainty over returns means a smaller prudent margin is required

• In combination this means
– Lower value placed on liabilities
– Lower deficit
– More certain outcome

P
age 89



© MERCER 2015 39

How “much” to
hedge

“When” to hedge

“What” to hedge
with

What level of protection
would be optimal?

Difficulty in timing decisions can be
addressed through phasing and
use of triggers

There is always a decision about which
assets to purchase to increase the hedge
ratio – both now and in the future

K E Y  C O N S I D E R A T I O N S

P
age 90



© MERCER 2015 40

W H Y  N O T  J U S T  U S E  B O N D S ?

• Using only physical bonds does
not provide a close match to the
Fund’s liability cash flows:
– duration of broad market

bonds are not as long as the
liabilities, particularly where
corporate bonds are used

– there are ‘gaps’ in the
durations of available bonds

– the Fund also holds growth
assets

• By using derivatives (e.g. swaps
or gilt repos – see later) it is
possible to efficiently overcome
this problem
– for example, by swapping

earlier cash flows for later
cash flows

Comparison of Bond Cashflows (Present Values) Against Liability Cashflows - Equal Total PVs

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 4 7 10 13 16 19 22 25 28 31 34 37 40 43 46 49 52 55 58 61 64 67 70 73 76 79 82 85 88

Years

A
m

ou
nt

(£
m

)

Bonds

Liabilities

Retain these bond cashflows

Swap these cashflows

P
age 91



© MERCER 2015 41

0% Hedged

Liabilities
Assets

Deficit Liabilities

Assets

Deficit

Interest rates Fall /
Inflation Up

100% Hedged

Liabilities
Assets

Deficit Liabilities
Assets

Deficit

Offsetting the impact of movements in interest rates and inflation on the value of the liabilities by holding assets
that respond in a similar way

Assets mimic liability movements due to changes in inflation/interest rates by
protecting against increases in inflation/falls in interest rates
In practice, the Fund will be limited to buying fixed or RPI-linked assets to hedge the liabilities; whilst it may be possible to buy
CPI swaps, liquidity is very poor in these markets.

Interest rates Fall /
Inflation Up

W H A T  I S  “ L I A B I L I T Y  D R I V E N  I N V E S T M E N T ” ?
O N E  O P T I O N  T O  M A N A G E  R I S K S

P
age 92



© MERCER 2015 42

• Physical instruments require a capital investment at outset (i.e. funded)
• Liquidity varies by instrument
• Pricing is typically transparent and standard instruments are traded
• Commonly held by pension schemes and generally well understood

• Can be funded (i.e. capital commitment is made) or unfunded (i.e. geared or
leveraged)

• Typically these are Over the Counter (“OTC”, i.e. bespoke) although some
exchange traded versions also exist

• Liquidity varies by instrument and within each type, some are highly illiquid and
could be more illiquid than physicals

• Less transparency on pricing for OTC contracts, although some standard
contracts address this

• Can offer more efficient hedging – i.e. more liability hedging per pound invested

Physical
Instruments

Synthetic /
Derivative

Instruments

Index-Linked GiltsCorporate BondsFixed-Interest Gilts

Interest Rate Swaps Inflation Swaps Gilt repos

H O W  T O  H E D G E

P
age 93



© MERCER 2015 43

W H A T  I S  “ D U R A T I O N ” ? Understand
the
Liabilities

Duration is calculated as:

“The average term (in years) of the payments from a bond/liability taking into account the
present value of each payment”

“A measure of interest rate sensitivity, with the price of longer duration bonds or
liabilities being more sensitive to changes in interest rates”

This therefore explains how a Fund’s liabilities will change in response to changes in interest
rates

For example, a 20 year duration means:

The liabilities will decrease in value by 20% if interest rates rise 1%

The liabilities will increase in value by 20% if interest rates fall 1%.

P
age 94



© MERCER 2015 44

I M P O R T A N T  T E R M S

• Interest Rate Swap – Two parties exchanging two sets of cashflows, usually based
on one party paying a “fixed” rate (e.g. 3% p.a.) and the other paying a “floating”
rate (e.g. Bank of England Base Rate + 2%)

• Repurchase Agreement (Repo) – An agreement to sell a security (usually a bond)
to another party with the promise to buy it back at a specified date and price

• Repo Rate – The interest rate charged to the seller of the security in a repo

• Basis Risk – Risk that arises when an investor aims to hedge a position using an
instrument that has an underlying security whose risk is being hedged.  For
example, a pension fund using bonds to hedge liabilities they do not perfectly match

P
age 95



© MERCER 2015 45

Mercer Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority

Registered in England No. 984275 Registered Office: 1 Tower Place West, Tower Place, London EC3R 5BU

P
age 96



 
Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: AVON PENSION FUND INVESTMENT PANEL

MEETING 
DATE:

18 November 2015 AGENDA
ITEM
NUMBER

TITLE: REBALANCING POLICY

WARD: ALL

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report: 

Appendix 1 – Current Rebalancing Policy

Appendix 2 – Mercer Report: Rebalancing Framework

Appendix 3 – Proposed Rebalancing Policy

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 The current policy for rebalancing has been in place since 2012. Changes to the 
asset allocation and the structure of the portfolio make it necessary to 
periodically review the rebalancing policy to ensure it remains appropriate.

1.2 In particular, in 2013 the Fund introduced flexibility into the strategic asset 
allocation by allowing ‘permitted ranges’ for each asset class.

1.3 Mercer have evaluated the current rebalancing policy (see Appendix 1) and 
provided recommendations for changes to be made to accommodate the 
permitted ranges and make the policy more efficient. Appendix 2 provides the 
detailed analysis and recommendations from Mercer, with the proposed policy 
drafted at Appendix 3 for agreement.

2 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Panel recommends to Committee:

(1)  the revised rebalancing policy set out in Appendix 3 Section 1.

(2)  the implementation of the policy be delegated to Officers in consultation 
with the Investment Consultant where appropriate, as set out in Appendix 3 
Section 2.

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
3.1 There is provision in the 2015/16 budget for investment advice relating to the 

review of the Fund’s rebalancing policy. Any change to the way rebalancing 
activity of the Fund is undertaken may incur additional costs for future budgets.

4 BACKGROUND
4.1 What is Rebalancing? Rebalancing actions make adjustments within a portfolio 

to counteract the effect of varying performance of different asset classes over a 
period of time that result in the percentage allocated to any asset category 
moving away from intended targets.

4.2 Why Rebalance? Rebalancing is important in order to ensure the Fund’s assets 
remain invested in line with the target investment strategy or that any allowable 
deviation is an active choice rather than a result of ‘drift’. This helps the Fund to 
avoid taking unintended risks that could result in returns outside of expected 
parameters. A secondary consideration is that efficient rebalancing activity can 
itself add value over time as it forces the selling of relatively expensive assets 
and the purchasing of relatively cheap assets. This is explained further in 
Appendix 2.

4.3 Current Rebalancing Policy. This is attached at Appendix 1 and consists of 2 
main elements:

(1) Liquid Assets: Maintain the balance between growth and stabilising assets but 
requiring a review of possible action when the balance deviates by +/- 2% and 
automatic action when the balance deviates by +/- 5%.

(2) Illiquid Assets: Review no less than 6 monthly with a further review by Panel 
when Property allocation deviates by +/- 5% and Hedge Funds by +5%.

5 MERCER REPORT
5.1 The report produced by Mercer (see Appendix 2) includes the following:
(1) The theory behind why rebalancing is desirable
(2) The options for implementing a rebalancing policy
(3) How the policy can incorporate tactical asset allocation
(4) Proposed ranges and recommendations for how rebalancing should be 

implemented
5.2 When considering the report, Members should also have in mind the following:
(1) How will the proposed changes impact upon the efficiency of maintaining target 

allocations and on the trading costs incurred?
(2) Does the proposed policy appropriately address the differing characteristics of 

the asset classes within the portfolio (characteristics such as liquidity, cost and 
practicality of trading), and allow the flexibility to make tactical allocations? 

(3) How will the proposed changes impact upon the governance arrangements? Is 
there robust decision making and adequate monitoring? Will it enable timely 
decision-making and implementation?
(4) Are there circumstances in which the policy should be suspended?

Page 98



6 MERCER RECOMMENDATIONS
6.1 Mercer summarise their recommendations in Appendix 2. They comprise:
(1) Narrow +/-2% rebalancing ranges for all liquid asset classes and +/-3% 

rebalancing range at the growth:stabilising asset level.
(2) Allowance for rebalancing ranges to vary (whilst remaining within the permitted 

ranges set out in the Fund’s Statement of Investment Principles (SIP)) when 
relative attractiveness of the asset class is judged to be attractive or unattractive 
at any particular time.

(3) Illiquid assets allowed to vary within the permitted range set out in the SIP. 
Review by Panel no more frequently than 6 months apart.

(4) Rebalancing within the neutral rebalancing range to be implemented by Officers. 
(5) Where it is intended for allocations to remain outside the neutral rebalancing 

range the decision will be based on advice from the Investment Consultant. It is 
proposed that Officers will use Mercer evaluations of the outlook for asset 
classes and, where Officers decide that using the wider range allowed in either 
the attractive or unattractive ranges is beneficial, they will seek advice from 
Mercer. 

(6) Any positions outside of the neutral rebalancing range will be reviewed at Panel 
meetings.

7 PROPOSED POLICY
7.1 Having considered Mercer’s report and recommendations, Officers have drafted 

an updated rebalancing policy for agreement by Panel that reflects the 
recommendations. 
The proposed policy can be found at Appendix 3. 
The Panel are asked to agree the proposed policy and the delegations for 
implementing the policy.

7.2 The policy and its implementation will be monitored over the first year by Officers 
to ensure it is practical to implement and does not lead to overtrading. The policy 
ranges will be updated for any future changes to the allocation ranges in the SIP.

7.3 As the Fund’s cash flow matures and assets are required to be sold down to meet 
cash outgoings, the rebalancing policy provides a guide to where such 
divestments can be made within the portfolio. 

7.4 Note on Rebalancing Policy and tactical asset allocations. In 2013 the Fund 
added asset allocation ranges to the strategic asset allocation to allow flexibility for 
tactical allocations to be made as opportunities arise. Under the Terms of 
Reference, the Panel are permitted to make tactical asset allocation decisions 
within the permitted ranges and the revised rebalancing policy does not alter this.  
The implementation of any tactical position is done on the advice of the Investment 
Consultant and will usually set triggers for the reversal of the position. This type of 
allocation i.e. an active switch between asset classes for a particular gain is 
different from the overweight or underweights caused by the drift in asset values 
over time and whether they are allowed to remain in place or not. It is important to 
note that the Rebalancing policy is key to the latter (allocations as a result of drift) 
but in the case of the former (an active tactical allocation switch on specific advice 
of the consultant) the rebalancing policy is overridden by any triggers decided 
when the tactical position is put in place.

Page 99



8 RISK MANAGEMENT
8.1 The Avon Pension Fund Committee is the formal decision-making body for the 

Fund.  As such it has responsibility to ensure adequate risk management 
processes are in place.  It discharges this responsibility by ensuring the Fund 
has an appropriate investment strategy and investment management structure in 
place that is regularly monitored.  The creation of an Investment Panel further 
strengthens the governance of investment matters and contributes to reduced 
risk in these areas.

9 EQUALITIES

9.1 An equalities impact assessment is not necessary as the report contains only 
recommendations to note.

10 CONSULTATION

10.1 N/a

11 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION

11.1 Are set out in the report.

12 ADVICE SOUGHT

12.1 The Council's Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director – Business Support) has 
had the opportunity to input to this report and has cleared it for publication.

Contact person Matt Betts, Assistant Investments Manager 01225 395420

Background papers

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative 
format

Page 100



Appendix 1 
 
Rebalancing Policy  
 

(1) For the ratio between and equities / bonds, there is a two-tiered set 
of boundaries;   

i. A deviation of 2% to 5% is subject to tactical review by Officers, 
having consulted the Investment Consultant, and  

ii. A deviation of 5% or more results in ‘automatic’ rebalancing 
back to at least the 2% threshold.  An additional tactical 
decision is then taken by the Officers supported by the Fund’s 
consultants on whether this is fully rebalanced back to the 
central benchmark allocation or otherwise. 

(2) For hedge funds and property allocations the following will trigger a 
review by the Investment Panel, no-less than 6 monthly: 

i. Property +/- 5% (i.e. a range of 5% to 15% of Fund assets) 

ii. Fund of Hedge Fund +5% (i.e. a max range of 15% of Fund 
assets) 

(3) Rebalancing within equities and bonds will be based on the 
strategic benchmark and performance (of active managers) and will 
take account of any tactical position 

(4) Net new money should be invested pro rata in line with the 
strategic policy, taking account of tactical positions, and net new 
money should be utilised first if a rebalancing is triggered.  

(5) The rebalancing policy will be implemented by Officers, having 
consulted the Investment Consultant.  Any recommendations from 
the Panel regarding (2) would have to be agreed by the Committee. 

(6) Any rebalancing activity will be reported to Committee at the 
following quarterly meeting. 

 

 
Approved by Avon Pension Fund 22 June 2012. 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK
AVON PENSION FUND
NOVEMBER 2015

Page 103



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

i

CONTENTS

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................... 1

2. Current rebalancing policy and ranges ...................................................................... 2

3. Current rebalancing practice ..................................................................................... 3

4. Theory – why have rebalancing? ............................................................................... 4

5. Rebalancing options .................................................................................................. 7

6. Tactical Asset Allocation ........................................................................................... 9
• Proposed framework ........................................................................................... 9

7. Proposed ranges ..................................................................................................... 13

 Important Notices .................................................................................... 17Appendix A:

 Q2 2015 Dynamic Asset Allocation report ............................................... 18Appendix B:

Page 104



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

1

1
Introduction
Like many pension schemes, the Avon Pension Fund (“the Fund”) currently has a target asset
allocation to the various asset classes it invests in.  These target allocations then have ranges
set around them that set out the permitted deviations from the target allocation.

This paper has been prepared for the Investment Panel of the Fund and discusses preparing a
framework for the rebalancing of total Fund assets, including the rebalancing ranges, and the
use of the Fund’s dynamic ranges for making tactical asset allocations (and how such positions
could be determined).

In summary, this paper proposes that the existing rebalancing policy is updated alongside a
policy on tactical asset allocation, such that within the constraints of the strategic asset
allocation (determined by Committee), Panel determines a shorter-term tactical asset allocation
position. This would be reviewed regularly, and rebalancing ranges would exist around this
tactical asset allocation position.

Page 105



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

2

2
Current rebalancing policy and ranges
The table below sets out the current target asset allocation for the Fund, and the permitted
ranges that the allocation is allowed to deviate away from each target.  This target allocation is
also used for performance monitoring purposes.

The Fund’s Statement of Investment Principles (“SIP”) states: “The strategic framework includes
a target allocation against which strategic performance will be monitored. In addition there are
ranges for each asset category that allow limited deviation within the framework. The ranges
enable the Fund to reflect changes in the market outlook and provide greater flexibility to
implement cash management and rebalancing. Over the longer-term it provides a framework
within which de-risking strategies could be implemented.”

Asset class % of Fund Permitted Range
Growth assets 80% 65-85%
 Equities 50% 45-55%
  Developed 40% 35-45%
  Emerging 10% 5-15%
 Diversified Growth Funds 10% 5-15%
 Illiquid Growth 20% 15-25%
  Hedge Funds 5% 0-7.5%
  Property 10% 5-15%
  Infrastructure 5% 0-7.5%
 Other Growth 0% 0-5%
Stabilising Assets 20% 15-35%
 Government Bonds 3% 0-10%
 Index Linked Bonds 6% 3-10%
 Corporate Bonds 8% 4-20%
 Other Bonds 3% 0-5%
Cash 0% 0-5%

While the SIP sets out a reasonably wide range for potential asset allocations, this does not
reflect the rebalancing processes that are used in practice (not least as the ranges permit a
relatively large, but reasonable, degree of variation in the growth / stabilising asset split).

Page 106



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

3

3
Current rebalancing practice
The current policy for rebalancing1, which has been in place since 2012, consists of two parts.
The first applies to the more liquid assets (i.e. the 80% of total assets excluding “illiquid growth”),
where the benchmark allocation is 75% growth assets (equities or DGF) and 25% stabilising
assets (bonds).

At this level, a “two-tiered” set of boundaries is applied:

i) a deviation of between 2% and 5% is subject to a review by the Officers having
consulted the Investment Advisers;

ii) a deviation greater than 5% results in an automated rebalancing back to at least
+/- 2% weighting as a default. An additional decision is then taken by the Officers
supported by the Fund’s Advisers on whether this is fully rebalanced back to the
central benchmark allocation or otherwise.

In practice the need to rebalance is checked on a weekly basis by Officers, based on asset data
from the custodian.

Whilst this applies to a more focussed level of rebalancing, there is no formal process in place to
allow the Fund to make tactical asset allocation decisions (and to utilise the framework in place
in the SIP, as set out on page 2).

For the less liquid assets, there is a “soft” bandwidth at which the allocation should be reviewed
and discussed by the Investment Panel no less than on a six-monthly basis:

i) Property: +/- 5%;
ii) Fund of Hedge Funds: + 5%.

Whilst we agree with treating less liquid assets separately (see later), the range for the Fund of
Hedge Funds above will need updating to reflect the revised allocation as set out in the SIP
(which sets out a benchmark allocation of 5% within a range of 0 – 7.5%, i.e. only up to 2.5%
above benchmark).

1 http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=6996

Page 107



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

4

4
Theory – why have rebalancing?
Pension funds generally set an investment strategy and benchmark allocation to reflect the
portfolio they believe will generate a long term return sufficient to meet future obligations, for an
expected level of risk that is deemed acceptable.  The key reason for a pension fund to adopt
rebalancing ranges is to ensure that the fund’s assets remain invested in line with (or at least
reasonably close to) the target investment strategy.

This is desirable because it ensures that the level of expected excess return on the pension
fund’s assets is consistent with the level that the fund has agreed to target, whilst also ensuring
that the fund is not exposing itself to a higher (or lower) level of investment risk than intended.

In addition, rebalancing activity can be expected to add value over time if markets mean-revert.
In other words, pension funds that adopt rebalancing ranges can add value by seeking to buy
assets when they are relatively cheap and sell them when they are relatively expensive.
However, rebalancing does not necessarily always add value if, for example, markets trend for a
sustained period (e.g. rebalancing into an underperforming equity market).

This is illustrated by the charts below, which set out the potential rebalancing actions taken for
an allocation of 50% to an asset class, with a rebalancing range of +/- 5%.

40.0%

45.0%

50.0%

55.0%

60.0%

31/12/2014 31/01/2015 28/02/2015 31/03/2015 30/04/2015 31/05/2015 30/06/2015 31/07/2015 31/08/2015 30/09/2015 31/10/2015

Mean Reverting and Oscillating Market (positive for rebalancing)

Upper rebalancing range hit
and disinvestment is made

Lower rebalancing range hit
and investment is made

%
of

as
se

ts

Page 108



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

5

The main drawbacks to rebalancing are that, firstly, transaction costs will likely be incurred each
time a rebalancing exercise is undertaken, which arise as a result of the need to sell one asset
class and buy another. The costs involved will depend on a number of factors which cannot be
known in advance, such as which asset classes and managers are involved in the switch, as
well as market conditions at the time of the transfer.  We believe that it is sensible to have wider
rebalancing ranges for asset classes with higher transactions costs in order to reduce the
amount of benefit offset by the costs.  Asset classes that are more illiquid and hence less easily
trade-able, also merit having wider ranges.

Note that derivatives can be used to rebalance “synthetically” and significantly reduce such
costs – this is covered in section 5.

Secondly, the Panel should consider the additional governance burden associated with
rebalancing. Given that rebalancing opportunities arise through market movements, it is
important to be able to implement in a timely fashion when action is required. Furthermore, it is
worth noting that the tighter the ranges are around the central benchmark, the more often
rebalancing will be required, which can mean more involvement from Officers and potentially
additional consulting and/or investment transaction costs.

Finally, more volatile assets are by definition higher risk, and the Panel may wish to put in place
narrower rebalancing ranges for such assets to prevent an overweight position representing a
significant build-up of risk.

In summary, key considerations for setting rebalancing ranges are:

40.0%

45.0%

50.0%

55.0%

60.0%

Downward Trending Marke (negative impact of rebalancing)t

Lower rebalancing range hit
and investment is made

Higher transaction costs Wider rebalancing range

Higher volatility Narrower rebalancing
range

Lower governance
capacity

Wider rebalancing range

%
of

as
se

ts

Page 109



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

6

Section 7 of this paper sets out a proposed set of rebalancing ranges for more liquid assets
(reflecting the higher transaction costs and lower liquidity of property, infrastructure and hedge
fund holdings).

Page 110



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

7

5
Rebalancing options
This section outlines the various ways of managing a rebalancing process:

1. Fund-led

This approach consists of the Officers monitoring the split and agreeing actions to re-
balance as required, using input from their advisers. This has the benefit of being consistent
with the current governance approach.

However, this requires an increased governance oversight and Officer time relative to other
options if it is to be monitored regularly.  This is because regular and up-to-date asset values
are needed for all of the liquid managers within the rebalancing framework.  As such, the
Officers would need to be able to act quickly on any breaches of the rebalancing ranges. In
practice, this level of oversight may not be viewed as being particularly onerous by Officers.

2. Manager-led (physical assets)

Responsibility for rebalancing could be delegated to an investment manager.  This would
use data feeds from the custodian, and the manager would affect timely rebalancing if any
asset classes move out of their ranges. In the case of the Fund, this could be done by
BlackRock, who have assets in both the growth and bond portfolios which could be
bought/sold as required.  This would of course come with a cost, however, as the manager
would likely charge a fee for their monitoring (although it would free up Officer time). In
addition, the granularity of the rebalancing achievable would be limited by the assets the
manager holds (unless they are given authority to move assets to or from other managers,
which would mean a delegation of control to a degree).

3. Manager-led (synthetic approach)

As an alternative to (2) above, the manager can look to reduce transaction costs and act
quicker by implementing changes using futures to achieve the rebalancing.  Futures are less
costly and easier to trade than the underlying assets due to the futures market being
relatively liquid, although they could only be used to implement rebalancing for more liquid
markets where futures are readily available (equities and bonds, but not DGF, hedge funds
or property for example).

One potential issue with this, however, is that a significant proportion of the Fund’s holdings
are in active managers and, in particular, strategies whose holdings would be expected to

Page 111



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

8

differ significantly from the respective benchmark index.  For example, it is not possible to
purchase or sell futures on the return of an investment fund such as the TT International UK
Equity fund.  This means that if the allocation to this fund needed to be altered, it would have
to be done by either not using futures (i.e. investing/disinvesting directly) or by trading
futures on a related index, such as the FTSE All-Share.  This second option, however, would
not replicate any alpha TT International may generate.  In practice, we do not see this as a
key concern given that any potential “alpha” will be expected to be less significant than the
underlying market return. This would also be an issue for the multi-asset/diversified growth
portfolios, as it is not possible to replicate exposure to these strategies synthetically.

Another issue is the availability of the correct futures.  For example, the Fund may want to
replicate an exposure to a certain index, such as the MSCI AC World, and find that the
futures market in this index is not as liquid as the MSCI World.  This would mean that Fund
may have to purchase futures in an index different to its actual exposure, which may have
different returns over the period.

Finally, legal advice would have to be sought before implementing such a policy to ensure
that it was compliant with the restrictions in the LGPS Investment Regulations on
investments in derivatives.

Comment

In practice, for an LGPS scheme then either option one or option two is likely to be the most
straightforward to implement given the greater complexity of option three and potential
complications with the LGPS investment regulations. In order to incorporate some element of
subjectivity to make tactical decisions within the framework, we propose that option one is
retained.

Page 112



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

9

6
Tactical Asset Allocation
While the SIP sets out the benchmark allocation, aligned with the Fund’s long-term objectives, it
is arguable that a simple mechanistic rebalancing framework may miss the opportunity to factor
in views on market valuations and the relative attractiveness of assets classes. Put simply, this
could lead to selling out of assets deemed to be attractive, or buying assets deemed to be
expensive.

The current arrangement incorporates broad ranges for asset allocation, in part to enable the
Fund to reflect changes in the market outlook through tactical asset allocation (i.e. short to
medium term deliberate over- or under-weight positions relative to the strategic benchmark to
reflect market views), although no formal mechanism exists for doing so.

Proposed framework

The following pages set out a potential pragmatic framework for allowing tactical asset allocation
decisions. We note that this is a separate decision from the use of “other” asset classes to make
short to medium term specific opportunistic investments, which will be considered in the future.

In practice, we propose that this is implemented through a two-tier rebalancing framework
(similar to the current structure). The benchmark allocation would be maintained within relatively
narrow ranges by Officers, but they could be allowed to take moves outside these ranges (within
reasonable limits) to reflect tactical over- or under-weight positions in either growth assets
versus matching assets, or at the individual asset class level.

In order to make use of these wider ranges, Officers (referring to Investment Consultant’s broad
asset allocation views within the quarterly report) would decide on whether an opportunity exists
for entering into a tactical asset allocation position. At this point advice would be sought from the
Investment Consultant regarding the specific relative value and investment outlook for the
various asset classes.

If the allocation to a wider range is the result of an active tactical allocation decision then advice
from the Investment Consultant will have been taken on deciding to implement such an
allocation. If it is the result of ‘drift’ then advice will be sought from the Investment Consultant as
set out in the proposed rebalancing framework.

Page 113



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

10

The  Fund has a benchmark allocation of 20% to “less liquid” growth assets, which includes
hedge funds, property and infrastructure (together with potential illiquid holdings of up to 10% as
part of the “Other Growth” and “Other Bonds” allocations).

Given the practicalities of implementing changes to these allocations, with high transaction costs
and long investment lead times / “lock-in” periods, we propose that these asset classes are
excluded from the rebalancing framework as long as weightings are within the wider permitted
ranges. Panel will review allocations to these illiquid holdings if the permitted ranges are
breached and may do so more frequently, although no more frequently than every six months.
The timeframe for any rebalancing of illiquid asset allocations will be made with due
consideration for liquidity and transaction costs.

It should be noted that the greater liquidity within the remaining growth and matching assets will
allow the overall “Growth” and “Stabilising Assets” allocation to be maintained within limits while
the illiquid asset allocation varies.

There is a wealth of information and expert views available to assist the Panel or Officers in
making these decisions. The challenge which the Fund faces is in filtering this information in a
way that ensures the decisions taken are consistent over time.

Consequently, there is a need for the Fund to develop a governance framework to simplify the
decision-making process. Such a framework should identify a small number of criteria for
assessing the relative attractiveness of the respective asset classes, and create a relatively
simple framework to determine whether a tactical position is warranted.

Mercer has a Dynamic Asset Allocation (DAA) framework that is assessed on a quarterly basis
to provide clients with assessments of relative value across a broad range of asset classes over
a 1-3 year horizon.  Our DAA views assess three broad factors: long-term valuations, cyclical
influences which could result in deviations from long-term value, and behavioural influences
such as investor sentiment and market positioning.

The information considered under each of the three factors is as follows:

1. Long-term Valuation

There are a wide range of valuation indicators for the major asset classes.  For equities, the
most commonly used measures utilise price-earnings (“PE”) ratios, which express the
market value of a company, or an equity market as a whole, as a multiple of its current or
expected future profits, or some average of its past profits. PE ratios are usually monitored
against their historic averages to determine whether they are cheap or expensive.

Page 114



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

11

For bonds there are many approaches, including comparing current yields to historic
averages, comparing yields to the rate of inflation (i.e. the “real” yield) or even the rate of
GDP growth.

2. Cyclical Factors

Measures of value for the major asset classes often vary over the economic cycle.  For
bonds, yields usually fall below their historic averages during a recession and rise above
their historic average during periods of economic expansion. The behaviour of PE ratios over
an economic cycle varies according to the type of measure used. If the PE ratio is based on
current earnings, they might rise during a recession as earnings temporarily fall, provided
investors “look through” the economic cycle.

The importance of cyclical effects on valuation measures increases the shorter the investors’
time horizon is.  For tactical asset allocation purposes (say a one-year horizon), taking
account of cyclical influences on relative value is very important. For a pension fund with a
20-30 year investment horizon, cyclical factors are of limited importance. Many UK funds
have a three-year investment horizon, due the triennial valuation requirements, putting them
somewhere in the middle of this spectrum.

3. Sentiment and Positioning Factors

Financial markets are driven by expectations of the future and the prevailing consensus view
of the future can have a powerful effect on market prices, even if it is wrong.  Financial
assets must be bought and sold in a market and if there more willing buyers than sellers the
price of that asset will rise.  Being human, investors are prone to herding behaviour and this
herding behaviour often creates what have become known as “bubbles”. The “credit bubble”
precipitated the financial crisis of 2008. In the late 1990s we experienced the “tech stock
bubble”. In the 1920s there was the “radio bubble” and so on backwards through history.

“Bubbles”, however, provide opportunities for investors who buy the market when they burst,
or at least recognise them early enough to exit their investments before the “bubble” meets
its end.

Taking account of sentiment factors is critical for tactical asset allocation. Sentiment factors
may explain why an asset class looks cheap or expensive and understanding market
sentiment is the first step towards understanding what events might cause sentiment to
change. Assessing market sentiment is an art rather than a science but there are a number
of market indicators which can provide clues, including surveys of market positioning (e.g.
are institutional investors over or under weight equities) and biases in the market pricing of
options.

Page 115



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

12

The high level output of these DAA discussions is included in the quarterly reports received by
the Panel; the appendix to this paper includes the more detailed full report for Q2 2015. We
recommend that as a pragmatic mechanism for making tactical asset allocation decisions, at
each Panel meeting the current position relative to the benchmark allocation is considered and
assessed by Panel with the input of the investment consultant relative to the DAA
framework.

From this starting point, we propose that reasonably narrow rebalancing ranges are set but that
Officers are permitted to allow holdings to move over/under these ranges (within the overall
ranges set out in the SIP, as set out on page 2) if the DAA framework suggests that the asset
classes are relatively attractive / unattractive. Any decision by Officers to remain outside of the
narrow neutral rebalancing range (set out in section 7) will be made after seeking advice from
the Investment Consultant.

At quarterly Panel meetings any positions outside the neutral rebalancing ranges will be
reviewed in light of the individual views of Panel members and Officers, the views of Fund’s
asset managers and any other information available could be taken into account in deciding
whether to rebalance. The existing permitted ranges in the SIP would be retained as “hard”
rebalancing ranges. Rebalancing would be back to the benchmark allocation.

From a cost and flexibility perspective, it would be expected that such tactical asset allocation
changes would typically be made through the Fund’s passive multi-asset portfolio.

There may be exceptional circumstances where Officers and advisors agree that the
rebalancing framework should be suspended (for example, if market liquidity greatly reduces
and transaction costs increase). This would be communicated to Panel.

Page 116



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

13

7
Proposed ranges
The table below sets out the current benchmark allocation together with permitted ranges from
the SIP (labelled “Permitted Range”), and suggested narrower rebalancing ranges (“neutral
rebalancing range”).

The intention is that the allocation is kept within the narrower neutral rebalancing ranges, but
that Officers are given discretion to allow holdings to move outside this narrower range (but
within the permitted range), based on the Investment Consultant’s  views on relative
attractiveness of respective asset classes. Any positions outside the neutral rebalancing range
will be reviewed at Panel meetings.

Asset class Benchmark Neutral
rebalancing

range

Permitted Range

Growth assets 80% +/- 3% 65-85%
 Equities 50% +/- 2% 45-55%
  Developed 40% +/- 2% 35-45%
  Emerging 10% +/- 1% 5-15%
 Diversified Growth Funds 10% +/- 2% 5-15%
 Illiquid Growth 20% - 15-25%
  Hedge Funds 5% - 0-7.5%
  Property 10% - 5-15%
  Infrastructure 5% - 0-7.5%
 Other Growth 0% Depends on

investment
0-5%

Stabilising Assets 20% +/- 3% 15-35%
 Government Bonds 3% +/- 1% 0-10%
 Index Linked Bonds 6% +/- 1% 3-10%
 Corporate Bonds 8% +/- 2% 4-20%
 Other Bonds 3% Depends on

investment
0-5%

Cash 0% - 0-5%

Page 117



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

14

Neutral rebalancing ranges for the opportunistic “other” investments would be agreed on
implementation (depending on the volatility, liquidity and trading costs of the specific assets).

As a starting point, we propose that Officers implement rebalancing within the neutral
rebalancing range set out above, unless the DAA outlooks for particular asset classes are either
“attractive” or “unattractive”, at which point Officers will rebalance within the “attractive” or
“unattractive” rebalancing ranges as set out overleaf after confirming the view of the asset class
outlook with the Investment Consultant.

Page 118



Page 119



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

16

Taking a working example, if the DAA view on developed market equities was “neutral” then
they would be rebalanced within a range of 38% - 42%, to keep them aligned to the strategic
asset allocation. Should the DAA view change to “attractive” or “very attractive” then Officers
would be allowed to keep the allocation within a range of 38% - 45% (the higher top end
reflecting the option to implement an overweight position relative to benchmark), after confirming
with the Investment Consultant.

This range deliberately allows a holding up to 2% below benchmark to reflect that decisions on
individual asset classes cannot be made in isolation; in the extreme example that developed
market equities are “attractive” but other asset classes are all “extremely attractive” then the
Fund may not want to hold an overweight position relative to benchmark. This also reduces the
likelihood that a rebalancing event is “forced” by a change to the DAA view in isolation, although
Panel should be aware that the potential for this remains.

The benchmark allocation and the neutral rebalancing ranges (together with the permitted
ranges) should be regularly reviewed (in line with the annual investment review) and updated
following any change to strategy.

Steve Turner
Mercer
November 2015

Page 120



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

17

APPENDIX A

Important Notices
References to Mercer shall be construed to include Mercer LLC and/or its associated
companies.

© 2015 Mercer LLC. All rights reserved.

This contains confidential and proprietary information of Mercer and is intended for the exclusive
use of the parties to whom it was provided by Mercer. Its content may not be modified, sold or
otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity, without Mercer’s prior
written permission.

The findings, ratings and/or opinions expressed herein are the intellectual property of Mercer
and are subject to change without notice. They are not intended to convey any guarantees as to
the future performance of the investment products, asset classes or capital markets discussed.
Past performance does not guarantee future results. Mercer’s ratings do not constitute
individualized investment advice.

Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third party sources. While the
information is believed to be reliable, Mercer has not sought to verify it independently. As such,
Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information presented
and takes no responsibility or liability (including for indirect, consequential or incidental
damages), for any error, omission or inaccuracy in the data supplied by any third party.

This does not constitute an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell securities, commodities
and/or any other financial instruments or products or constitute a solicitation on behalf of any of
the investment managers, their affiliates, products or strategies that Mercer may evaluate or
recommend.

For the most recent approved ratings of an investment strategy, and a fuller explanation of their
meanings, contact your Mercer representative.

For Mercer’s conflict of interest disclosures, contact your Mercer representative or see
www.mercer.com/conflictsofinterest.

Mercer’s universes are intended to provide collective samples of strategies that best allow for
robust peer group comparisons over a chosen timeframe. Mercer does not assert that the peer
groups are wholly representative of and applicable to all strategies available to investors.

Page 121



REBALANCING FRAMEWORK AVON PENSION FUND

MERCER

g:\eworking\ic\client\lvp\active clients\avon\avon pension fund\manager structure\2015\2015 05 rebalancing and taa\20151105 rebalancing framework - final.docx

18

APPENDIX B

Q2 2015 Dynamic Asset Allocation report

Page 122



E
U

R
O

P
EA

N
D

Y
N

A
M

IC
A

S
SE

T
A

LL
O

C
A

TI
O

N
20

15
Q

2
E

C
O

N
O

M
IC

&
M

AR
K

E
T

O
U

TL
O

O
K

Page 123



M
ER

C
ER

2

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

ts
um

m
ar

is
es

M
er

ce
r’s

vi
ew

s
on

th
e

m
ed

iu
m

te
rm

ou
tlo

ok
fo

rr
et

ur
ns

fr
om

th
e

ke
y

as
se

tc
la

ss
es

;b
y

m
ed

iu
m

te
rm

w
e

m
ea

n
on

e
to

th
re

e
ye

ar
s.

R
el

ev
an

tm
ar

ke
ti

nd
ic

at
or

s
ar

e
in

cl
ud

ed
to

ill
us

tr
at

e
m

ar
ke

tl
ev

el
s

at
th

e
tim

e
th

e
vi

ew
s

w
er

e
co

ns
tr

uc
te

d.

Th
e

vi
ew

s
ex

pr
es

se
d

in
th

is
re

po
rt

ar
e

re
le

va
nt

fo
rr

ef
le

ct
in

g
m

ed
iu

m
te

rm
m

ar
ke

tv
ie

w
s

in
de

te
rm

in
in

g
ap

pr
op

ria
te

as
se

ta
llo

ca
tio

n.
W

e
do

no
te

xp
ec

ti
nv

es
to

rs
to

m
ak

e
fr

eq
ue

nt
ta

ct
ic

al
ch

an
ge

s
to

th
ei

ra
ss

et
al

lo
ca

tio
n

ba
se

d
up

on
th

es
e

vi
ew

s.

Th
e

vi
ew

s
ex

pr
es

se
d

ar
e

pr
ov

id
ed

fo
rd

is
cu

ss
io

n
pu

rp
os

es
an

d
do

no
tp

ro
vi

de
an

y
as

su
ra

nc
e

or
gu

ar
an

te
e

of
fu

tu
re

m
ar

ke
tr

et
ur

ns
.

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

td
oe

s
no

tc
on

ta
in

in
ve

st
m

en
ta

dv
ic

e
re

la
tin

g
to

yo
ur

pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
ci

rc
um

st
an

ce
s.

N
o

in
ve

st
m

en
td

ec
is

io
n

sh
ou

ld
be

m
ad

e
ba

se
d

on
th

is
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
w

ith
ou

tf
irs

to
bt

ai
ni

ng
ap

pr
op

ria
te

pr
of

es
si

on
al

ad
vi

ce
an

d
co

ns
id

er
in

g
yo

ur
ci

rc
um

st
an

ce
s.

Page 124



M
ER

C
ER

Ta
bl

e
of

C
on

te
nt

s

3

Page 125



M
ER

C
ER

E
xe

cu
tiv

e
S

um
m

ar
y

an
d

D
A

A
V

ie
w

s

4

Va
lu

at
io

n
Sc

al
e:

E
xt

re
m

el
y

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

N
eu

tra
l

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e.

Sh
ad

ed
Ite

m
s

re
pr

es
en

t
vi

ew
s

th
at

ha
ve

ch
an

ge
d

fro
m

th
e

pr
ev

io
us

m
ee

tin
g.

W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
ex

pe
ct

gr
ow

th
as

se
ts

to
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

lly
ou

tp
er

fo
rm

de
fe

ns
iv

e
as

se
ts

su
ch

as
go

ve
rn

m
en

tb
on

ds
.H

ow
ev

er
,f

ol
lo

w
in

g
th

e
st

re
ng

th
of

gl
ob

al
eq

ui
tie

s
ov

er
th

e
la

st
fe

w
ye

ar
s

w
e

ha
ve

do
w

ng
ra

de
d

de
ve

lo
pe

d
gl

ob
al

eq
ui

tie
s

to
ne

ut
ra

lf
ro

m
at

tra
ct

iv
e.

W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
ex

pe
ct

eq
ui

tie
s

to
pe

rfo
rm

w
el

l(
es

pe
ci

al
ly

co
m

pa
re

d
to

ot
he

ra
ss

et
s)

,b
ut

se
e

pr
os

pe
ct

iv
e

re
tu

rn
s

as
m

or
e

in
-li

ne
w

ith
hi

st
or

ic
al

no
rm

s
(a

ro
un

d
7%

p.
a.

).

W
e

re
ta

in
ou

rc
au

tio
us

vi
ew

s
on

U
K

an
d

Eu
ro

zo
ne

bo
nd

s,
w

ith
U

K
bo

nd
s

at
un

at
tra

ct
iv

e
an

d
Eu

ro
zo

ne
bo

nd
s

at
ex

tre
m

el
y

un
at

tra
ct

iv
e.

Th
es

e
vi

ew
s

re
fle

ct
th

e
re

ce
nt

fa
ll

in
yi

el
ds

w
hi

ch
ha

s
se

en
G

er
m

an
10

ye
ar

yi
el

ds
tu

m
bl

e
to

al
m

os
t0

%
.

Th
e

U
S

ec
on

om
y

w
ea

ke
ne

d
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

de
sp

ite
th

e
po

si
tiv

e
ba

ck
dr

op
of

lo
w

er
oi

la
nd

st
ro

ng
er

as
se

tp
ric

es
.W

e
ex

pe
ct

th
is

w
ea

kn
es

s
to

pr
ov

e
te

m
po

ra
ry

an
d

th
e

U
S

ec
on

om
y

to
gr

ow
at

a
de

ce
nt

,a
bo

ve
tre

nd
,p

ac
e

fo
rt

he
re

st
of

th
e

ye
ar

.I
n

co
nt

ra
st

to
th

e
w

ea
kn

es
s

in
th

e
U

S
,t

he
Eu

ro
zo

ne
w

as
st

ro
ng

er
th

an
ex

pe
ct

ed
w

ith
st

re
ng

th
in

m
os

tc
ou

nt
rie

s.
Th

e
re

gi
on

w
as

bo
os

te
d

by
th

e
w

ea
kn

es
s

in
th

e
eu

ro
an

d
oi

lp
ric

es
as

w
el

la
s

th
e

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lf

al
li

n
bo

nd
yi

el
ds

.
Im

po
rta

nt
ly

,c
re

di
tg

ro
w

th
ha

s
at

la
st

st
ar

te
d

to
re

co
ve

ra
nd

th
is

m
ea

ns
th

e
re

co
ve

ry
co

ul
d

be
su

st
ai

ne
d

fo
rs

om
e

tim
e.

W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
ex

pe
ct

th
e

U
S

Fe
de

ra
lR

es
er

ve
to

ra
is

e
in

te
re

st
ra

te
s

th
is

ye
ar

.H
ow

ev
er

,t
he

w
ea

kn
es

s
in

th
e

U
S

ec
on

om
y

ov
er

th
e

la
st

fe
w

m
on

th
s

m
ay

al
lo

w
th

e
Fe

d
to

w
ai

tu
nt

il
th

e
au

tu
m

n.
W

he
n

th
e

Fe
d

do
es

ra
is

e
ra

te
s,

it
is

lik
el

y
to

si
gn

al
th

at
it

w
ill

pr
oc

ee
d

ca
ut

io
us

ly
.

N
on

et
he

le
ss

,t
he

fir
st

ra
te

hi
ke

in
al

m
os

t1
0

ye
ar

s
m

ay
un

ne
rv

e
m

ar
ke

ts
an

d
le

ad
to

bo
ut

s
of

vo
la

til
ity

.

Th
e

bi
gg

es
tr

is
k

to
fin

an
ci

al
m

ar
ke

ts
is

w
he

th
er

th
e

Fe
d

is
ab

le
to

ra
is

e
in

te
re

st
ra

te
s

to
m

or
e

no
rm

al
le

ve
ls

ov
er

th
e

ne
xt

fe
w

ye
ar

s
w

ith
ou

td
am

ag
in

g
th

e
U

S
an

d
gl

ob
al

ec
on

om
y

or
fin

an
ci

al
m

ar
ke

ts
.I

n
ad

di
tio

n,
it

re
m

ai
ns

un
cl

ea
rw

he
th

er
G

re
ec

e
w

ill
be

ab
le

to
re

ac
h

ag
re

em
en

tw
ith

its
cr

ed
ito

rs
.W

hi
le

th
e

Eu
ro

zo
ne

is
m

uc
h

m
or

e
st

ab
le

th
an

a
fe

w
ye

ar
s

ag
o,

an
ex

it
fro

m
th

e
eu

ro
co

ul
d

de
st

ab
ili

se
m

ar
ke

ts
.

A
ss

et
C

la
ss

Ja
n

20
15

A
pr

il
20

15

Fi
xe

d
In

te
re

st
G

ilt
s

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

In
de

x-
Li

nk
ed

G
ilt

s
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e

Eu
ro

zo
ne

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

B
on

ds
E

xt
re

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
E

xt
re

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e

N
on

-G
ov

er
nm

en
t

B
on

ds
(£

A
ll-

St
oc

ks
)

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

N
on

-G
ov

er
nm

en
t

B
on

ds
(€

A
ll-

St
oc

ks
)

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

G
lo

ba
lE

qu
iti

es
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

N
eu

tra
l

Em
er

gi
ng

M
ar

ke
tE

qu
iti

es
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l

Sm
al

lC
ap

Eq
ui

tie
s

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

Lo
w

Vo
la

til
ity

Eq
ui

tie
s

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

U
K

Pr
op

er
ty

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

H
ig

h
yi

el
d

bo
nd

s
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l

Lo
ca

lc
ur

re
nc

y
em

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

t
de

bt
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l

U
K

C
as

h
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e

Page 126



M
ER

C
ER

E
ur

op
ea

n
D

A
A

D
as

hb
oa

rd
–

Q
2

20
15

5

Page 127



M
ER

C
ER

Q
ua

rte
rly

M
ar

ke
tC

om
m

en
ta

ry
–

Su
rg

in
g

ce
nt

ra
lb

an
k

liq
ui

di
ty

lif
ts

al
la

ss
et

cl
as

se
s 6

D
ef

en
si

ve
an

d
gr

ow
th

as
se

ts
bo

th
pe

rfo
rm

ed
st

ro
ng

ly
ac

ro
ss

a
w

id
e

ra
ng

e
of

gl
ob

al
m

ar
ke

ts
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r.

D
ur

at
io

n,
yi

el
d

an
d

re
la

tiv
e

ea
rn

in
gs

m
om

en
tu

m
ac

co
un

te
d

fo
rm

uc
h

of
th

e
re

la
tiv

e
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

ac
ro

ss
an

d
w

ith
in

as
se

tc
la

ss
es

.W
hi

le
re

al
is

ed
cu

rre
nc

y
vo

la
til

ity
co

nt
in

ue
d

to
in

cr
ea

se
,e

qu
ity

an
d

fix
ed

in
te

re
st

vo
la

til
ity

ab
at

ed
.

Ev
en

as
bo

th
th

e
oi

lp
ric

e
an

d
in

fla
tio

n
ex

pe
ct

at
io

ns
in

cr
ea

se
d

m
od

er
at

el
y

ov
er

th
e

co
ur

se
of

th
e

qu
ar

te
r,

bo
nd

yi
el

ds
co

nt
in

ue
d

to
de

cl
in

e
in

m
os

tm
aj

or
m

ar
ke

ts
.T

he
br

oa
d-

ba
se

d
de

cl
in

e
in

re
al

yi
el

ds
fo

llo
w

ed
th

e
ea

rli
er

de
ci

si
on

by
th

e
B

an
k

of
Ja

pa
n

(B
oJ

)t
o

ex
pa

nd
Q

ua
nt

ita
tiv

e
Ea

si
ng

(Q
E)

,t
he

co
m

m
en

ce
m

en
to

fQ
E

in
E

ur
op

e
(w

ith
th

e
EC

B
ex

pe
ct

ed
to

pu
rc

ha
se

tw
ic

e
th

e
si

ze
of

ne
w

so
ve

re
ig

n
bo

nd
is

su
an

ce
in

20
15

),
an

d
re

-a
ffi

rm
at

io
n

of
th

e
Fe

d’
s

ca
ut

io
us

ap
pr

oa
ch

to
w

ar
ds

po
lic

y
no

rm
al

is
at

io
n.

R
ef

le
ct

in
g

th
e

EC
B’

s
m

on
et

ar
y

ba
zo

ok
a,

th
e

de
ep

es
td

ec
lin

es
in

yi
el

ds
w

er
e

in
th

e
co

re
Eu

ro
pe

an
ec

on
om

ie
s,

w
ith

ro
ug

hl
y

50
%

of
EM

U
bo

nd
s

no
w

tra
di

ng
at

a
ne

ga
tiv

e
yi

el
d.

Yi
el

ds
al

so
fe

ll
in

m
os

to
ft

he
E

M
U

pe
rip

he
ry

,a
lth

ou
gh

sp
re

ad
s

ha
ve

st
ar

te
d

to
w

id
en

in
th

e
fa

ce
of

re
ne

w
ed

un
ce

rta
in

ty
ov

er
G

re
ek

de
bt

ne
go

tia
tio

ns
.L

on
g

yi
el

ds
al

so
fe

ll
in

th
e

U
S.

U
K

go
ve

rn
m

en
tb

on
d

re
tu

rn
s

(2
.2

%
in

G
BP

te
rm

s)
fe

ll
sl

ig
ht

ly
sh

or
t

of
gl

ob
al

cr
ed

it
an

d
U

K
in

fla
tio

n-
lin

ke
d

bo
nd

s
(b

ot
h

re
tu

rn
ed

3.
3%

),
as

w
el

la
s

gl
ob

al
hi

gh
yi

el
d

(r
et

ur
ne

d
5.

7%
).

C
on

ve
rs

el
y,

th
e

ris
in

g
U

SD
co

nt
rib

ut
ed

to
fu

rth
er

po
or

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
in

lo
ca

lc
ur

re
nc

y
EM

D
(0

.9
%

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
ra

nd
-0

.2
%

ov
er

th
e

ye
ar

).

N
ev

er
th

el
es

s,
am

id
th

e
co

m
bi

na
tio

n
of

fa
lli

ng
re

al
yi

el
ds

,b
ro

ad
en

in
g

gr
ow

th
(a

tl
ea

st
in

th
e

de
ve

lo
pe

d
ec

on
om

ie
s)

,a
nd

ab
at

in
g

de
fla

tio
n

fe
ar

s,
eq

ui
ty

m
ar

ke
ts

pe
rfo

rm
ed

st
ro

ng
ly

in
th

e
qu

ar
te

r.
Ac

ro
ss

th
e

m
aj

or
se

ct
or

s,
gl

ob
al

sm
al

lc
ap

s
w

er
e

th
e

be
st

pe
rfo

rm
er

s
(r

et
ur

ni
ng

9.
8%

in
G

BP
te

rm
s)

,f
ol

lo
w

ed
by

Lo
w

V
ol

at
ili

ty
(9

.2
%

)a
nd

M
SC

I
W

or
ld

(7
.6

%
).

Ev
en

Em
er

gi
ng

M
ar

ke
ts

re
co

ve
re

d
(u

p
7.

4%
in

th
e

th
re

e
m

on
th

s
to

M
ar

ch
),

w
ith

qu
al

ity
th

e
w

ea
ke

st
pe

rfo
rm

in
g

se
ct

or
(7

.2
%

).

Ac
ro

ss
co

un
tri

es
,l

oc
al

cu
rr

en
cy

(to
ta

l)
re

tu
rn

s
w

er
e

st
ro

ng
es

ti
n

co
nt

in
en

ta
lE

ur
op

ea
n

m
ar

ke
ts

,r
an

gi
ng

fro
m

31
.1

%
in

D
en

m
ar

k
to

‘ju
st

’1
0.

0%
in

N
or

w
ay

.M
S

C
IE

M
U

w
as

up
18

.7
%

in
th

e
qu

ar
te

r,
w

hi
le

Ja
pa

ne
se

an
d

Au
st

ra
lia

n
eq

ui
te

s
al

so
de

liv
er

ed
re

tu
rn

s
of

ov
er

10
%

.I
n

co
nt

ra
st

,t
he

FT
SE

10
0

po
st

ed
a

re
tu

rn
of

4.
2%

,w
hi

le
th

e
S&

P
50

0
on

ly
m

an
ag

ed
to

ek
e

ou
ta

ga
in

of
1.

0%
(a

ll
lo

ca
lc

ur
re

nc
y

re
tu

rn
s)

.

Th
e

st
re

ng
th

of
th

e
do

lla
r(

as
w

el
la

s
ov

er
su

pp
ly

an
d

sl
ow

in
g

de
m

an
d

in
C

hi
na

an
d

ot
he

re
m

er
gi

ng
ec

on
om

ie
s)

co
nt

in
ue

d
to

co
un

te
ra

ct
on

th
e

re
co

ve
ry

in
oi

la
nd

ot
he

r
co

m
m

od
ity

pr
ic

es
.T

he
S&

P
G

S
C

IT
ot

al
re

tu
rn

In
de

x
fe

ll
a

fu
rth

er
8.

2%
in

th
e

qu
ar

te
r,

an
d

ha
s

fa
lle

n
by

40
.3

%
ov

er
th

e
pa

st
ye

ar
.

S
ou

rc
e:

Th
om

so
n

R
eu

te
rs

D
at

as
tre

am
.

Page 128



M
ER

C
ER

7

M
ar

ke
tP

er
fo

rm
an

ce
to

31
M

ar
ch

20
15

3-
M

on
th

A
ss

et
C

la
ss

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

(%
)

12
-M

on
th

A
ss

et
C

la
ss

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

(%
)

S
ou

rc
e:

Th
om

so
n

R
eu

te
rs

D
at

as
tre

am

Page 129



M
ER

C
ER

G
lo

ba
lg

ro
w

th
in

ea
rly

20
15

:n
ot

ba
d,

no
tg

oo
d,

st
ill

un
ev

en

U
ne

ve
n

gl
ob

al
gr

ow
th

co
nt

in
ue

s
in

ea
rly

20
15

.A
fte

ra
n

av
er

ag
e

an
nu

al
is

ed
ra

te
of

ov
er

4%
in

th
e

se
co

nd
an

d
th

ird
qu

ar
te

rs
of

20
14

.U
S

G
D

P
gr

ow
th

ha
s

co
ol

ed
in

th
e

pa
st

tw
o

qu
ar

te
rs

.
M

or
e

po
si

tiv
el

y,
gr

ow
th

ap
pe

ar
s

to
be

st
re

ng
th

en
in

g
in

th
e

eu
ro

ar
ea

,a
nd

is
be

co
m

in
g

m
or

e
br

oa
dl

y
ba

se
d

ac
ro

ss
bo

th
th

e
co

re
an

d
th

e
pe

rip
he

ry
.J

ap
an

al
so

ap
pe

ar
s

to
ha

ve
en

te
re

d
a

te
nt

at
iv

e
re

co
ve

ry
af

te
rt

he
m

ild
re

ce
ss

io
n

of
m

id
-2

01
4.

A
lth

ou
gh

pa
rtl

y
du

e
to

co
ld

w
ea

th
er

as
w

el
la

s
to

th
e

ef
fe

ct
s

of
th

e
la

bo
ur

st
rik

es
,t

he
m

od
er

at
io

n
in

U
S

gr
ow

th
an

d
th

e
co

nt
em

po
ra

ne
ou

s
st

re
ng

th
en

in
g

in
Eu

ro
pe

an
d

Ja
pa

n
ap

pe
ar

al
so

to
re

fle
ct

th
e

ro
ta

tio
n

of
gl

ob
al

Q
E

po
lic

ie
s

an
d

th
e

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g
la

rg
e

ex
ch

an
ge

ra
te

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

.

In
co

nt
ra

st
,g

ro
w

th
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
m

od
er

at
e

in
C

hi
na

,a
m

id
a

ra
pi

dl
y

w
ea

ke
ni

ng
re

si
de

nt
ia

l
pr

op
er

ty
se

ct
or

an
d

ov
er

ca
pa

ci
ty

in
m

an
uf

ac
tu

rin
g.

M
an

y
ot

he
rp

ar
ts

of
th

e
em

er
gi

ng
w

or
ld

al
so

ar
e

co
nt

in
ui

ng
to

st
ru

gg
le

in
th

e
fa

ce
of

va
rio

us
he

ad
w

in
ds

,i
nc

lu
di

ng
th

e
st

ea
dy

un
w

in
di

ng
of

cr
ed

it
cy

cl
es

an
d

lo
w

co
m

m
od

ity
pr

ic
es

.S
om

e
em

er
gi

ng
ec

on
om

ie
s,

ho
w

ev
er

,
th

os
e

lik
e

In
di

a
th

at
ar

e
co

m
m

od
ity

im
po

rte
rs

an
d

em
ba

rk
in

g
on

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
st

ru
ct

ur
al

re
fo

rm
s,

ar
e

pe
rfo

rm
in

g
m

uc
h

be
tte

r.

In
fla

tio
n

ha
s

fa
lle

n
al

m
os

te
ve

ry
w

he
re

in
ea

rly
20

15
,w

ith
he

ad
lin

e
C

PI
nu

m
be

rs
tu

rn
in

g
ne

ga
tiv

e
in

th
e

U
S,

th
e

U
K

an
d

th
e

eu
ro

ar
ea

,a
lth

ou
gh

la
rg

el
y

re
fle

ct
in

g
th

e
ea

rli
er

pl
un

ge
in

th
e

oi
lp

ric
e.

Si
nc

e
th

e
lo

w
of

$U
S4

6/
bb

li
n

m
id

-J
an

ua
ry

,h
ow

ev
er

,t
he

pr
ic

e
of

B
re

nt
cr

ud
e

ha
s

si
nc

e
re

bo
un

de
d

to
cl

os
e

to
$U

S6
0/

bb
l.

In
th

e
m

ea
nt

im
e,

em
pl

oy
m

en
tc

on
tin

ue
s

to
ex

pa
nd

m
od

er
at

el
y

in
th

e
co

re
de

ve
lo

pe
d

ec
on

om
ie

s
,w

ith
th

e
w

ei
gh

te
d

G
-3

un
em

pl
oy

m
en

t
ra

te
no

w
cl

os
e

to
th

e
pr

ev
io

us
tw

o
cy

cl
ic

al
lo

w
s,

an
d

po
is

ed
to

fa
ll

fu
rth

er
in

20
15

.
Ac

ce
le

ra
tin

g
w

ag
e

gr
ow

th
ap

pe
ar

s
on

ly
a

m
at

te
ro

ft
im

e.

D
es

pi
te

th
e

so
ft

st
ar

tt
o

th
e

ye
ar

,t
he

IM
F

ha
s

le
ft

th
e

20
15

gl
ob

al
gr

ow
th

fo
re

ca
st

un
ch

an
ge

d
at

3.
5%

,w
ith

m
an

uf
ac

tu
rin

g
an

d
ot

he
rb

us
in

es
s

su
rv

ey
s

po
in

tin
g

to
gr

ow
th

in
th

e
de

ve
lo

pe
d

w
or

ld
bo

un
ci

ng
ba

ck
in

Q
2.

Th
is

m
ar

ke
d

se
as

on
al

pa
tte

rn
of

gr
ow

th
ha

s
be

en
pa

rti
cu

la
rly

ev
id

en
ti

n
th

e
U

S
in

th
e

pa
st

fiv
e

ye
ar

s
(p

os
si

bl
y

re
fle

ct
in

g
di

st
or

tio
ns

to
se

as
on

al
ad

ju
st

m
en

tp
ro

ce
ss

es
fo

llo
w

in
g

th
e

20
08

/0
9

re
ce

ss
io

n)
,a

dd
in

g
to

th
e

co
ns

en
su

s
vi

ew
th

at
th

e
sh

ar
p

sl
ow

do
w

n
in

th
e

U
S

is
la

rg
el

y
te

m
po

ra
ry

.

W
ith

ris
in

g
oi

la
nd

la
bo

ur
co

st
s,

st
ro

ng
er

ef
fo

rts
in

Ja
pa

n
an

d
Eu

ro
pe

to
co

m
ba

td
ef

la
tio

n
ris

ks
,a

nd
th

e
U

S
Fe

de
ra

lR
es

er
ve

co
nt

in
ui

ng
to

em
ph

as
is

e
th

e
as

ym
m

et
ric

ris
ks

of
co

m
m

en
ci

ng
tig

ht
en

in
g

to
o

ea
rly

,i
nf

la
tio

n
ex

pe
ct

at
io

ns
in

th
e

m
aj

or
ec

on
om

ie
s

ha
ve

re
bo

un
de

d
si

nc
e

m
id

-J
an

ua
ry

.I
n

th
e

em
er

gi
ng

w
or

ld
,t

he
Pe

op
le

s’
Ba

nk
of

C
hi

na
(P

Bo
C

)h
as

al
so

st
ar

te
d

to
ea

se
m

on
et

ar
y

po
lic

y,
an

d
w

e
an

tic
ip

at
e

fu
rth

er
m

ea
su

re
s

ov
er

th
e

co
m

in
g

qu
ar

te
rs

.N
ev

er
th

el
es

s,
w

ith
th

e
Fe

d
st

ill
po

is
ed

to
lif

tt
he

fu
nd

s
ra

te
by

la
te

20
15

,a
n

in
fle

ct
io

n
po

in
ti

n
th

e
gl

ob
al

m
on

et
ar

y
po

lic
y

cy
cl

e
is

gr
ad

ua
lly

ap
pr

oa
ch

in
g.

In
ou

rv
ie

w
,t

hi
s

po
te

nt
ia

l
fu

rth
er

di
ve

rg
en

ce
in

gl
ob

al
gr

ow
th

an
d

m
on

et
ar

y
po

lic
ie

s
po

rte
nd

s
co

nt
in

ui
ng

vo
la

til
ity

in
cu

rr
en

cy
an

d
ot

he
r

m
ar

ke
ts

.

8

Page 130



M
ER

C
ER

C
on

su
m

er
s

po
is

ed
to

un
de

rp
in

st
ro

ng
er

gr
ow

th
in

bo
th

th
e

U
S

an
d

eu
ro

ar
ea

In
th

e
U

ni
te

d
S

ta
te

s,
G

D
P

gr
ow

th
sl

ow
ed

m
ar

ke
dl

y
in

la
te

20
14

an
d

ea
rly

20
15

.S
om

e
of

th
e

sl
ow

do
w

n
in

la
te

20
14

m
os

tl
ik

el
y

re
fle

ct
s

‘p
ay

ba
ck

’f
or

th
e

st
ro

ng
in

cr
ea

se
s

in
th

e
se

co
nd

an
d

th
e

th
ird

qu
ar

te
rl

as
ty

ea
r(

av
er

ag
e

an
nu

al
is

ed
in

cr
ea

se
s

of
ov

er
4%

),
w

hi
le

th
e

ex
pe

ct
ed

w
ea

k
ou

tc
om

e
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
rp

ar
tly

re
fle

ct
s

th
e

ef
fe

ct
s

of
co

ld
w

ea
th

er
an

d
la

bo
ur

st
rik

es
.

In
de

ed
,i

n
th

e
pa

st
fiv

e
ye

ar
s

U
S

G
D

P
gr

ow
th

in
fir

st
qu

ar
te

rs
ha

s
av

er
ag

ed
ju

st
1.

7%
,

co
m

pa
re

d
w

ith
av

er
ag

e
an

nu
al

is
ed

gr
ow

th
of

2.
9%

in
th

e
re

m
ai

ni
ng

th
re

e
qu

ar
te

rs
.

C
or

re
sp

on
di

ng
ly

,m
or

e
re

ce
nt

in
di

ca
to

rs
su

gg
es

tg
ro

w
th

m
ay

ha
ve

al
re

ad
y

st
ar

te
d

to
st

re
ng

th
en

to
w

ar
ds

th
e

en
d

of
th

e
qu

ar
te

r.
M

uc
h

of
th

e
re

ce
nt

so
ftn

es
s

ha
s

be
en

co
nc

en
tra

te
d

in
co

ns
um

er
sp

en
di

ng
,d

es
pi

te
su

rg
in

g
re

al
di

sp
os

ab
le

in
co

m
es

(s
tro

ng
er

em
pl

oy
m

en
ta

nd
w

ag
es

gr
ow

th
an

d
fa

lli
ng

en
er

gy
an

d
im

po
rt

pr
ic

es
),

bu
oy

an
tl

ev
el

s
of

co
ns

um
er

co
nf

id
en

ce
an

d
pl

en
tif

ul
jo

b
op

en
in

gs
.

In
co

nt
ra

st
to

st
ro

ng
ho

us
eh

ol
d

fu
nd

am
en

ta
ls

,U
S

co
rp

or
at

e
in

co
m

e
gr

ow
th

ha
s

lo
st

so
m

e
m

om
en

tu
m

,w
ith

th
e

ris
in

g
U

SD
an

d
un

it
la

bo
ur

co
st

s
st

ar
tin

g
to

pr
es

su
re

pr
of

it
m

ar
gi

ns
.T

he
IS

M
su

rv
ey

su
gg

es
ts

m
an

uf
ac

tu
re

d
ex

po
rt

or
de

rs
ha

ve
no

w
fa

lle
n

fo
rt

hr
ee

m
on

th
s.

Th
e

sl
ow

do
w

n
in

pr
of

it
gr

ow
th

ap
pe

ar
s

al
so

to
be

fe
ed

in
g

th
ro

ug
h

in
to

w
ea

ke
ni

ng
du

ra
bl

e
go

od
s

or
de

rs
an

d
no

n-
re

si
de

nt
ia

lf
ix

ed
in

ve
st

m
en

t,
an

d
co

ul
d

be
ex

pe
ct

ed
to

co
nt

rib
ut

e
to

a
m

od
er

at
io

n
in

pa
yr

ol
lg

ro
w

th
(a

fte
ra

ve
ry

st
ro

ng
20

14
).

In
th

e
pu

bl
ic

se
ct

or
,i

n
co

nt
ra

st
,f

in
al

de
m

an
d

is
no

lo
ng

er
co

nt
ra

ct
in

g.
M

or
eo

ve
r,

ev
en

w
ith

so
m

e
m

od
er

at
io

n
in

G
D

P
an

d
pa

yr
ol

ls
gr

ow
th

,t
he

un
em

pl
oy

m
en

tr
at

e
is

po
is

ed
to

fa
ll

to
w

ar
ds

5.
0%

by
la

te
20

15
,p

oi
nt

in
g

to
a

fu
rth

er
gr

ad
ua

ls
tre

ng
th

en
in

g
in

w
ag

es
gr

ow
th

.

In
th

e
Eu

ro
zo

ne
,t

he
re

co
ve

ry
is

ga
in

in
g

tra
ct

io
n,

as
fis

ca
ld

ra
g

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

ab
at

e,
cr

ed
it

gr
ow

th
be

gi
ns

to
re

co
ve

r,
an

d
as

th
e

w
ea

ke
re

ur
o

an
d

st
ru

ct
ur

al
re

fo
rm

s
sp

ur
an

up
tu

rn
in

ex
po

rt
gr

ow
th

.M
or

e
po

si
tiv

el
y,

th
e

re
co

ve
ry

ha
s

be
en

co
nc

en
tra

te
d

in
pa

rts
of

th
e

pe
rip

he
ry

(e
sp

ec
ia

lly
Sp

ai
n,

Ita
ly

an
d

Ire
la

nd
),

an
d

ha
s

be
en

ac
co

m
pa

ni
ed

by
fu

rth
er

de
cl

in
es

in
un

em
pl

oy
m

en
tr

at
es

in
at

le
as

ts
om

e
co

un
tri

es
(m

os
tn

ot
ab

ly
in

Sp
ai

n)
.W

ith
in

th
e

co
re

,
G

er
m

an
y

ag
ai

n
le

ad
s

th
e

up
tu

rn
,w

ith
th

e
G

er
m

an
un

em
pl

oy
m

en
tr

at
e

co
nt

in
ui

ng
to

fa
ll

to
ne

w
lo

w
s

(s
ta

nd
in

g
at

ju
st

4.
8%

in
Fe

br
ua

ry
).

Fr
an

ce
re

m
ai

ns
a

la
gg

ar
d,

an
d

th
e

un
em

pl
oy

m
en

tr
at

e
in

Fr
an

ce
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
dr

ift
st

ea
di

ly
hi

gh
er

.T
he

co
ns

en
su

s
fo

re
ca

st
fo

r
20

15
Eu

ro
zo

ne
G

D
P

gr
ow

th
su

bs
eq

ue
nt

ly
ha

s
in

cr
ea

se
d

fro
m

1.
1%

to
1.

5%
ov

er
th

e
pa

st
qu

ar
te

r,
w

ith
gr

ow
th

ex
pe

ct
ed

to
st

re
ng

th
en

fu
rth

er
to

1.
8%

in
20

16
(th

e
st

ro
ng

es
ts

in
ce

20
10

).

G
D

P
ha

s
sh

ow
n

so
m

e
si

gn
of

bo
tto

m
in

g
in

G
re

ec
e,

al
th

ou
gh

th
e

ou
tlo

ok
re

m
ai

ns
ov

er
sh

ad
ow

ed
by

th
e

fra
ct

io
us

ne
go

tia
tio

ns
be

tw
ee

n
th

e
ne

w
go

ve
rn

m
en

ta
nd

th
e

cr
ed

ito
r

in
st

itu
tio

ns
.T

o
da

te
,G

re
ec

e
ha

s
be

en
ab

le
to

m
ee

to
ffi

ci
al

re
pa

ym
en

to
bl

ig
at

io
ns

,b
ut

ha
s

si
gn

al
le

d
th

is
is

un
lik

el
y

to
re

m
ai

n
th

e
ca

se
w

ith
ou

ts
om

e
re

-n
eg

ot
ia

tio
n

of
ba

il-
ou

tc
on

di
tio

ns
.

In
th

e
m

ea
nt

im
e,

th
e

EU
ha

s
hi

nt
ed

th
at

an
y

fa
llo

ut
fro

m
a

‘G
re

xi
t’

w
ou

ld
lik

el
y

be
qu

ar
an

tin
ed

by
th

e
va

rio
us

fin
an

ci
al

st
ab

ili
ty

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
s

pu
ti

n
pl

ac
e

in
th

e
pa

st
fe

w
ye

ar
s.

Th
e

EU
’s

st
an

ce
su

gg
es

ts
th

e
ris

k
of

a
G

re
ek

ex
it

ha
ve

in
cr

ea
se

d
m

at
er

ia
lly

,b
ut

gi
ve

n
th

e
st

ak
es

in
vo

lv
ed

fo
rb

ot
h

si
de

s
w

e
ex

pe
ct

th
e

st
an

do
ff

to
pe

rs
is

tf
or

so
m

e
tim

e.
G

re
ec

e
ha

s
a

€7
63

m
n

pa
ym

en
tt

o
IM

F
du

e
on

12
M

ay
.

9

Page 131



M
ER

C
ER

G
ro

w
th

pr
os

pe
ct

s
m

ix
ed

el
se

w
he

re

El
se

w
he

re
am

on
g

de
ve

lo
pe

d
ec

on
om

ie
s,

th
e

U
K

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

pr
od

uc
e

so
lid

gr
ow

th
,w

ith
th

e
co

ns
en

su
s

ex
pe

ct
in

g
th

e
2.

8%
in

cr
ea

se
in

G
D

P
in

20
14

to
be

fo
llo

w
ed

by
2.

6%
in

20
16

.
C

or
re

sp
on

di
ng

ly
,e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t

gr
ow

th
re

m
ai

ns
st

ro
ng

,w
hi

le
th

e
un

em
pl

oy
m

en
tr

at
e

ha
s

sl
ip

pe
d

to
a

ne
w

cy
cl

ic
al

lo
w

of
5.

6%
.L

es
s

po
si

tiv
el

y,
no

m
in

al
w

ag
e

gr
ow

th
re

m
ai

ns
te

pi
d,

w
ith

ho
us

eh
ol

d
sp

en
di

ng
la

rg
el

y
un

de
rp

in
ne

d
by

fa
lli

ng
go

od
s

an
d

se
rv

ic
es

in
fla

tio
n

an
d

bu
oy

an
th

ou
se

pr
ic

e
ga

in
s.

M
or

eo
ve

r,
at

5.
5%

of
G

D
P

in
20

14
,t

he
U

K’
s

cu
rr

en
ta

cc
ou

nt
de

fic
it

w
as

am
on

g
th

e
la

rg
es

ti
n

th
e

de
ve

lo
pe

d
w

or
ld

.

In
Ja

pa
n,

a
m

od
es

tr
ec

ov
er

y
ap

pe
ar

s
to

ha
ve

co
nt

in
ue

d
in

to
ea

rly
20

15
.A

lth
ou

gh
G

D
P

ex
pa

nd
ed

by
ju

st
0.

4%
in

th
e

fo
ur

th
qu

ar
te

r(
af

te
rc

on
tra

ct
io

ns
in

th
re

e
of

th
e

pr
ev

io
us

fo
ur

qu
ar

te
rs

),
an

d
th

e
P

M
Ih

as
st

ru
gg

le
d

to
re

m
ai

n
in

ex
pa

ns
io

na
ry

te
rr

ito
ry

,o
th

er
in

di
ca

to
rs

co
nt

in
ue

to
pa

in
ta

br
ig

ht
er

ou
tlo

ok
.E

xp
or

ts
,w

hi
ch

w
er

e
in

iti
al

ly
sl

ow
to

re
sp

on
d

to
th

e
co

lla
ps

in
g

ye
n

in
20

13
,h

av
e

ris
en

st
ea

di
ly

fro
m

m
id

-2
01

4,
co

nt
rib

ut
in

g
to

a
re

-to
ol

in
g

of
th

e
Ja

pa
ne

se
m

an
uf

ac
tu

rin
g

se
ct

or
.I

nd
ee

d,
m

ac
hi

ne
ry

or
de

rs
bo

un
ce

d
in

la
te

20
14

an
d

ea
rly

20
15

,a
nd

(in
co

nt
ra

st
to

ot
he

rd
ev

el
op

ed
ec

on
om

ie
s)

,p
riv

at
e

bu
si

ne
ss

in
ve

st
m

en
tc

on
tin

ue
s

to
ris

e
st

ea
di

ly
as

a
pr

op
or

tio
n

of
G

D
P

.M
os

tp
ro

m
is

in
gl

y,
th

e
ra

tio
of

jo
b

of
fe

rs
to

ap
pl

ic
an

ts
is

no
w

at
th

e
hi

gh
es

tl
ev

el
in

ov
er

tw
o

de
ca

de
s,

an
d

em
pl

oy
m

en
ta

nd
in

co
m

e
gr

ow
th

ar
e

sl
ow

ly
st

re
ng

th
en

in
g.

Fu
rth

er
m

or
e,

no
m

in
al

G
D

P
is

no
w

co
m

fo
rta

bl
y

ou
tp

ac
in

g
re

al
ou

tp
ut

gr
ow

th
,a

s
th

e
lo

ng
de

cl
in

e
in

th
e

G
D

P
de

fla
to

ra
pp

ea
rs

to
ha

ve
be

en
ar

re
st

ed
.A

fte
ra

1.
0%

in
cr

ea
se

in
20

15
,t

he
co

ns
en

su
s

ex
pe

ct
s

a
fu

rth
er

1.
7%

in
cr

ea
se

in
Ja

pa
ne

se
G

D
P

in
20

16
.

At
7.

0%
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

G
D

P
gr

ow
th

in
C

hi
na

ha
s

fa
lle

n
to

th
e

w
ea

ke
st

ra
te

si
nc

e
ea

rly
20

09
,w

hi
le

th
e

qu
ar

te
rly

1.
3%

(n
on

-a
nn

ua
lis

ed
)i

nc
re

as
e

w
as

th
e

lo
w

es
ts

in
ce

es
tim

at
es

w
er

e
fir

st
re

le
as

ed
in

20
10

.M
uc

h
of

th
e

w
ea

kn
es

s
re

m
ai

ns
co

nc
en

tra
te

d
in

se
co

nd
ar

y
in

du
st

ry
(g

ro
w

th
in

w
hi

ch
ha

s
al

so
fa

lle
n

to
th

e
lo

w
es

tl
ev

el
si

nc
e

20
09

),
re

fle
ct

in
g

a
sh

ar
p

m
od

er
at

io
n

in
bo

th
ex

po
rt

an
d

fix
ed

as
se

tg
ro

w
th

.S
ub

st
an

tia
lc

ap
ac

ity
ov

er
ha

ng
s

re
m

ai
n

in
th

e
in

du
st

ria
la

nd
re

si
de

nt
ia

lp
ro

pe
rty

se
ct

or
s,

an
d

al
on

g
w

ith
ac

co
m

pa
ny

in
g

no
n-

pe
rfo

rm
in

g
lo

an
s

w
ill

re
m

ai
n

a
dr

ag
on

C
hi

ne
se

gr
ow

th
fo

rs
ev

er
al

ye
ar

s.
At

th
is

po
in

t,
w

ea
kn

es
s

ha
s

ye
t

to
sp

re
ad

to
ot

he
rm

aj
or

se
ct

or
s

or
co

m
po

ne
nt

s
of

fin
al

de
m

an
d,

su
pp

or
te

d
by

m
ar

ke
t

lib
er

al
is

at
io

n
m

ea
su

re
s

an
d

ris
in

g
pe

rs
on

al
in

co
m

es
.I

n
ou

rv
ie

w
,t

he
ris

ks
to

co
ns

en
su

s
gr

ow
th

fo
re

ca
st

s
(6

.9
%

in
20

15
an

d
6.

8%
in

20
16

)r
em

ai
n

til
te

d
to

th
e

do
w

ns
id

e.

Th
e

ou
tlo

ok
re

m
ai

ns
eq

ua
lly

m
ix

ed
in

th
e

ot
he

rm
aj

or
em

er
gi

ng
ec

on
om

ie
s.

In
di

a
re

m
ai

ns
th

e
st

an
do

ut
pe

rfo
rm

er
,b

en
ef

iti
ng

fro
m

lo
w

er
en

er
gy

pr
ic

es
an

d
an

am
bi

tio
us

st
ru

ct
ur

al
re

fo
rm

pr
og

ra
m

.O
th

er
em

er
gi

ng
As

ia
n

ec
on

om
ie

s
co

nf
ro

nt
cr

os
s-

cu
rr

en
ts

fro
m

lo
w

er
ex

ch
an

ge
ra

te
s

an
d

co
m

m
od

ity
pr

ic
es

,b
ut

th
e

pr
os

pe
ct

of
a

su
st

ai
ne

d
m

od
er

at
io

n
in

C
hi

na
’s

lo
ng

-te
rm

gr
ow

th
pa

th
.I

n
co

nt
ra

st
,B

ra
zi

la
nd

R
us

si
a

ap
pe

ar
to

ha
ve

sl
ip

pe
d

in
to

re
ce

ss
io

n,
bo

th
th

e
vi

ct
im

s
of

pl
un

gi
ng

co
m

m
od

ity
pr

ic
es

.P
oo

re
co

no
m

ic
m

an
ag

em
en

t
an

d
sa

nc
tio

ns
,

re
sp

ec
tiv

el
y,

re
m

ai
n

hu
rd

le
s

to
qu

ic
k

tu
rn

ar
ou

nd
si

n
bo

th
ec

on
om

ie
s.

10

Page 132



M
ER

C
ER

Th
e

gl
ob

al
m

on
et

ar
y

po
lic

y
cy

cl
e

to
hi

ta
n

in
fle

ct
io

n
po

in
tb

y
la

te
20

15
?

Th
e

Pe
op

le
’s

Ba
nk

of
C

hi
na

is
th

e
la

te
st

ce
nt

ra
lb

an
k

to
ad

op
ta

m
or

e
ag

gr
es

si
ve

ap
pr

oa
ch

to
m

on
et

ar
y

ea
si

ng
,c

ut
tin

g
re

qu
ire

d
re

se
rv

e
ra

tio
by

10
0

ba
si

s
po

in
ts

in
m

id
-A

pr
il.

In
th

e
m

ea
nt

im
e,

ho
w

ev
er

,e
vi

de
nc

e
is

m
ou

nt
in

g
U

S
co

re
in

fla
tio

n
bo

tto
m

ed
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

gi
vi

ng
th

e
Fe

d
re

as
on

ab
le

co
nf

id
en

ce
in

fla
tio

n
w

ill
re

tu
rn

to
w

ar
ds

th
e

2.
0%

ta
rg

et
ov

er
in

20
16

.W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
ex

pe
ct

a
fir

st
U

S
ra

te
in

cr
ea

se
by

th
e

en
d

of
20

15
.N

ev
er

th
el

es
s,

U
S

bo
nd

m
ar

ke
ts

co
nt

in
ue

to
di

sc
ou

nt
a

m
or

e
do

vi
sh

pr
oc

es
s

of
po

lic
y

no
rm

al
is

at
io

n
th

an
th

e
m

ed
ia

n
of

FO
M

C
m

em
be

rf
or

ec
as

ts
.W

hi
le

lo
ng

-te
rm

in
fla

tio
n

br
ea

k-
ev

en
s

ha
ve

ju
m

pe
d

in
th

e
U

S
(a

nd
ot

he
rc

ou
nt

rie
s)

in
ta

nd
em

w
ith

th
e

re
bo

un
d

in
oi

lp
ric

es
,t

he
y

re
m

ai
n

be
lo

w
ce

nt
ra

lb
an

k
in

fla
tio

n
ta

rg
et

s,
an

d
un

de
rs

co
re

th
e

co
nt

in
ui

ng
lo

w
le

ve
ls

of
U

S
an

d
gl

ob
al

re
al

in
te

re
st

ra
te

s.

W
e

co
nc

ur
w

ith
bo

th
th

e
Fe

d
an

d
m

ar
ke

tp
ric

in
g

th
at

th
e

te
rm

in
al

fu
nd

s
ra

te
is

lik
el

y
to

be
lo

w
er

th
is

cy
cl

e
co

m
pa

re
d

w
ith

th
os

e
pr

io
rt

o
th

e
20

08
/0

9
re

ce
ss

io
n.

P
ot

en
tia

lG
D

P
gr

ow
th

is
no

w
lik

el
y

to
be

lo
w

er
in

th
e

U
S

an
d

ac
ro

ss
m

uc
h

of
th

e
de

ve
lo

pe
d

an
d

em
er

gi
ng

w
or

ld
s,

la
rg

el
y

re
fle

ct
in

g
th

e
im

pa
ct

of
de

m
og

ra
ph

ic
s.

Th
e

gl
ob

al
sh

or
ta

ge
of

ris
k

fre
e

as
se

ts
is

a
fu

rth
er

so
ur

ce
of

do
w

nw
ar

d
pr

es
su

re
on

re
al

in
te

re
st

ra
te

s
in

th
e

sh
or

t-
to

m
ed

iu
m

-te
rm

.I
n

ad
di

tio
n

to
th

e
m

as
si

ve
EC

B
an

d
Bo

J
as

se
tp

ur
ch

as
e

pr
og

ra
m

s,
na

rr
ow

in
g

bu
dg

et
de

fic
its

in
th

e
U

S
an

d
th

e
U

K
ar

e
al

so
re

du
ci

ng
ne

w
bo

nd
su

pp
ly

.I
n

th
e

m
ea

nt
im

e,
bo

th
ne

w
is

su
an

ce
an

d
fa

lli
ng

bo
nd

yi
el

ds
le

ad
s

to
a

st
re

ng
th

en
in

g
in

de
m

an
d

am
on

g
pa

ss
iv

e
fix

ed
in

te
re

st
fu

nd
s

an
d

lia
bi

lit
y-

dr
iv

en
in

ve
st

or
s.

In
ad

di
tio

n
to

th
e

ex
te

nt
of

ne
ga

tiv
e

yi
el

ds
in

Eu
ro

pe
,t

er
m

pr
em

iu
m

s
on

lo
ng

er
da

te
d

U
S

Tr
ea

su
rie

s
ar

e
al

so
be

en
es

tim
at

ed
to

ha
ve

tu
rn

ed
ne

ga
tiv

e.

In
ou

rv
ie

w
,h

ow
ev

er
,s

te
ad

ily
tig

ht
en

in
g

la
bo

ur
m

ar
ke

ts
in

th
e

de
ve

lo
pe

d
ec

on
om

ie
s

re
st

un
co

m
fo

rta
bl

y
w

ith
th

e
no

tio
n

of
‘s

ec
ul

ar
st

ag
na

tio
n’

-s
tru

ct
ur

al
ly

de
fic

ie
nt

ag
gr

eg
at

e
de

m
an

d,
hi

gh
un

em
pl

oy
m

en
ta

nd
di

si
nf

la
tio

n.
M

or
eo

ve
r,

so
m

e
st

ud
ie

s
su

gg
es

tt
ha

t
de

ve
lo

pe
d

ec
on

om
ie

s
m

ay
be

ap
pr

oa
ch

in
g

an
in

fle
ct

io
n

po
in

ta
tw

hi
ch

ris
in

g
gl

ob
al

sa
vi

ng
s

ra
te

s
(a

no
th

er
co

rn
er

st
on

e
of

se
cu

la
rs

ta
gn

at
io

n)
gi

ve
w

ay
to

di
s-

sa
vi

ng
,e

ve
nt

ua
lly

pl
ac

in
g

up
w

ar
d

pr
es

su
re

on
gl

ob
al

re
al

in
te

re
st

ra
te

s.
R

at
he

r,
w

e
be

lie
ve

th
er

e
is

al
so

a
st

ro
ng

cy
cl

ic
al

di
m

en
si

on
to

th
e

lo
ng

pe
rio

d
of

tre
nd

/s
ub

-tr
en

d
gl

ob
al

gr
ow

th
an

d
di

si
nf

la
tio

n,
sp

ec
ifi

ca
lly

th
e

un
us

ua
lly

as
yn

ch
ro

no
us

pa
tte

rn
of

gr
ow

th
ac

ro
ss

th
e

m
aj

or
re

gi
on

s.

W
ith

in
ve

st
or

s
pr

ep
ar

ed
to

pa
y

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

la
rg

e
pr

em
ia

fo
rs

af
et

y,
w

e
re

m
ai

n
w

ar
y

th
at

th
e

U
S

bo
nd

m
ar

ke
t(

an
d

gl
ob

al
bo

nd
m

ar
ke

ts
m

or
e

ge
ne

ra
lly

)a
re

co
nt

in
ui

ng
to

un
de

r-
pr

ic
e

cy
cl

ic
al

ris
ks

ov
er

th
e

ne
xt

1-
3

ye
ar

s.
Si

m
ila

rly
,E

ur
op

ea
n

bo
nd

yi
el

ds
im

pl
y

th
e

E
C

B
is

un
lik

el
y

to
co

m
m

en
ce

tig
ht

en
in

g
be

fo
re

20
19

,a
ga

in
su

gg
es

tin
g

in
ve

st
or

s
se

e
ris

ks
to

Eu
ro

pe
an

gr
ow

th
an

d
in

fla
tio

n
sk

ew
ed

he
av

ily
to

th
e

do
w

ns
id

e.
In

ot
he

rE
ur

op
ea

n
co

un
tri

es
ex

pe
rim

en
tin

g
w

ith
ne

ga
tiv

e
po

lic
y

ra
te

s,
th

e
al

te
rn

at
iv

e
of

ho
ar

di
ng

ca
sh

al
so

po
te

nt
ia

lly
lim

its
th

e
do

w
ns

id
e

to
yi

el
ds

.A
tc

ur
re

nt
le

ve
ls

,w
e

be
lie

ve
th

e
ris

ks
to

lo
ng

gl
ob

al
bo

nd
yi

el
ds

ar
e

hi
gh

ly
as

ym
m

et
ric

.

11

Page 133



M
ER

C
ER

D
ev

el
op

ed
eq

ui
tie

s
vi

ew
ed

ne
ut

ra
lly

as
va

lu
at

io
ns

ris
e

12

O
ur

ra
tin

g
fo

rd
ev

el
op

ed
eq

ui
tie

s
ha

s
m

ov
ed

to
N

eu
tr

al
.E

qu
ity

m
ar

ke
ts

ex
pe

rie
nc

ed
a

tu
rb

ul
en

ts
ta

rt
to

th
e

ye
ar

,a
s

m
ar

ke
ts

fe
ll

du
rin

g
th

e
fir

st
ha

lf
of

Ja
nu

ar
y

be
fo

re
re

bo
un

di
ng

st
ro

ng
ly

in
Fe

br
ua

ry
.T

he
M

SC
IW

or
ld

fin
is

he
d

th
e

qu
ar

te
r7

.6
%

in
G

BP
te

rm
s.

In
co

nt
ra

st
to

th
e

re
ce

nt
pa

st
,u

pw
ar

d
m

om
en

tu
m

ge
ne

ra
lly

ca
m

e
fro

m
ou

ts
id

e
th

e
U

S,
no

ta
bl

y
Ja

pa
n

(w
hi

ch
w

as
up

15
.9

%
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

ri
n

G
BP

te
rm

s)
an

d
m

an
y

pa
rts

of
Eu

ro
pe

.

In
te

rm
s

of
va

lu
at

io
ns

,t
he

se
ge

ne
ra

lly
ro

se
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

rw
ith

de
ve

lo
pe

d
m

ar
ke

t
eq

ui
tie

s,
on

th
e

w
ho

le
,l

oo
ki

ng
m

or
e

ex
pe

ns
iv

e
th

an
th

ey
di

d
la

st
ye

ar
.O

ve
ra

ll
w

e
ar

e
in

cr
ea

si
ng

ly
of

th
e

vi
ew

th
at

w
he

n
lo

ok
ed

at
ov

er
th

e
lo

ng
er

te
rm

,t
he

as
se

t
cl

as
s

is
ge

ne
ra

lly
fu

lly
va

lu
ed

.P
ric

e
to

Bo
ok

ra
tio

cr
ep

tu
p

m
ar

gi
na

lly
fro

m
2.

2x
to

2.
3x

an
d

Pr
ic

e
to

C
as

hf
lo

w
al

so
in

cr
ea

se
d

fro
m

10
.7

x
to

11
.3

x.
Th

es
e

m
ea

su
re

s
ar

e
to

w
ar

ds
th

e
to

p
en

d
of

th
ei

rh
is

to
ric

al
av

er
ag

e.
Pr

ic
e

to
E

ar
ni

ng
s

in
cr

ea
se

d
m

at
er

ia
lly

fro
m

18
.0

x
to

19
.3

x,
as

di
d

C
yc

lic
al

ly
Ad

ju
st

ed
Pr

ic
e

to
E

ar
ni

ng
s

(C
AP

E)
w

hi
ch

w
en

tf
ro

m
19

.2
x

to
19

.5
x

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
r.

G
en

er
al

ly
sp

ea
ki

ng
,t

he
re

ap
pe

ar
s

to
be

m
or

e
up

si
de

po
te

nt
ia

lf
or

Ja
pa

n
an

d
th

e
E

ur
oz

on
e

co
m

pa
re

d
to

th
e

U
S.

As
re

ga
rd

s
m

ar
ke

tb
eh

av
io

ur
,i

nv
es

to
rc

on
fid

en
ce

ap
pe

ar
s

to
ha

ve
be

en
bu

oy
ed

by
th

e
ne

w
s

of
la

rg
er

th
an

ex
pe

ct
ed

qu
an

tit
at

iv
e

ea
si

ng
m

ea
su

re
s

in
th

e
E

ur
oz

on
e

an
d

in
ge

ne
ra

lm
ar

ke
ts

en
tim

en
tr

em
ai

ns
bu

lli
sh

on
th

e
ex

pe
ct

at
io

n
th

at
th

e
U

S
w

ill
co

nt
in

ue
to

su
pp

or
tg

lo
ba

le
co

no
m

ic
gr

ow
th

.

In
ve

st
or

po
si

tio
ni

ng
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
ill

us
tra

te
a

pr
ef

er
en

ce
fo

re
qu

iti
es

ov
er

bo
nd

s,
w

ith
th

e
ne

tp
er

ce
nt

ag
e

ov
er

w
ei

gh
tu

p
to

a
7-

m
on

th
hi

gh
in

Fe
br

ua
ry

.T
he

cu
rr

en
t

al
lo

ca
tio

n
is

ar
ou

nd
1.

1
st

an
da

rd
de

vi
at

io
ns

ab
ov

e
its

lo
ng

-te
rm

av
er

ag
e

(B
of

AM
L

G
lo

ba
lF

un
d

M
an

ag
er

Su
rv

ey
,1

7
Fe

br
ua

ry
20

15
).

At
re

gi
on

al
le

ve
l,

th
e

ov
er

w
ei

gh
t

al
lo

ca
tio

n
to

U
S

eq
ui

tie
s

de
cl

in
ed

sh
ar

pl
y

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
r,

w
ith

in
ve

st
or

s
in

st
ea

d
sh

ow
in

g
a

pr
ef

er
en

ce
fo

rJ
ap

an
es

e
an

d
Eu

ro
zo

ne
eq

ui
tie

s.

W
hi

ls
tt

he
re

ce
nt

oi
lp

ric
e

co
lla

ps
e

ha
s

le
d

to
a

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
ro

ta
tio

n
ou

to
fe

ne
rg

y
an

d
m

at
er

ia
ls

an
d

in
to

gl
ob

al
te

ch
no

lo
gy

an
d

di
sc

re
tio

na
ry

st
oc

ks
,s

om
e

co
m

m
en

ta
to

rs
su

gg
es

tt
ha

tc
ut

s
to

en
er

gy
ea

rn
in

gs
pr

oj
ec

tio
ns

,i
n

pa
rti

cu
la

r,
m

ay
ha

ve
ov

er
sh

ot
th

e
fa

ll
in

th
e

oi
lp

ric
e.

JP
M

or
ga

n,
fo

re
xa

m
pl

e,
fin

d
en

er
gy

to
be

on
e

of
th

e
fe

w
va

lu
e

se
ct

or
s

cu
rr

en
tly

an
d

ha
ve

re
ce

nt
ly

po
si

tio
ne

d
th

em
se

lv
es

ov
er

w
ei

gh
t(

JP
M

Eq
ui

ty
St

ra
te

gy
,2

3
M

ar
ch

20
15

).

O
ve

ra
ll,

m
ar

ke
tv

ol
at

ili
ty

st
ill

re
m

ai
ns

be
lo

w
th

e
hi

st
or

ic
av

er
ag

e,
th

ou
gh

ha
s

in
cr

ea
se

d
fro

m
th

e
al

l-t
im

e-
lo

w
s

se
en

in
20

14
.I

n
ou

rv
ie

w
,v

ol
at

ili
ty

is
lik

el
y

to
in

cr
ea

se
to

m
or

e
el

ev
at

ed
le

ve
ls

,i
n

lig
ht

of
th

e
an

tic
ip

at
ed

po
lic

y
ra

te
lif

t-o
ff

in
th

e
U

S.

Page 134



M
ER

C
ER

13

D
ev

el
op

ed
eq

ui
tie

s
vi

ew
ed

ne
ut

ra
lly

as
va

lu
at

io
ns

ris
e

(c
on

t’d
)

In
ve

st
or

se
nt

im
en

t,
as

ga
ug

ed
by

C
iti

’s
N

ew
s

Im
pl

ie
d

S
en

tim
en

tI
nd

ic
at

or
,i

m
pr

ov
ed

m
ar

gi
na

lly
,b

ut
re

m
ai

ns
in

be
ar

is
h

te
rri

to
ry

.O
n

th
e

ot
he

rh
an

d
th

e
G

lo
ba

lR
is

k
Av

er
si

on
M

ac
ro

In
de

x
(a

gl
ob

al
m

ea
su

re
of

ris
k

av
er

si
on

ac
ro

ss
as

se
tc

la
ss

es
)d

ec
re

as
ed

,
si

gn
al

lin
g

a
sl

ig
ht

im
pr

ov
em

en
ti

n
gl

ob
al

ris
k

ap
pe

tit
e.

Th
is

m
ea

su
re

re
m

ai
ns

po
si

tiv
e,

af
te

rs
pe

nd
in

g
m

uc
h

of
th

e
se

co
nd

ha
lf

of
20

13
an

d
fir

st
ha

lf
of

20
14

in
ne

ga
tiv

e
te

rr
ito

ry
(C

iti
G

lo
ba

lM
ac

ro
St

ra
te

gy
,3

0
M

ar
ch

20
15

).

W
ith

th
e

Fe
d

en
di

ng
its

fo
rw

ar
d

gu
id

an
ce

,e
qu

ity
m

ar
ke

ts
ar

e
lik

el
y

to
re

m
ai

n
se

ns
iti

ve
to

ec
on

om
ic

da
ta

re
le

as
es

in
th

e
U

S
ov

er
th

e
co

m
in

g
m

on
th

s,
as

th
ey

ar
e

ex
pe

ct
ed

to
be

a
de

ci
di

ng
fa

ct
or

fo
rt

he
in

iti
al

in
te

re
st

ra
te

lif
t-o

ff
da

te
.M

ut
ed

in
fla

tio
n

pr
in

ts
an

d
w

ea
ke

r
th

an
ex

pe
ct

ed
co

ns
um

er
sp

en
di

ng
da

ta
ha

s
le

d
so

m
e

m
ar

ke
tp

ar
tic

ip
an

ts
to

pu
sh

ou
tt

he
ir

ex
pe

ct
at

io
ns

on
an

y
Fe

d
ra

te
hi

ke
s,

an
d

th
is

is
no

w
br

oa
dl

y
an

tic
ip

at
ed

fo
rl

at
e

20
15

.

Page 135



M
ER

C
ER

E
M

E
qu

iti
es

fa
ce

a
nu

m
be

ro
fh

ea
dw

in
ds

14

W
e

m
ai

nt
ai

n
ou

rN
eu

tr
al

ra
tin

g
fo

re
m

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

te
qu

iti
es

.T
he

M
SC

IE
m

er
gi

ng
M

ar
ke

ts
in

de
x

re
tu

rn
ed

7.
4%

in
G

BP
te

rm
s

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
r(

4.
9%

in
lo

ca
lc

ur
re

nc
y)

.
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

ac
ro

ss
m

aj
or

re
gi

on
s

va
rie

d
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

r,
w

ith
La

tin
Am

er
ic

a
re

tu
rn

in
g

–4
.9

%
(1

.3
%

),
EM

EM
EA

7.
2%

(5
.7

%
)a

nd
EM

A
si

a
pe

rfo
rm

in
g

st
ro

ng
ly

w
ith

a
re

tu
rn

of
10

.6
%

(5
.7

%
)(

al
li

n
G

B
P

te
rm

s,
lo

ca
lc

ur
re

nc
y

re
tu

rn
s

in
br

ac
ke

ts
).

W
e

ex
pe

ct
U

S
do

lla
r

st
re

ng
th

to
co

nt
in

ue
to

pr
ov

id
e

a
he

ad
w

in
d

to
em

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

tg
ro

w
th

.

Pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
va

ry
co

ns
id

er
ab

ly
ac

ro
ss

co
un

tri
es

an
d

ha
s

te
nd

ed
to

re
fle

ct
in

st
an

ce
s

of
co

rre
ct

io
n

fo
ri

ni
tia

lm
ar

ke
to

ve
rre

ac
tio

n.
R

us
si

a,
fo

re
xa

m
pl

e,
fe

ll
-3

0.
1%

in
th

e
fo

ur
th

qu
ar

te
ro

f2
01

4,
bu

tr
eb

ou
nd

ed
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
ro

f2
01

5
re

tu
rn

in
g

24
.6

%
.

M
ea

nw
hi

le
,T

ur
ke

y,
w

hi
ch

re
tu

rn
ed

16
.0

%
in

Q
4

20
14

,e
xp

er
ie

nc
ed

a
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ne
ga

tiv
e

re
tu

rn
of

-1
1.

5%
ov

er
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

ro
f2

01
5

(a
ll

in
G

BP
te

rm
s)

.T
he

di
ffe

re
nc

e
be

tw
ee

n
th

e
be

st
an

d
w

or
st

pe
rfo

rm
in

g
co

un
tri

es
in

th
e

in
de

x
re

m
ai

ns
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

l,
at

ar
ou

nd
50

%
ov

er
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

ro
f2

01
5

in
G

BP
te

rm
s.

W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
ad

vo
ca

te
th

e
us

e
of

ac
tiv

e
m

an
ag

em
en

ti
n

th
is

as
se

tc
la

ss
an

d
re

m
ai

n
of

th
e

vi
ew

th
at

sk
ill

ed
m

an
ag

er
s

sh
ou

ld
be

ab
le

to
ad

d
va

lu
e

an
d

id
en

tif
y

op
po

rtu
ni

tie
s,

as
w

el
la

s
m

an
ag

e
ris

k.

Va
lu

at
io

ns
ge

ne
ra

lly
in

cr
ea

se
d

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
ra

nd
,w

hi
ls

ts
til

lg
en

er
al

ly
be

lo
w

th
ei

r
lo

ng
-te

rm
av

er
ag

es
,r

em
ai

n
at

ar
ou

nd
th

ei
rh

ig
he

st
le

ve
ls

in
ce

ea
rly

20
11

.T
he

M
SC

IE
M

In
de

x
cu

rre
nt

ly
tra

de
s

at
a

pr
ic

e/
ea

rn
in

gs
ra

tio
of

13
.7

x,
pr

ic
e/

bo
ok

ra
tio

of
1.

6x
an

d
a

pr
ic

e/
ca

sh
flo

w
ra

tio
of

8.
2x

.V
al

ua
tio

ns
ha

ve
al

so
in

cr
ea

se
d

sl
ig

ht
ly

on
a

cy
cl

ic
al

ly
-a

dj
us

te
d

ba
si

s;
em

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

ts
tra

de
at

a
P/

E
ra

tio
of

13
.1

x
(v

er
su

s
12

.9
x

at
th

e
en

d
of

la
st

qu
ar

te
r).

Ea
rn

in
gs

ha
ve

fa
lle

n
co

ns
id

er
ab

ly
ov

er
th

e
la

st
12

m
on

th
s,

w
hi

ch
ca

n
be

at
tri

bu
te

d
in

la
rg

e
pa

rt
to

th
e

en
er

gy
se

ct
or

.T
he

lo
ng

aw
ai

te
d

im
pr

ov
em

en
ti

n
EM

ea
rn

in
gs

ha
s

no
ty

et
m

at
er

ia
lis

ed
.

Lo
ok

in
g

at
m

ar
ke

tb
eh

av
io

ur
,p

ar
tic

ip
an

ts
co

nt
in

ue
to

vi
ew

em
er

gi
ng

m
ar

ke
ts

as
a

so
ur

ce
of

co
ns

id
er

ab
le

ta
il

ris
k

w
ith

in
th

e
gl

ob
al

ec
on

om
y.

Ac
co

rd
in

g
to

B
of

AM
L,

on
go

in
g

ge
op

ol
iti

ca
lc

ris
es

,C
hi

na
de

bt
de

fa
ul

ts
an

d
an

ou
tri

gh
tc

ris
is

w
ith

in
em

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

ts
ar

e
am

on
g

th
e

la
rg

es
tr

is
ks

w
hi

ch
co

nc
er

n
in

ve
st

or
s

(B
of

AM
L

G
lo

ba
lF

un
d

M
an

ag
er

S
ur

ve
y,

17
Fe

br
ua

ry
20

15
).

IM
F

he
ad

C
hr

is
tin

e
La

ga
rd

e
co

m
m

en
te

d
in

M
ar

ch
th

at
em

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

ts
ar

e
se

tt
o

fa
ce

a
re

ne
w

ed
pe

rio
d

of
ec

on
om

ic
in

st
ab

ili
ty

w
he

n
th

e
U

S
in

te
re

st
ra

te
s

ris
e,

fo
re

ca
st

in
g

a
re

pe
at

of
th

e
“ta

pe
rt

an
tru

m
”e

pi
so

de
ex

pe
rie

nc
ed

in
20

13
.O

th
er

co
m

m
en

ta
to

rs
ha

ve
be

en
eq

ua
lly

te
m

pe
re

d
an

d
ov

er
al

l,
in

ve
st

or
se

nt
im

en
tr

em
ai

ns
m

ut
ed

.S
om

e
m

ar
ke

t
pa

rti
ci

pa
nt

s
be

lie
ve

th
at

m
or

e
vo

la
til

ity
is

no
tu

nl
ik

el
y,

gi
ve

n
th

e
m

ag
ni

tu
de

of
th

e
ge

ne
ra

l
ro

ta
tio

n
ou

to
fe

m
er

gi
ng

m
ar

ke
ts

.

M
ar

ke
to

ve
rr

ea
ct

io
ns

to
m

aj
or

ev
en

ts
(b

ot
h

gl
ob

al
ly

an
d

w
ith

in
em

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

ts
)r

em
ai

n
a

ch
al

le
ng

e
bu

ta
ls

o
an

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
fo

ri
nv

es
to

rs
to

ad
d

va
lu

e,
as

id
io

sy
nc

ra
tic

st
oc

k
st

re
ng

th
s

ar
e

of
te

n
ov

er
lo

ok
ed

in
br

oa
d

se
ll

of
fs

.

Page 136



M
ER

C
ER

15

S
m

al
lc

ap
s

co
nt

in
ue

th
ei

rr
ev

iv
al

,b
ut

lo
ok

ex
pe

ns
iv

e

O
ur

vi
ew

on
sm

al
lc

ap
s

re
m

ai
ns

N
eu

tr
al

,D
iv

er
ge

nc
e

ac
ro

ss
re

gi
on

s
is

in
te

ns
ify

in
g

an
d

co
un

try
le

ve
la

na
ly

si
s

is
be

co
m

in
g

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

cr
iti

ca
l,

th
ou

gh
th

e
m

ar
ke

ti
s

st
ill

do
m

in
at

ed
to

a
la

rg
e

ex
te

nt
by

th
e

U
S.

Th
e

M
SC

IW
or

ld
Sm

al
lC

ap
in

de
x

re
tu

rn
ed

9.
8%

in
G

BP
te

rm
s

(6
.9

%
in

lo
ca

lc
ur

re
nc

y
te

rm
s)

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
r,

ou
tp

er
fo

rm
in

g
th

e
M

SC
IW

or
ld

In
de

x
by

2.
2%

.U
S

sm
al

lc
ap

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
w

as
10

.1
%

ov
er

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
ro

f2
01

5,
ec

lip
se

d
by

th
e

st
ro

ng
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

of
Ja

pa
ne

se
sm

al
lc

ap
s

w
hi

ch
ro

se
by

14
.8

%
in

G
BP

te
rm

s.
O

ve
ra

ll,
E

ur
op

ea
n

sm
al

lc
ap

s
pe

rfo
rm

ed
br

oa
dl

y
in

lin
e

w
ith

th
e

U
S

an
d

w
id

er
in

de
x,

th
ou

gh
w

ith
so

m
e

co
ns

id
er

ab
le

co
un

try
di

sp
er

si
on

w
hi

ch
sa

w
th

e
pe

rip
he

ry
(in

cl
ud

in
g

th
e

lik
es

of
S

pa
in

an
d

Po
rtu

ga
l)

ge
ne

ra
lly

ou
tp

er
fo

rm
in

g
co

re
co

un
tri

es
su

ch
as

th
e

U
K

an
d

G
er

m
an

y.

In
te

rm
s

of
va

lu
at

io
ns

,a
s

at
th

e
en

d
of

th
e

qu
ar

te
r,

th
e

M
SC

IS
m

al
lC

ap
in

de
x

st
ill

tra
de

s
at

a
pr

em
iu

m
to

th
e

M
SC

IW
or

ld
ba

se
d

on
fo

rw
ar

d
pr

ic
e/

ea
rn

in
gs

(1
9.

9x
vs

.1
6.

6x
).

Th
is

pr
em

iu
m

ha
s

in
cr

ea
se

d
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

ra
s

sm
al

lc
ap

s
ha

ve
ou

tp
er

fo
rm

ed
,b

ut
st

ill
lie

s
so

m
ew

ay
be

lo
w

th
e

le
ve

ls
ee

n
a

ye
ar

ag
o.

Tr
ai

lin
g

pr
ic

e/
ea

rn
in

gs
ra

tio
s

re
m

ai
n

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

di
ve

rs
e

ac
ro

ss
re

gi
on

s.
As

at
th

e
en

d
of

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
ro

f2
01

5,
th

e
tra

ili
ng

P
E

ra
tio

in
th

e
U

S,
w

hi
ch

ac
co

un
ts

fo
rc

.6
0%

of
th

e
in

de
x,

de
cr

ea
se

d
m

ar
gi

na
lly

to
29

.2
x

as
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

in
th

e
U

S
la

gg
ed

a
nu

m
be

ro
ft

he
ot

he
rm

aj
or

co
un

try
co

ns
tit

ue
nt

s
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

r.
M

ea
nw

hi
le

,t
he

tra
ili

ng
PE

in
Ja

pa
n

(1
0%

of
th

e
m

ar
ke

tc
ap

)i
nc

re
as

ed
fro

m
17

.5
x

to
18

.4
x

af
te

ra
st

ro
ng

qu
ar

te
r.

Lo
ok

in
g

at
Eu

ro
pe

an
sm

al
lc

ap
s

w
hi

ch
ac

co
un

tf
or

c.
20

%
of

th
e

in
de

x
in

to
ta

l,
P

E
ra

tio
s

ge
ne

ra
lly

ro
se

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
r-

pa
rti

cu
la

rly
ac

ro
ss

pe
rip

he
ra

lE
ur

op
e,

w
hi

ls
ti

nc
re

as
es

w
er

e
le

ss
pr

on
ou

nc
ed

in
th

e
co

re
.

Lo
ok

in
g

at
m

ar
ke

tb
eh

av
io

ur
,

20
14

sa
w

sm
al

lc
ap

s
ge

ne
ra

lly
un

de
rp

er
fo

rm
th

ei
rl

ar
ge

ca
p

co
un

te
rp

ar
ts

.S
om

e
co

m
m

en
ta

to
rs

ha
ve

su
gg

es
te

d
th

at
20

15
w

ill
br

in
g

be
tte

rr
el

at
iv

e
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

fo
rs

m
al

la
nd

m
id

-c
ap

s,
pa

rti
cu

la
rly

in
th

e
U

S,
as

th
e

U
S

do
lla

rs
tre

ng
th

di
sp

ro
po

rti
on

at
el

y
hi

nd
er

s
la

rg
e

m
ul

tin
at

io
na

lc
om

pa
ny

ea
rn

in
gs

du
e

to
th

ei
ro

ve
rs

ea
s

re
ve

nu
e

st
re

am
s.

In
de

ed
th

is
ha

s
be

en
th

e
ca

se
ye

ar
to

da
te

.I
nc

re
as

ed
M

&A
ac

tiv
ity

m
ay

al
so

be
ne

fit
th

e
va

lu
at

io
n

of
m

id
-c

ap
co

m
pa

ni
es

in
pa

rti
cu

la
r.

In
th

e
U

S,
sm

al
lc

ap
s

fa
ce

co
ns

id
er

ab
le

cy
cl

ic
al

he
ad

w
in

ds
.T

ig
ht

er
fin

an
ci

al
co

nd
iti

on
s,

w
hi

ch
ha

d
pr

ev
io

us
ly

be
en

su
pp

or
tiv

e
fo

rs
m

al
lc

ap
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

,a
re

lik
el

y
to

w
ei

gh
on

in
ve

st
or

se
nt

im
en

t.
O

n
th

e
ot

he
rh

an
d,

lo
w

er
oi

lp
ric

es
sh

ou
ld

be
be

ne
fic

ia
la

nd
as

th
e

U
S

eq
ui

ty
bu

ll
m

ar
ke

tm
at

ur
es

,h
ig

h-
qu

al
ity

sm
al

le
rc

om
pa

ni
es

sh
ou

ld
pr

ov
id

e
ex

po
su

re
to

ac
ce

le
ra

tin
g

do
m

es
tic

ec
on

om
ic

gr
ow

th
.

Sm
al

lc
ap

s
lo

ok
ex

pe
ns

iv
e

re
la

tiv
e

to
hi

st
or

y…

…
an

d
co

nt
in

ue
to

tra
de

at
a

pr
em

iu
m

re
la

tiv
e

to
m

id
an

d
la

rg
e

ca
p

st
oc

ks
.

Page 137



M
ER

C
ER

M
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

ou
rn

eu
tra

lr
at

in
g

on
gl

ob
al

lo
w

vo
la

til
ity

eq
ui

tie
s

16

Th
er

e
a

nu
m

be
ro

fa
pp

ro
ac

he
s

to
m

an
ag

in
g

lo
w

vo
la

til
ity

po
rtf

ol
io

s.
W

e
as

si
gn

tw
o

su
b-

ca
te

go
rie

s
to

th
is

se
gm

en
t:

m
in

im
um

va
ria

nc
e

an
d

qu
al

ity
.R

et
ur

ns
be

tw
ee

n
th

es
e

di
ffe

re
nt

ap
pr

oa
ch

es
w

ill
va

ry
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ly
at

tim
es

.T
he

ke
y

id
ea

be
hi

nd
th

es
e

ty
pe

s
of

m
an

da
te

s
is

th
at

th
ey

sh
ou

ld
ha

ve
so

m
e

co
un

te
r-c

yc
lic

al
te

nd
en

ci
es

an
d

w
ill

of
te

n
be

lo
w

er
be

ta
th

an
th

e
ge

ne
ra

le
qu

ity
m

ar
ke

t.
In

pe
rio

ds
of

st
ro

ng
eq

ui
ty

m
ar

ke
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
w

e
w

ou
ld

ex
pe

ct
lo

w
vo

la
til

ity
st

ra
te

gi
es

to
la

g
th

e
w

id
er

m
ar

ke
tc

ap
ap

pr
oa

ch
es

bu
tw

ou
ld

ex
pe

ct
th

es
e

st
ra

te
gi

es
to

ou
tp

er
fo

rm
th

e
w

id
er

m
ar

ke
td

ur
in

g
fa

lli
ng

m
ar

ke
ts

.W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
ra

te
lo

w
vo

la
til

ity
eq

ui
tie

s
as

ne
ut

ra
l.

Th
e

M
in

im
um

Vo
la

til
ity

an
d

Q
ua

lit
y

in
di

ce
s

re
tu

rn
ed

9.
2%

an
d

7.
2%

in
to

ta
lr

et
ur

n
G

B
P

te
rm

s
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

r(
5.

3%
an

d
3.

4%
in

lo
ca

lc
ur

re
nc

y
te

rm
s)

,o
ut

pe
rfo

rm
in

g
th

e
M

SC
I

W
or

ld
by

1.
6%

an
d

un
de

rp
er

fo
rm

in
g

th
e

M
SC

IW
or

ld
by

0.
4%

bo
th

in
G

BP
te

rm
s.

Lo
ok

in
g

at
va

lu
at

io
ns

,l
ow

vo
la

til
ity

st
oc

ks
re

m
ai

n
re

la
tiv

el
y

ex
pe

ns
iv

e,
bu

tw
e

th
in

k
th

at
hi

gh
er

pr
ic

e
m

ul
tip

le
s

ar
e

ju
st

ifi
ed

by
th

ei
rd

ef
en

si
ve

na
tu

re
.O

n
a

va
lu

at
io

n
ba

si
s,

w
e

be
lie

ve
th

at
st

oc
ks

w
ith

a
hi

gh
er

ex
po

su
re

to
ec

on
om

ic
gr

ow
th

st
ill

ha
ve

m
or

e
up

si
de

po
te

nt
ia

lt
ha

n
de

fe
ns

iv
e

st
oc

ks
at

th
is

st
ag

e.

Th
e

M
in

im
um

Vo
la

til
ity

in
de

x
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
lo

ok
ex

pe
ns

iv
e

re
la

tiv
e

to
th

e
M

SC
IW

or
ld

in
de

x,
w

ith
pr

ic
e/

bo
ok

of
2.

8x
vs

.2
.3

x,
pr

ic
e/

ca
sh

-fl
ow

of
13

.8
x

vs
.1

1.
3x

an
d

tra
ili

ng
pr

ic
e/

ea
rn

in
gs

of
22

.2
x

vs
.1

9.
3x

re
la

tiv
e

to
th

e
m

ar
ke

tc
ap

in
de

x.
Th

es
e

m
ea

su
re

s
ge

ne
ra

lly
in

cr
ea

se
d

m
ar

gi
na

lly
in

re
la

tiv
e

te
rm

s
ov

er
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

r.

Va
lu

at
io

ns
fo

rt
he

Q
ua

lit
y

in
de

x
al

so
re

m
ai

ne
d

on
th

ei
ru

pw
ar

d
tre

nd
.O

ve
rt

he
qu

ar
te

r,
tra

ili
ng

pr
ic

e/
ea

rn
in

gs
in

cr
ea

se
d

to
19

.2
x,

th
ou

gh
no

w
tra

de
s

at
a

m
ar

gi
na

ld
is

co
un

tt
o

th
e

M
SC

IW
or

ld
P/

E
of

19
.3

x.
Pr

ic
e/

ca
sh

-fl
ow

in
cr

ea
se

d
m

ar
gi

na
lly

fro
m

14
.3

x
to

14
.5

x,
an

d
re

m
ai

ns
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ly
ab

ov
e

th
e

M
SC

IW
or

ld
at

11
.3

x.
P

ric
e/

bo
ok

in
cr

ea
se

d
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

rf
ro

m
5.

0x
to

5.
2x

.

W
e

ex
pe

ct
to

se
e

lo
w

vo
la

til
ity

eq
ui

tie
s

st
ar

tin
g

to
lo

ok
m

or
e

at
tra

ct
iv

e
on

a
re

la
tiv

e
ba

si
s

as
w

e
en

te
rt

he
la

te
rs

ta
ge

s
of

th
e

eq
ui

ty
m

ar
ke

tc
yc

le
an

d
it

be
co

m
es

m
or

e
di

ffi
cu

lt
to

fin
d

po
ck

et
s

of
va

lu
e.

In
de

ed
w

e
sa

w
lo

w
vo

la
til

ity
eq

ui
tie

s
fa

re
w

el
lt

ow
ar

ds
th

e
en

d
of

20
14

as
vo

la
til

ity
sp

ik
ed

am
id

st
th

e
sh

ar
p

de
cl

in
e

in
th

e
oi

lp
ric

e.

W
e

no
te

al
so

th
at

th
er

e
sh

ou
ld

be
po

te
nt

ia
lf

or
ac

tiv
e

ap
pr

oa
ch

es
to

in
co

rp
or

at
e

va
lu

at
io

n
in

to
th

e
st

oc
k

se
le

ct
io

n
pr

oc
es

s,
w

hi
ch

sh
ou

ld
he

lp
le

ss
en

th
e

ex
po

su
re

to
ar

ea
s

of
th

e
m

ar
ke

tt
ha

tb
ec

om
e

ex
pe

ns
iv

e.

Page 138



M
ER

C
ER

G
lo

ba
lY

ie
ld

s
m

ov
ed

lo
w

er
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

es
pe

ci
al

ly
in

E
ur

op
e,

du
e

to
th

e
co

m
m

en
ce

m
en

to
fQ

E
by

th
e

E
C

B
an

d
du

e
to

so
fte

re
co

no
m

ic
da

ta
in

th
e

U
S

.
H

ow
ev

er
,t

he
re

w
as

a
de

gr
ee

of
vo

la
til

ity
du

rin
g

th
e

qu
ar

te
r,

w
ith

U
S

an
d

U
K

yi
el

ds
ris

in
g

c.
50

/6
0b

ps
in

Fe
br

ua
ry

.N
eg

at
iv

e
yi

el
ds

no
w

pr
ev

ai
la

tt
he

sh
or

te
r-e

nd
of

m
an

y
co

re
G

ov
er

nm
en

tb
on

d
m

ar
ke

ts
,w

ith
th

e
G

er
m

an
cu

rv
e

be
in

g
ne

ga
tiv

e
ou

tt
o

8
ye

ar
s.

In
te

re
st

in
gl

y,
th

er
e

ha
s

be
en

an
in

cr
ea

se
d

le
ve

lo
fm

ar
ke

tc
om

m
en

ta
ry

se
ek

in
g

to
ex

pl
ai

n/
ju

st
ify

/’n
or

m
al

is
e’

ne
ga

tiv
e

yi
el

ds
-m

ig
ht

th
is

m
ar

k
so

m
e

fo
rm

of
co

nt
ra

ria
n

si
gn

al
?

G
lo

ba
ls

ov
er

ei
gn

bo
nd

s
re

m
ai

n
ex

pe
ns

iv
e,

al
th

ou
gh

a
tw

o-
to

ne
de

ve
lo

pe
d

m
ar

ke
t

fu
nd

am
en

ta
lo

ut
lo

ok
pe

rs
is

ts
.U

S
an

d
U

K
gr

ow
th

an
d

re
du

ce
d

m
on

et
ar

y
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n
co

nt
ra

st
s

w
ith

th
e

si
tu

at
io

n
in

th
e

Eu
ro

zo
ne

an
d

Ja
pa

n.
In

ve
st

m
en

t
m

an
ag

er
s

co
nt

in
ue

to
un

de
rw

ei
gh

tg
lo

ba
lb

on
ds

on
an

ag
gr

eg
at

e
ba

si
s,

w
hi

ls
t

nu
an

ce
d

de
m

an
d

fro
m

th
e

LD
If

ra
te

rn
ity

re
m

ai
ns

st
ro

ng
in

th
e

U
K.

W
e

re
ta

in
ou

r
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
ra

tin
gs

fo
rg

ilt
s

an
d

ou
rE

xt
re

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
ra

tin
g

fo
rc

or
e

Eu
ro

zo
ne

bo
nd

s.

In
te

rm
s

of
Va

lu
at

io
n,

Eu
ro

pe
an

so
ve

re
ig

n
bo

nd
s

co
nt

in
ue

to
lo

ok
ex

pe
ns

iv
e

on
tra

di
tio

na
lv

al
ua

tio
n

m
ea

su
re

s,
bu

tt
he

se
ha

ve
le

ss
re

le
va

nc
e

as
lo

ng
as

m
ar

ke
ts

ar
e

dr
iv

en
by

un
co

nv
en

tio
na

lm
on

et
ar

y
po

lic
y.

W
e

ha
ve

pr
ev

io
us

ly
re

fe
re

nc
ed

a
ro

ug
h

fa
ir

va
lu

e
yi

el
d

ca
lc

ul
at

io
n

fo
rG

ov
er

nm
en

tb
on

ds
of

“lo
ng

-te
rm

in
fla

tio
n

pl
us

2%
”.

Fo
r

m
ar

ke
ts

su
ch

as
th

e
U

S
an

d
th

e
U

K,
th

is
gi

ve
s

an
sw

er
s

in
th

e
re

gi
on

of
4%

pl
us

.W
e

ha
d

co
m

m
en

te
d

th
at

su
b

3%
yi

el
ds

lo
ok

ed
ric

h
in

co
m

pa
ris

on
,a

nd
cl

ea
rly

su
b-

2%
yi

el
ds

no
w

lo
ok

ev
en

ric
he

r.
U

si
ng

th
is

m
ea

su
re

10
-y

ry
ie

ld
s

in
G

er
m

an
y

at
c.

0.
1%

lo
ok

ev
en

m
or

e
ex

pe
ns

iv
e.

H
ow

ev
er

,a
s

lo
ng

as
ce

nt
ra

lb
an

ks
co

nt
in

ue
to

op
er

at
e

th
es

e
un

co
nv

en
tio

na
lm

et
ho

ds
w

e
ar

e
un

lik
el

y
to

se
e

a
hu

ge
re

ve
rs

al
in

yi
el

d
m

ov
em

en
ts

.

In
te

rm
s

of
M

ac
ro

/C
yc

lic
al

fa
ct

or
s,

th
e

bi
g

pi
ct

ur
e

vi
ew

is
th

at
ec

on
om

ic
re

co
ve

ry
an

d
gl

ob
al

he
al

in
g

re
m

ai
ns

in
pl

ac
e.

H
ow

ev
er

,t
he

fir
st

qu
ar

te
rh

as
no

tb
ee

n
as

st
ro

ng
as

m
ig

ht
ha

ve
be

en
ex

pe
ct

ed
,g

iv
en

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

lb
oo

st
fro

m
th

e
sh

ar
p

de
cl

in
e

in
th

e
oi

l
pr

ic
e

in
la

te
20

14
.F

or
ex

am
pl

e,
th

e
U

S
ec

on
om

y
w

as
w

ea
ke

rt
ha

n
ex

pe
ct

ed
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r;

so
m

e
of

th
is

w
ea

kn
es

s
is

du
e

to
ad

ve
rs

e
w

ea
th

er
,a

nd
to

th
e

w
es

tc
oa

st
po

rt
st

rik
e.

H
ow

ev
er

,t
he

U
S

la
bo

ur
m

ar
ke

th
as

re
m

ai
ne

d
ve

ry
st

ro
ng

.T
he

$
ris

e
ha

s
al

so
be

en
a

fa
ct

or
fo

rt
he

U
S,

w
hi

le
bo

os
tin

g
th

e
Eu

ro
zo

ne
ec

on
om

y.
In

th
e

E
ur

oz
on

e
ec

on
om

y
th

er
e

ha
s

be
en

a
bo

os
tf

ro
m

th
e

w
ea

k
Eu

ro
,b

ut
al

so
cr

ed
it

gr
ow

th
is

tu
rn

in
g

up
–

th
is

is
cr

iti
ca

lly
im

po
rta

nt
.O

n
ba

la
nc

e,
th

e
m

ac
ro

en
vi

ro
nm

en
tw

ou
ld

po
in

tt
o

ris
in

g
bo

nd
yi

el
ds

ov
er

tim
e.

17

G
ov

er
nm

en
tb

on
ds

-E
ur

op
ea

n
Q

E
br

in
gs

yi
el

ds
lo

w
er

In
te

rm
s

of
M

ar
ke

tB
eh

av
io

ur
fa

ct
or

s,
th

e
m

ai
n

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ti

n
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

ro
f

20
15

w
as

th
at

th
e

EC
B

an
no

un
ce

d
de

ta
ils

of
th

ei
rQ

E
pr

og
ra

m
m

e
in

Ja
nu

ar
y,

w
hi

ch
in

vo
lv

es
bu

yi
ng

€6
0

bi
lli

on
pe

rm
on

th
of

E
ur

oz
on

e
bo

nd
s

(m
os

tly
go

ve
rn

m
en

tb
on

ds
)

fro
m

M
ar

ch
20

15
th

ro
ug

h
to

Se
pt

em
be

r2
01

6,
or

ea
rli

er
if

in
fla

tio
n

ca
n

be
br

ou
gh

t
ba

ck
up

to
th

e
2%

le
ve

l.
Th

e
pr

im
ar

y
ai

m
of

th
is

in
iti

at
iv

e
is

to
im

pr
ov

e
Eu

ro
zo

ne
in

fla
tio

n
dy

na
m

ic
s

by
su

pp
or

tin
g

ec
on

om
ic

de
m

an
d

an
d

cr
ed

it
le

nd
in

g.

Th
e

si
ze

of
th

e
Q

E
pr

og
ra

m
m

e
w

as
la

rg
er

th
an

ha
d

be
en

an
tic

ip
at

ed
by

m
ar

ke
ts

.
To

pl
ac

e
th

e
Q

E
pr

og
ra

m
m

e
in

co
nt

ex
t,

ov
er

al
lE

ur
o

G
ov

er
nm

en
tb

on
d

m
ar

ke
t

m
on

th
ly

is
su

an
ce

is
c.

€7
5b

n.
H

ow
ev

er
,m

on
th

ly
is

su
an

ce
po

st
re

de
m

pt
io

ns
an

d
co

up
on

pa
ym

en
ts

is
m

er
el

y
c.

€5
bn

.H
en

ce
re

la
tiv

el
y

sp
ea

ki
ng

,t
he

Q
E

pr
og

ra
m

m
e

is
en

or
m

ou
s,

an
d

pr
ov

id
es

a
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

l‘a
nc

ho
r’

fo
rE

ur
op

ea
n

m
ar

ke
ts

.1
0-

ye
ar

bo
nd

s
of

pe
rip

he
ra

lc
ou

nt
rie

s
su

ch
as

Ita
ly

an
d

Sp
ai

n
no

w
tra

de
c.

1.
25

%
.I

nt
er

es
tin

gl
y

th
e

EC
B

ha
ve

al
so

se
ta

yi
el

d
flo

or
of

ne
ga

tiv
e

0.
25

%
on

th
ei

rp
ur

ch
as

es
.

M
or

e
ge

ne
ra

lly
,g

eo
po

lit
ic

al
tu

rb
ul

en
ce

ap
pe

ar
s

to
ha

ve
ea

se
d

an
d

sa
fe

-h
av

en
de

m
an

d
se

em
s

to
be

le
ss

of
a

fa
ct

or
in

m
ar

ke
ts

at
pr

es
en

t.
In

ve
st

m
en

tm
an

ag
er

s
co

nt
in

ue
to

be
un

de
rw

ei
gh

tg
lo

ba
lb

on
ds

on
av

er
ag

e.

10
ye

ar
yi

el
ds

:U
S,

U
K

an
d

G
er

m
an

y

Page 139



M
ER

C
ER

C
re

di
ty

ie
ld

s
co

nt
in

ue
to

tra
de

at
lo

w
le

ve
ls

an
d

pr
os

pe
ct

iv
e

re
tu

rn
s

ar
e

lim
ite

d.
W

e
re

ta
in

ou
rU

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
vi

ew
fo

rS
te

rli
ng

in
ve

st
m

en
tg

ra
de

cr
ed

it
an

d
ou

rE
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

ra
tin

g
fo

rE
ur

o
in

ve
st

m
en

tg
ra

de
cr

ed
it

w
he

re
sp

re
ad

s
ar

e
tra

di
ng

at
tig

ht
er

le
ve

ls
du

e
to

th
e

im
pa

ct
of

th
e

EC
B’

s
qu

an
tit

at
iv

e
ea

si
ng

po
lic

y.

In
te

rm
s

of
Va

lu
at

io
n

fa
ct

or
s,

w
e

no
te

th
at

O
AS

le
ve

ls
ar

e
no

ta
te

xt
re

m
e

lo
w

s.
Th

er
e

ap
pe

ar
s

to
be

le
ss

di
ve

rg
en

ce
in

re
gi

on
al

sp
re

ad
s

th
an

pr
ev

io
us

qu
ar

te
rs

.I
ts

ho
ul

d
be

no
te

d
th

at
Eu

ro
pe

an
sp

re
ad

s
w

id
en

ed
sh

ar
pl

y
in

m
id

-M
ar

ch
.H

ow
ev

er
,t

hi
s

w
as

la
rg

el
y

at
tri

bu
ta

bl
e

to
an

ad
ju

st
m

en
ti

n
th

e
in

de
x

m
et

ho
do

lo
gy

,w
hi

ch
ca

m
e

in
to

ef
fe

ct
fro

m
13

M
ar

ch
,w

hi
ch

in
vo

lv
ed

in
cl

ud
in

g
ne

ga
tiv

e
ra

te
s

to
co

ns
tru

ct
th

e
Eu

ro
pe

an
go

ve
rn

m
en

t
cu

rv
e.

In
te

rm
s

of
M

ac
ro

/c
yc

lic
al

fa
ct

or
s,

th
e

ou
tlo

ok
fo

rt
he

gl
ob

al
ec

on
om

y
is

br
oa

dl
y

po
si

tiv
e

in
pa

rt
re

fle
ct

in
g

a
bo

os
tf

ro
m

th
e

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lf

al
li

n
oi

lp
ric

es
to

w
ar

ds
th

e
en

d
of

20
14

.I
nv

es
tm

en
tg

ra
de

co
rp

or
at

es
re

m
ai

n
ca

sh
ric

h,
an

d
in

th
e

ab
se

nc
e

of
ec

on
om

ic
gr

ow
th

th
er

e
ha

s
be

en
lit

tle
in

ce
nt

iv
e

to
in

cr
ea

se
sp

en
di

ng
.T

he
di

si
nf

la
tio

na
ry

en
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

ls
o

w
ill

ha
ve

co
nt

rib
ut

ed
to

hi
gh

le
ve

ls
of

ca
sh

ho
ar

di
ng

.T
hi

s
is

bo
nd

ho
ld

er
po

si
tiv

e
an

d
de

fa
ul

ts
ap

pe
ar

to
re

m
ai

n
lo

w
.D

el
ev

er
ag

in
g,

ca
pi

ta
lr

eb
ui

ld
in

g
an

d
re

gu
la

to
ry

co
ns

tra
in

ti
n

th
e

fin
an

ci
al

se
ct

or
pr

ov
id

es
a

po
si

tiv
e

ba
ck

dr
op

fo
r

in
ve

st
m

en
tg

ra
de

bo
nd

ho
ld

er
s.

Th
e

cr
ed

it
cy

cl
e

do
es

no
tl

oo
k

as
if

it
ha

s
pe

ak
ed

,h
ow

ev
er

at
a

m
or

e
m

at
ur

e
st

ag
e

w
e

m
ig

ht
ex

pe
ct

sm
al

le
re

xc
es

s
re

tu
rn

s
fro

m
cr

ed
it.

C
om

pa
ni

es
m

ay
be

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

de
pe

nd
en

to
n

fin
an

ci
al

en
gi

ne
er

in
g

(s
to

ck
bu

yb
ac

ks
/h

ig
he

rd
iv

id
en

ds
)o

rM
&A

to
gr

ow
ea

rn
in

gs
pe

rs
ha

re
.A

s
le

ve
ra

ge
in

cr
ea

se
s,

w
e

m
ig

ht
ex

pe
ct

m
or

e
vo

la
til

ity
in

eq
ui

ty
an

d
cr

ed
it

m
ar

ke
ts

go
in

g
fo

rw
ar

ds
.

In
te

rm
s

of
M

ar
ke

tB
eh

av
io

ur
fa

ct
or

s,
in

ve
st

or
s

ar
e

st
ill

w
ar

y
of

fig
ht

in
g

ce
nt

ra
lb

an
k

po
lic

ie
s

an
d

th
e

se
ar

ch
fo

ry
ie

ld
co

nt
in

ue
s.

H
ow

ev
er

,t
he

“h
er

d”
be

ha
vi

ou
ri

s
in

cr
ea

si
ng

ly
a

ris
k

in
its

el
f.

W
e

ar
e

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

co
nc

er
ne

d
ab

ou
tr

is
k-

of
fe

ve
nt

s
gi

ve
n

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

lf
or

po
or

liq
ui

di
ty

in
a

se
ll-

of
f.

W
e

ar
e

st
ill

co
ns

ci
ou

s
th

at
“n

on
-c

re
di

t”
m

ar
ke

t
m

ov
es

ar
e

ex
pl

ai
ni

ng
m

uc
h

of
th

e
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

in
cr

ed
it

m
ar

ke
ts

–
w

ith
m

uc
h

of
th

e
re

tu
rn

be
in

g
dr

iv
en

by
th

e
ra

te
co

m
po

ne
nt

.

C
en

tra
lB

an
k

bu
yi

ng
in

Eu
ro

pe
sh

ou
ld

su
pp

or
tc

re
di

tm
ar

ke
ts

.T
he

pu
rc

ha
se

s
m

ai
nl

y
ta

rg
et

so
ve

re
ig

n
bo

nd
s,

su
pr

an
at

io
na

lb
on

ds
,A

BS
an

d
co

ve
re

d
bo

nd
s,

ho
w

ev
er

in
ve

st
or

s
se

ek
in

g
in

ve
st

m
en

tg
ra

de
as

se
ts

ar
e

lik
el

y
to

be
co

nt
in

ua
lly

fo
rc

ed
in

to
in

ve
st

m
en

tg
ra

de
cr

ed
it.

H
ow

ev
er

,c
or

po
ra

te
bo

nd
is

su
an

ce
is

st
ro

ng
,w

ith
re

co
rd

br
ea

ki
ng

is
su

an
ce

in
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

ro
f2

01
5

in
bo

th
E

ur
o

an
d

U
S

D
no

n-
fin

an
ci

al
m

ar
ke

t
(e

xc
lu

di
ng

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
ro

f2
00

9)
,a

nd
al

so
U

SD
fin

an
ci

al
s.

A
la

rg
e

pr
op

or
tio

n
of

Eu
ro

is
su

an
ce

ca
m

e
fro

m
no

n-
eu

ro
ar

ea
is

su
er

s.

18

R
ec

en
tY

ie
ld

Tr
ad

in
g

R
an

ge

Li
m

ite
d

re
tu

rn
s

fro
m

In
ve

st
m

en
tg

ra
de

cr
ed

it

Page 140



M
ER

C
ER

O
ut

lo
ok

fo
rH

ig
h

Yi
el

d
bo

nd
s

re
m

ai
ns

ne
ut

ra
lw

ith
st

ab
le

de
fa

ul
to

ut
lo

ok

19

O
n

ba
la

nc
e,

w
e

be
lie

ve
th

at
cu

rr
en

ty
ie

ld
s

ar
e

be
gi

nn
in

g
to

lo
ok

re
la

tiv
el

y
ch

ea
p

to
go

ve
rn

m
en

tc
ou

nt
er

pa
rts

as
ca

n
be

se
en

in
th

e
se

co
nd

ch
ar

t.
W

ith
re

la
tiv

el
y

m
ut

ed
re

fin
an

ci
ng

ris
k

an
d

a
lo

w
de

fa
ul

tr
at

e,
co

nd
iti

on
s

ar
e

su
pp

or
tiv

e
fo

ri
ns

tit
ut

io
na

l
in

ve
st

or
s

to
ta

ke
ad

va
nt

ag
e

of
th

e
su

pp
ly

/d
em

an
d

im
ba

la
nc

e,
pa

rti
cu

la
rly

in
U

S
hi

gh
yi

el
d

m
ar

ke
ts

.T
he

w
ild

ca
rd

,h
ow

ev
er

,i
s

th
e

en
er

gy
se

ct
or

.W
hi

le
a

de
cl

in
e

in
oi

lp
ric

es
sh

ou
ld

be
po

si
tiv

e
fo

rc
on

su
m

er
s,

it
is

ne
ga

tiv
e

fo
rm

an
y

en
er

gy
co

m
pa

ni
es

,w
hi

ch
m

ay
ne

ed
to

co
ns

id
er

as
se

ts
al

es
or

ot
he

rf
or

m
s

of
ba

la
nc

e
sh

ee
tr

es
tru

ct
ur

in
g

to
ad

dr
es

s
de

cl
in

in
g

ca
sh

flo
w

.

Th
er

e
w

as
so

m
e

so
lid

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
in

hi
gh

yi
el

d
m

ar
ke

ts
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r.

A
bs

en
ta

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
ex

po
su

re
to

en
er

gy
,E

ur
op

ea
n

hi
gh

yi
el

d
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
be

ne
fit

fro
m

a
st

ro
ng

te
ch

ni
ca

lb
id

.O
n

th
e

gr
ou

nd
s

of
a

de
cl

in
in

g
Eu

ro
re

la
tiv

e
to

th
e

U
S

do
lla

ra
nd

so
m

e
ot

he
rc

ur
re

nc
ie

s,
th

e
re

ce
nt

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
lo

ok
s

be
st

in
lo

ca
lc

ur
re

nc
y

te
rm

s.
In

Va
lu

at
io

n
te

rm
s,

th
e

Eu
ro

pe
an

hi
gh

yi
el

d
m

ar
ke

ts
yi

el
d

6.
2%

co
m

pa
re

d
to

U
S

hi
gh

yi
el

d
m

ar
ke

ts
w

hi
ch

yi
el

d
3.

9%
(w

ith
sp

re
ad

s
ar

ou
nd

40
0b

ps
in

bo
th

m
ar

ke
ts

).
As

ha
s

be
en

tru
e

fo
rs

om
e

tim
e,

sp
re

ad
s

of
fe

rm
ea

ni
ng

fu
lc

ov
er

ag
e

ag
ai

ns
tl

on
g-

te
rm

av
er

ag
e

hi
gh

yi
el

d
de

fa
ul

tr
at

es
.

Pr
of

it
m

ar
gi

ns
co

nt
in

ue
to

be
st

ro
ng

fo
rt

he
va

st
m

aj
or

ity
of

is
su

er
s

(e
x-

en
er

gy
se

ct
or

),
an

d
th

e
“w

al
lo

fm
at

ur
iti

es
”i

s
no

lo
ng

er
th

e
th

re
at

th
at

it
w

as
ov

er
th

e
la

st
se

ve
ra

ly
ea

rs
as

m
an

y
C

FO
s

to
ok

ad
va

nt
ag

e
of

fro
th

y
cr

ed
it

m
ar

ke
ts

to
re

fin
an

ce
an

d
ex

te
nd

(o
r

te
rm

-o
ut

)l
oo

m
in

g
m

at
ur

iti
es

.T
he

hi
gh

yi
el

d
m

ar
ke

th
as

ex
hi

bi
te

d
so

m
e

de
te

rio
ra

tio
n

in
fu

nd
am

en
ta

ls
ov

er
th

e
la

st
ye

ar
,w

ith
le

ve
ra

ge
ra

tio
s

ge
ne

ra
lly

in
cr

ea
si

ng
.T

hi
s

ha
s

le
d

to
hi

gh
er

vo
la

til
ity

in
so

m
e

na
m

es
,s

o
na

tu
ra

lly
,i

ss
ue

se
le

ct
io

n
is

pa
ra

m
ou

nt
.T

he
de

te
rio

ra
tio

n
is

–
ag

ai
n

–
m

os
tp

ro
no

un
ce

d
in

th
e

U
S

en
er

gy
se

ct
or

.R
eg

ar
dl

es
s,

U
S

de
fa

ul
tr

at
es

do
no

ta
pp

ea
rt

o
be

ac
ce

le
ra

tin
g.

In
re

la
tio

n
to

m
ac

ro
/c

yc
lic

al
fa

ct
or

s,
an

y
m

ac
ro

is
su

e
th

at
af

fe
ct

s
in

ve
st

or
ap

pe
tit

e
to

w
ar

d
ris

k
w

ill
ha

ve
so

m
e

im
pa

ct
on

th
e

de
m

an
d

fo
rh

ig
h

yi
el

d
cr

ed
it,

re
ga

rd
le

ss
of

re
gi

on
.R

ec
en

tly
,i

ns
ta

bi
lit

y
in

Eu
ro

pe
as

w
el

la
s

th
e

on
go

in
g

co
nf

lic
tb

et
w

ee
n

R
us

si
a

an
d

th
e

U
kr

ai
ne

ha
s

ne
ga

tiv
el

y
af

fe
ct

ed
sp

re
ad

se
ct

or
s

su
ch

as
hi

gh
yi

el
d.

G
eo

po
lit

ic
al

co
nc

er
ns

ca
n

le
ad

to
‘s

af
e

ha
ve

n’
de

m
an

d
fo

rf
ix

ed
in

co
m

e
bu

ta
ls

o
ca

n
ad

ve
rs

el
y

im
pa

ct
hi

gh
er

yi
el

di
ng

se
ct

or
s.

Page 141



M
ER

C
ER

20

O
ut

lo
ok

fo
rH

ig
h

Yi
el

d
bo

nd
s

re
m

ai
ns

ne
ut

ra
lw

ith
st

ab
le

de
fa

ul
to

ut
lo

ok
(c

on
t’d

)

In
te

rm
s

of
M

ar
ke

tB
eh

av
io

ur
,i

nv
es

to
rs

in
th

e
U

S
w

ith
dr

ew
ap

pr
ox

im
at

el
y

$2
3.

8b
n

fro
m

le
ve

ra
ge

d
cr

ed
it

m
ut

ua
lf

un
ds

in
20

14
.H

ow
ev

er
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
ro

f2
01

5,
th

er
e

ha
ve

be
en

ap
pr

ox
im

at
el

y
$1

0
bi

lli
on

of
ne

ti
nf

lo
w

s
to

U
S

hi
gh

yi
el

d
m

ut
ua

lf
un

ds
.T

ec
hn

ic
al

su
pp

or
tf

or
th

e
as

se
tc

la
ss

ha
s

be
en

st
ro

ng
in

E
ur

op
e

as
w

el
l,

w
ith

ne
ar

ly
th

e
sa

m
e

le
ve

l
of

ne
ti

nf
lo

w
s

ye
ar

to
da

te
.

Page 142



M
ER

C
ER

FX
w

ea
kn

es
s

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

dr
iv

e
E

M
D

m
ar

ke
ts

21

C
on

di
tio

ns
co

nt
in

ue
to

be
di

ffi
cu

lt
fo

rE
m

er
gi

ng
M

ar
ke

tl
oc

al
cu

rr
en

cy
bo

nd
s.

As
w

as
th

e
ca

se
in

20
14

,t
he

m
ut

ed
le

ve
lo

fr
et

ur
ns

w
as

pr
ed

om
in

an
tly

du
e

to
w

ea
kn

es
s

in
E

m
er

gi
ng

M
ar

ke
tc

ur
re

nc
ie

s
in

do
lla

rt
er

m
s,

w
hi

ch
in

tu
rn

is
pa

rtl
y

du
e

to
D

ol
la

rs
tre

ng
th

.M
os

tE
M

D
is

su
er

cu
rr

en
ci

es
w

er
e

do
w

n
3%

to
10

%
ve

rs
us

U
SD

ov
er

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

w
ith

th
e

Br
az

ili
an

R
ea

lf
al

lin
g

17
%

ag
ai

ns
tt

he
D

ol
la

r.

Th
er

e
w

as
so

m
e

im
pr

ov
em

en
ti

n
m

ar
ke

ts
en

tim
en

td
ur

in
g

th
e

qu
ar

te
rg

iv
en

su
pp

or
tiv

e
gl

ob
al

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ts

in
cl

ud
in

g
th

e
in

te
rim

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
G

re
ec

e
an

d
he

rb
ai

lo
ut

cr
ed

ito
rs

,a
s

w
el

la
s

th
e

do
vi

sh
to

ne
in

Fe
de

ra
lR

es
er

ve
C

ha
ir

Ja
ne

tY
el

le
n’

s
se

m
i-a

nn
ua

l
te

st
im

on
y

to
C

on
gr

es
s.

Fo
rt

he
fir

st
tim

e
in

ov
er

ha
lf

a
ye

ar
,o

il
pr

ic
es

re
bo

un
de

d
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ly
,u

p
18

%
in

Fe
br

ua
ry

(B
re

nt
O

il)
.T

hi
s

co
nt

rib
ut

ed
to

th
e

st
ro

ng
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

of
oi

le
xp

or
tin

g
co

un
tri

es
,m

os
t

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
ly

Ve
ne

zu
el

a
an

d
R

us
si

a
(n

ot
e

th
es

e
ar

e
m

or
e

ha
rd

cu
rre

nc
y

is
su

er
s

th
an

lo
ca

l
cu

rr
en

cy
).

In
te

rm
s

of
va

lu
at

io
n

fa
ct

or
s,

in
ou

rv
ie

w
va

lu
at

io
n

le
ve

ls
ar

e
at

tra
ct

iv
e.

C
ur

re
nt

yi
el

ds
of

fe
ri

nv
es

to
rs

‘g
ro

w
th

po
rtf

ol
io

’r
et

ur
ns

.W
e

ha
ve

a
ne

ut
ra

lh
ou

se
vi

ew
on

th
e

lo
ng

-te
rm

at
tra

ct
iv

en
es

s
of

EM
D

FX
,b

ut
EM

D
FX

ob
vi

ou
sl

y
ha

s
be

en
a

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
co

nt
rib

ut
or

to
vo

la
til

ity
an

d
re

tu
rn

s.
Ec

on
om

ic
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

ha
s

be
en

m
ix

ed
in

EM
co

un
tri

es
.W

hi
ls

tt
hi

s
is

no
ts

ur
pr

is
in

g,
gi

ve
n

di
ffe

re
nt

ec
on

om
ic

ex
po

su
re

s
(e

.g
.i

m
po

rte
ro

re
xp

or
te

r)
to

oi
l

pr
ic

es
,t

he
m

ix
of

w
ea

ke
rf

un
da

m
en

ta
ls

in
so

m
e

co
un

tri
es

,t
he

on
go

in
g

ec
on

om
ic

re
ba

la
nc

in
g

in
C

hi
na

,a
nd

th
e

pr
os

pe
ct

of
m

on
et

ar
y

po
lic

y
no

rm
al

iz
at

io
n

in
th

e
U

S,
pa

in
ts

a
co

m
pl

ic
at

ed
pi

ct
ur

e
fo

rE
M

as
se

ts
.

As
st

at
ed

in
pr

ev
io

us
re

po
rts

,w
e

ca
n

ex
pe

ct
bi

g
di

sp
er

si
on

be
tw

ee
n

in
di

vi
du

al
E

M
D

co
un

tri
es

.T
hi

s
w

ill
be

du
e

to
th

e
di

ffe
re

nt
ex

po
su

re
s

to
oi

la
m

on
gs

td
iff

er
en

tc
ou

nt
rie

s,
bu

t
al

so
du

e
to

fa
ct

or
s

su
ch

as
a

co
un

try
’s

cu
rr

en
cy

re
gi

m
e

(g
iv

en
th

e
m

ar
ke

t’s
pr

op
en

si
ty

to
fo

cu
s

on
FX

)a
s

w
el

la
s

m
ar

ke
tl

iq
ui

di
ty

an
d

a
co

un
try

’s
ge

ne
ra

le
co

no
m

ic
fu

nd
am

en
ta

ls
.

Page 143



M
ER

C
ER

22

FX
w

ea
kn

es
s

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

dr
iv

e
E

M
D

m
ar

ke
ts

(c
on

t’d
)

Th
e

U
S

Fe
d

m
ay

st
ar

t
to

ra
is

e
ra

te
s

in
Ju

ne
or

la
te

rt
hi

s
ye

ar
,a

lth
ou

gh
ex

pe
ct

at
io

ns
ar

e
be

co
m

in
g

m
or

e
m

ut
ed

n
th

is
re

ga
rd

.W
ea

k
ec

on
om

ic
da

ta
ha

s
cl

ou
de

d
th

e
pi

ct
ur

e
on

th
is

an
d

in
cr

ea
se

th
e

ch
an

ce
s

of
th

e
Fe

d
ho

ld
in

g
fir

e
on

a
ra

te
m

ov
e

if
gr

ow
th

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

be
sl

ow
er

.A
ke

y
ris

k
is

w
he

th
er

m
ar

ke
ts

w
ill

be
ab

le
to

w
ith

st
an

d
th

e
po

ss
ib

ili
ty

of
in

te
re

st
ra

te
in

cr
ea

se
s

fro
m

20
15

on
w

ar
ds

,a
s

(U
S

fix
ed

in
co

m
e)

m
ar

ke
ts

ha
ve

no
tp

ric
ed

in
m

uc
h

by
w

ay
of

in
te

re
st

ra
te

hi
ke

s.
H

ig
he

rU
S

yi
el

ds
co

ul
d

di
ve

rt
ca

pi
ta

la
w

ay
fro

m
EM

D
.I

n
EM

co
un

tri
es

,w
e

ca
n

ex
pe

ct
bi

g
di

sp
er

si
on

be
tw

ee
n

w
in

ne
rs

an
d

lo
se

rs
;f

or
ex

am
pl

e
be

tw
ee

n
oi

le
xp

or
te

rs
an

d
im

po
rte

rs
,a

nd
be

tw
ee

n
th

os
e

co
un

tri
es

w
ho

ca
n

cu
tr

at
es

be
ca

us
e

of
lo

w
er

oi
la

nd
th

os
e

th
at

ca
nn

ot
.

Page 144



M
ER

C
ER

U
K

P
ro

pe
rty

-N
eu

tra
l,

w
ith

po
ck

et
s

of
op

po
rtu

ni
ty

23

Yi
el

ds
ha

ve
co

nt
in

ue
d

to
fa

ll
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

r,
al

be
it

at
a

sl
ow

er
ra

te
th

an
ha

s
be

en
th

e
ca

se
fo

rs
om

e
qu

ar
te

rs
.T

he
re

ha
s

co
nt

in
ue

d
to

be
a

st
ro

ng
le

ve
lo

f
in

st
itu

tio
na

li
nt

er
es

ti
n

U
K

re
al

es
ta

te
an

d
ov

er
se

as
bu

ye
rs

ha
ve

re
m

ai
ne

d
ac

tiv
e.

Yi
el

ds
ar

e
no

w
be

lo
w

lo
ng

-te
rm

av
er

ag
es

an
d

th
is

ha
s

be
en

dr
iv

en
by

th
e

co
nt

in
ue

d
lo

w
le

ve
lo

fb
on

d
yi

el
ds

.

In
ab

so
lu

te
te

rm
s,

yi
el

ds
lo

ok
ex

pe
ns

iv
e,

bu
tw

e
no

te
th

at
in

a
lo

w
in

te
re

st
ra

te
en

vi
ro

nm
en

tt
he

ga
p

re
m

ai
ns

at
tra

ct
iv

e
an

d
ca

pi
ta

lv
al

ue
s

ar
e

th
er

ef
or

e
so

m
ew

ha
t

pr
ot

ec
te

d
ag

ai
ns

ti
nt

er
es

tr
at

e
ris

es
.

Va
ca

nc
y

ha
s

le
ve

lle
d

ou
tf

ol
lo

w
in

g
a

pe
rio

d
of

de
cl

in
e,

bu
tw

e
su

sp
ec

tt
ha

tt
hi

s
is

m
or

e
of

a
pa

us
e

th
an

in
di

ca
tiv

e
of

a
tu

rn
in

g
po

in
t.

Th
er

e
co

nt
in

ue
to

be
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
in

oc
cu

pi
er

in
te

re
st

an
d

re
nt

al
va

lu
es

co
nt

in
ue

to
gr

ow
at

a
he

al
th

y
bu

ts
us

ta
in

ab
le

ra
te

.

Su
pp

ly
of

ne
w

,g
oo

d
qu

al
ity

sp
ac

e
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
be

be
lo

w
tre

nd
an

d
th

is
sh

ou
ld

un
de

rp
in

re
tu

rn
s

w
hi

le
th

e
ec

on
om

y
re

m
ai

ns
st

ro
ng

.A
lth

ou
gh

yi
el

ds
ar

e
on

th
e

lo
w

si
de

,c
ap

ita
lv

al
ue

s
ar

e
de

fe
ns

iv
e

an
d

th
e

m
ar

ke
td

oe
s

no
tf

ac
e

ov
er

su
pp

ly
.

R
en

ta
lg

ro
w

th
sh

ou
ld

re
m

ai
n

w
hi

le
th

e
U

K
ec

on
om

y
is

bu
oy

an
tb

ut
w

e
no

te
th

at
ta

il
ris

k
re

m
ai

ns
.T

hi
s,

co
up

le
d

w
ith

th
e

fa
ll

in
yi

el
ds

le
ad

s
us

to
be

lie
ve

th
at

U
K

re
al

es
ta

te
,t

ak
en

as
a

w
ho

le
,i

s
fa

ir
va

lu
e.

H
ow

ev
er

,t
he

re
co

nt
in

ue
s

to
be

a
bi

g
di

sc
re

pa
nc

y
be

tw
ee

n
pr

im
e

re
al

es
ta

te
(d

riv
en

by
sa

fe
ha

ve
n

in
ve

st
or

s
an

d
th

os
e

lo
ok

in
g

fo
ra

lte
rn

at
iv

e
in

co
m

e
to

bo
nd

s)
an

d
se

co
nd

ar
y

re
al

es
ta

te
(d

riv
en

by
th

os
e

lo
ok

in
g

fo
rg

ro
w

th
).

W
hi

ls
tw

e
do

n’
tb

el
ie

ve
th

at
th

er
e

is
go

od
va

lu
e

to
be

ha
d,

w
e

do
th

in
k

th
at

th
er

e
co

nt
in

ue
to

be
in

te
re

st
in

g
op

po
rtu

ni
tie

s
se

le
ct

iv
el

y
av

ai
la

bl
e.

Th
at

sa
id

,f
ro

m
no

w
on

re
tu

rn
s

w
ill

be
dr

iv
en

by
in

co
m

e
gr

ow
th

,n
ot

yi
el

d
sh

ift
.

Th
e

yi
el

d
ga

p
re

la
tiv

e
to

go
ve

rn
m

en
tb

on
ds

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

su
gg

es
tt

ha
tH

LV
pr

op
er

ty
re

m
ai

ns
at

tr
ac

tiv
el

y
pr

ic
ed

.T
he

am
ou

nt
of

ca
pi

ta
lb

ei
ng

co
m

m
itt

ed
to

th
es

e
ty

pe
s

of
fu

nd
s

ha
s

fa
lle

n
of

la
te

an
d

yi
el

ds
ha

ve
la

rg
el

y
st

ab
ili

se
d

at
lo

w
-4

%
’s

.

D
eb

tm
ar

gi
ns

ha
ve

sh
ow

n
fu

rth
er

si
gn

s
of

fa
lli

ng
.M

ar
gi

ns
on

lo
w

ris
k

se
ni

or
de

bt
ar

e
no

w
w

el
lb

el
ow

20
0b

ps
an

d
ev

en
de

bt
on

re
gi

on
al

as
se

ts
is

ap
pr

oa
ch

in
g

th
es

e
le

ve
ls

of
m

ar
gi

n.

W
e

lik
e

va
lu

e-
ad

d
st

ra
te

gi
es

in
ge

ne
ra

la
s

th
ey

ai
m

to
ta

ke
ad

va
nt

ag
e

of
st

ru
ct

ur
al

an
d

de
m

og
ra

ph
ic

ch
an

ge
.C

re
at

in
g

st
oc

k
w

hi
ch

is
co

ns
id

er
ed

co
re

is
a

se
ns

ib
le

st
ra

te
gy

as
th

er
e

is
a

la
ck

of
hi

gh
qu

al
ity

sp
ac

e.
S

ec
on

da
ry

re
al

es
ta

te
is

at
tra

ct
iv

e
w

he
n

co
m

bi
ne

d
w

ith
va

lu
e-

ad
d

po
te

nt
ia

l.
W

e
be

lie
ve

th
at

th
e

lo
w

-
ha

ng
in

g
fru

it
ha

s
la

rg
el

y
be

en
pi

ck
ed

.

W
e

ar
e

ca
ut

io
us

of
op

po
rt

un
is

tic
st

ra
te

gi
es

.
Al

th
ou

gh
th

ey
co

ul
d

pe
rfo

rm
w

el
l,

w
e

pr
ef

er
to

se
e

so
m

e
do

w
ns

id
e

pr
ot

ec
tio

n
by

w
ay

of
as

se
ts

w
hi

ch
ar

e
in

co
m

e-
pr

od
uc

in
g

or
w

he
re

in
ve

st
m

en
ti

s
do

ne
th

ro
ug

h
de

fe
ns

iv
e

ca
pi

ta
l

st
ru

ct
ur

es
,s

uc
h

as
in

ve
st

in
g

th
ro

ug
h

de
bt

or
ac

qu
iri

ng
as

se
ts

w
ith

fu
nd

am
en

ta
lly

so
un

d
bu

si
ne

ss
pl

an
s

w
hi

ch
ha

ve
si

m
pl

y
be

en
co

ns
tra

in
ed

by
a

la
ck

of
fin

an
ce

.

Page 145



M
ER

C
ER

G
er

m
an

P
ro

pe
rty

–
co

re
re

m
ai

ns
ne

ut
ra

l

24

Fr
en

ch
P

ro
pe

rty
–

re
m

ai
ns

un
at

tra
ct

iv
e

St
ro

ng
do

m
es

tic
an

d
in

te
rn

at
io

na
ld

em
an

d
fo

rl
ow

ris
k

as
se

ts
w

ith
se

cu
re

in
co

m
e,

as
w

el
la

s
go

od
av

ai
la

bi
lit

y
of

lo
w

-c
os

td
eb

t,
is

ke
ep

in
g

yi
el

d
le

ve
ls

w
el

lb
el

ow
lo

ng
te

rm
av

er
ag

es
.

In
ve

st
m

en
tv

ol
um

es
w

er
e

hi
gh

in
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

ro
f2

01
5.

At
€4

0b
n,

th
is

is
th

e
hi

gh
es

tl
ev

el
si

nc
e

th
e

st
ar

to
ft

he
G

lo
ba

l
Fi

na
nc

ia
lC

ris
is

in
20

07
.L

ar
ge

tra
ns

ac
tio

ns
(s

in
gl

e
as

se
ts

an
d

po
rtf

ol
io

s)
in

cr
ea

se
d

as
di

d
th

e
sh

ar
e

of
fo

re
ig

n
in

ve
st

or
s.

Yi
el

ds
re

m
ai

ne
d

at
hi

st
or

ic
al

ly
lo

w
le

ve
ls

ov
er

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r.

Fo
rc

or
e

pr
op

er
ty

w
e

st
ill

th
in

k
th

er
e

is
lit

tle
ro

om
fo

rf
ur

th
er

in
w

ar
d

yi
el

d
sh

ift
,a

lth
ou

gh
w

e
th

in
k

th
at

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
de

m
an

d
pr

es
su

re
w

ill
pe

rs
is

ti
n

th
e

sh
or

tt
o

m
id

-te
rm

du
e

to
lo

w
fin

an
ci

ng
co

st
s

an
d

lo
w

bo
nd

yi
el

ds
.A

n
ou

tw
ar

d
yi

el
d

sh
ift

is
no

t
lik

el
y

ye
tb

ut
th

e
ris

k
of

th
is

is
in

cr
ea

si
ng

.

Le
as

in
g

w
as

so
lid

in
20

14
bu

ti
n

so
m

e
ar

ea
s

th
er

e
ar

e
si

gn
s

of
di

sc
on

ne
ct

io
ns

be
tw

ee
n

m
ar

ke
tf

un
da

m
en

ta
ls

an
d

in
ve

st
m

en
tm

ar
ke

ts
.

R
is

k-
av

er
se

in
ve

st
or

s
ar

e
st

ill
do

m
in

at
in

g
th

e
in

ve
st

m
en

tm
ar

ke
tb

ut
va

lu
e-

ad
d

to
op

po
rtu

ni
st

ic
ac

tiv
ity

is
in

cr
ea

si
ng

an
d

w
e

ex
pe

ct
th

e
yi

el
d

di
ve

rg
en

ce
be

tw
ee

n
pr

im
e

an
d

se
co

nd
ar

y
m

ar
ke

ts
to

de
cl

in
e

fu
rth

er
ac

ro
ss

ke
y

se
ct

or
s

du
e

to
in

cr
ea

se
d

in
ve

st
or

in
te

re
st

.T
hi

s
is

dr
iv

en
pa

rtl
y

by
th

e
sh

or
ta

ge
an

d
hi

gh
pr

ic
in

g
of

co
re

an
d

pr
im

e
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
,p

ar
tly

by
an

in
cr

ea
se

d
ris

k
to

le
ra

nc
e

in
th

e
m

ar
ke

t.

Th
e

ov
er

al
lp

os
iti

ve
ec

on
om

ic
ou

tlo
ok

su
pp

or
ts

th
e

G
er

m
an

pr
op

er
ty

se
ct

or
.C

or
e

pr
op

er
ty

as
se

ts
in

th
e

m
ai

n
in

ve
st

m
en

tc
en

tre
s

an
d

st
ro

ng
re

ta
il

pr
op

er
tie

s
ar

e
lo

ok
in

g
re

as
on

ab
ly

w
el

ls
up

po
rte

d.
D

em
an

d
fo

rs
uc

h
as

se
ts

co
ns

id
er

ab
ly

ou
ts

tri
ps

su
pp

ly
.

H
ow

ev
er

,w
e

th
in

k
th

er
e

ar
e

ea
rly

si
gn

s
of

m
ar

ke
to

ve
r-

he
at

in
g.

Th
e

in
ve

st
m

en
tp

re
ss

ur
e

on
co

re
pr

op
er

tie
s,

th
e

in
cr

ea
se

d
ris

k
to

le
ra

nc
e

of
in

ve
st

or
s,

th
e

in
cr

ea
si

ng
nu

m
be

ro
fp

or
tfo

lio
de

al
s

an
d

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

lly
w

ea
ke

ni
ng

ec
on

om
y

co
ul

d
be

w
ar

ni
ng

si
gn

s.

W
e

th
in

k
G

er
m

an
co

re
pr

op
er

ty
sh

ou
ld

be
vi

ew
ed

as
N

eu
tr

al
w

hi
ls

tw
e

be
lie

ve
go

od
se

co
nd

ar
y

in
ve

st
m

en
ts

,r
et

ai
la

nd
lo

gi
st

ic
s

hu
bs

ar
e

at
tr

ac
tiv

e.

Th
e

ov
er

al
lF

re
nc

h
ec

on
om

ic
ou

tlo
ok

do
es

no
ts

up
po

rt
st

ro
ng

pr
op

er
ty

m
ar

ke
tp

er
fo

rm
an

ce
.T

he
sl

ow
pa

ce
of

st
ru

ct
ur

al
ch

an
ge

s
ad

ds
so

m
e

un
ce

rta
in

ty
an

d
in

co
m

bi
na

tio
n

w
ith

un
em

pl
oy

m
en

ta
t1

0%
,c

on
st

ra
in

s
ho

us
eh

ol
d

sp
en

di
ng

.B
ec

au
se

of
th

e
la

ck
of

st
ru

ct
ur

al
re

fo
rm

s,
th

e
ec

on
om

y
sh

ow
s

on
ly

su
bd

ue
d

gr
ow

th
.

C
or

e
pr

op
er

ty
pr

ic
in

g
is

hi
gh

w
ith

lo
w

yi
el

d
le

ve
ls

an
d

pe
rs

is
tin

g
de

m
an

d
fro

m
in

ve
st

or
s.

Ag
ai

n,
ch

ea
p

fin
an

ci
ng

is
an

im
po

rta
nt

dr
iv

er
bu

tt
he

sh
ee

r
si

ze
an

d
liq

ui
di

ty
of

th
e

Fr
en

ch
an

d
es

pe
ci

al
ly

P
ar

is
ia

n
m

ar
ke

ts
at

tra
ct

ro
bu

st
in

ve
st

m
en

tv
ol

um
es

.P
ar

is
pr

im
e

of
fic

e
yi

el
ds

at
th

e
en

d
of

20
14

st
oo

d
at

ar
ou

nd
3.

9%
.I

n
co

nt
ra

st
,o

th
er

lo
ca

tio
ns

lik
e

La
D

éf
en

se
st

an
d

at
5.

5%
pr

ov
id

in
g

a
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

yi
el

d
ga

p.
Yi

el
ds

on
pr

im
e

re
ta

il
pr

op
er

tie
s

in
Pa

ris
st

oo
d

at
3.

5%
at

th
e

en
d

of
th

e
th

ird
qu

ar
te

r.

Ag
ai

ns
tt

he
ba

ck
dr

op
of

hi
gh

pr
ic

in
g,

th
e

w
ea

k
ec

on
om

ic
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
nd

so
fte

ni
ng

pr
op

er
ty

m
ar

ke
ts

,w
e

th
in

k
Fr

en
ch

pr
op

er
ty

sh
ou

ld
be

vi
ew

ed
as

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e.

In
20

14
,i

nv
es

tm
en

tv
ol

um
es

in
cr

ea
se

d
by

ab
ou

t3
0%

co
m

pa
re

d
w

ith
th

e
co

rre
sp

on
di

ng
pe

rio
d

in
20

13
an

d
st

oo
d

at
€2

4b
n.

In
ve

st
or

s
ha

ve
be

co
m

e
m

or
e

fle
xi

bl
e

in
th

ei
rs

el
ec

tio
n

cr
ite

ria
an

d
ar

e
in

cr
ea

si
ng

ly
ta

rg
et

in
g

se
co

nd
ar

y
as

se
ts

in
pe

rip
he

ra
ll

oc
at

io
ns

or
w

ith
sh

or
t

le
as

e
te

rm
s.

Page 146



M
ER

C
ER

Value($bn)

H
ed

ge
fu

nd
s

po
st

go
od

re
su

lts
fo

rt
he

qu
ar

te
r

D
ue

to
th

e
id

io
sy

nc
ra

tic
na

tu
re

of
he

dg
e

fu
nd

in
ve

st
in

g,
w

e
do

no
tp

la
ce

fo
rm

al
ra

tin
gs

on
th

es
e

st
ra

te
gi

es
.

In
st

ea
d,

w
e

co
m

m
en

to
n

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
,t

re
nd

s
an

d
op

po
rtu

ni
tie

s.

Vi
ew Fo

rt
he

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

he
dg

e
fu

nd
s

w
er

e
ab

le
to

ad
d

va
lu

e
ov

er
bo

th
gl

ob
al

eq
ui

tie
s

an
d

bo
nd

s,
ea

rn
in

g
co

ns
is

te
nt

ly
po

si
tiv

e
re

tu
rn

s
in

an
ot

he
rw

is
e

vo
la

til
e

qu
ar

te
r.

W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
be

lie
ve

th
at

th
e

ou
tlo

ok
fo

rs
ki

lle
d

he
dg

e
fu

nd
m

an
ag

er
s

is
fa

vo
ra

bl
e,

pa
rti

cu
la

rly
in

lig
ht

of
th

e
cu

rr
en

tm
ic

ro
an

d
m

ac
ro

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t.

C
on

tin
ui

ng
m

ac
ro

an
d

po
lic

y
di

ve
rg

en
ce

s
gl

ob
al

ly
,a

lo
ng

w
ith

hi
gh

er
se

cu
rit

y
an

d
as

se
tc

la
ss

di
sp

er
si

on
,s

ho
ul

d
su

pp
or

tt
he

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
se

tf
or

al
ph

a
ge

ne
ra

tio
n.

Fu
rth

er
m

or
e,

w
ith

tra
di

tio
na

la
ss

et
s

pr
ic

ed
to

pr
ov

id
e

re
la

tiv
el

y
w

ea
k

re
tu

rn
s,

th
e

po
te

nt
ia

lo
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

co
st

of
he

dg
e

fu
nd

in
ve

st
in

g
is

ar
gu

ab
ly

lo
w

.

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

an
d

in
du

st
ry

co
m

m
en

ta
ry

M
ac

ro
ev

en
ts

dr
ov

e
m

ar
ke

ts
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

le
ad

in
g

to
ra

th
er

w
ild

sw
in

gs
as

in
ve

st
or

s
tri

ed
to

di
ge

st
th

e
ef

fe
ct

s
of

Eu
ro

pe
an

Q
E

,t
he

G
re

ek
el

ec
tio

n,
th

e
ab

an
do

nm
en

to
ft

he
S

w
is

s
Fr

an
c

pe
g,

en
er

gy
pr

ic
e

vo
la

til
ity

an
d

w
ea

k
U

S
ec

on
om

ic
da

ta
.

Th
e

av
er

ag
e

fu
nd

of
he

dg
e

fu
nd

w
as

ab
le

to
po

st
a

go
od

re
su

lts
,e

ar
ni

ng
a

po
si

tiv
e

re
tu

rn
in

ea
ch

of
th

e
th

re
e

m
on

th
s

to
po

st
a

2.
5%

re
tu

rn
fo

rt
he

qu
ar

te
r.

As
se

tg
ro

w
th

in
th

e
he

dg
e

fu
nd

in
du

st
ry

co
nt

in
ue

d
to

se
tn

ew
hi

gh
s

in
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

r.
To

ta
lh

ed
ge

fu
nd

as
se

ts
br

ok
e

$2
.9

tri
lli

on
fo

rt
he

fir
st

tim
e,

m
ar

ki
ng

th
e

fo
ur

te
en

th
co

ns
ec

ut
iv

e
qu

ar
te

ro
fr

ec
or

d
as

se
tl

ev
el

s
an

d
ap

pe
ar

in
g

re
la

tiv
el

y
un

-p
ha

se
d

by
th

e
re

ce
nt

hi
gh

pr
of

ile
de

fe
ct

io
ns

fro
m

th
e

sp
ac

e.

In
ve

st
or

s
al

lo
ca

te
d

ov
er

$1
8

bi
lli

on
to

he
dg

e
fu

nd
s

du
rin

g
th

e
qu

ar
te

r,
w

ith
he

dg
ed

eq
ui

ty
st

ra
te

gi
es

re
ce

iv
in

g
th

e
la

rg
es

ts
ha

re
,f

ol
lo

w
ed

by
ev

en
t-d

riv
en

,m
ac

ro
an

d
re

la
tiv

e
va

lu
e.

25

S
ou

rc
e:

H
ed

ge
Fu

nd
R

es
ea

rc
h

S
ou

rc
e:

H
ed

ge
Fu

nd
R

es
ea

rc
h

Page 147



M
ER

C
ER

H
ed

ge
fu

nd
s:

A
lp

ha
op

po
rtu

ni
tie

s
re

m
ai

n
pl

en
tif

ul
M

ul
ti-

st
ra

te
gy

/E
ve

nt
Th

e
m

ul
ti-

st
ra

te
gy

/e
ve

nt
sp

ac
e

ex
pe

rie
nc

ed
a

re
la

tiv
el

y
po

si
tiv

e
qu

ar
te

r,
ai

de
d

by
a

ro
bu

st
de

al
pi

pe
lin

e.

C
om

pl
et

io
n

of
a

nu
m

be
ro

fl
ar

ge
de

al
s

(A
lle

rg
an

,i
n

pa
rti

cu
la

r)
an

d
fe

w
no

ta
bl

e
br

ea
ks

dr
ov

e
m

er
ge

rp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

fo
rt

he
qu

ar
te

r,
le

ad
in

g
th

e
ev

en
t-d

riv
en

st
ra

te
gy

as
a

w
ho

le
.

Ac
tiv

ity
in

th
e

sp
ac

e
re

m
ai

ne
d

el
ev

at
ed

in
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

r,
ac

co
m

pa
ni

ed
by

he
al

th
y

sp
re

ad
le

ve
ls

.A
s

a
re

su
lt,

m
ul

ti-
st

ra
te

gy
m

an
ag

er
s

ha
ve

co
nt

in
ue

d
to

al
lo

ca
te

ca
pi

ta
lt

o
th

e
M

&A
sp

ac
e.

O
ut

si
de

of
m

er
ge

rs
,s

pe
ci

al
si

tu
at

io
n

an
d

po
st

-r
eo

rg
an

iz
at

io
n

eq
ui

ty
ex

po
su

re
w

as
ge

ne
ra

lly
ad

di
tiv

e,
de

sp
ite

re
la

tiv
el

y
m

od
es

tp
ro

gr
es

s
in

m
aj

or
re

st
ru

ct
ur

in
gs

.

Th
e

ou
tlo

ok
fo

rt
he

st
ra

te
gy

re
m

ai
ns

at
tra

ct
iv

e.
M

ul
ti-

st
ra

te
gy

m
an

ag
er

s
ca

n
al

lo
ca

te
ac

ro
ss

st
ra

te
gi

es
ov

er
m

ar
ke

tc
yc

le
s,

to
gg

lin
g

be
tw

ee
n

st
ra

te
gi

es
to

ca
pt

ur
e

ne
w

op
po

rtu
ni

tie
s.

Th
ey

al
so

ha
ve

m
or

e
“le

ve
rs

”a
va

ila
bl

e
to

th
em

to
be

tte
rb

al
an

ce
th

ei
r

po
rtf

ol
io

s
th

ro
ug

h
ro

ug
h

w
at

er
s.

Es
ta

bl
is

he
d

m
an

ag
er

s
w

ith
ro

ot
s

in
th

e
ev

en
t-d

riv
en

sp
ac

e
sh

ou
ld

be
w

el
l-p

la
ce

d
to

ca
pt

ur
e

th
e

op
po

rtu
ni

tie
s

ar
is

in
g

fro
m

in
cr

ea
se

d
co

rp
or

at
e

ac
tiv

ity
,r

ed
uc

ed
de

al
er

ac
tiv

ity
an

d
co

nt
in

ue
d

ba
nk

de
le

ve
ra

gi
ng

.M
an

ag
er

se
le

ct
io

n
re

m
ai

ns
pa

ra
m

ou
nt

an
d

w
e

re
m

ai
n

w
ar

y
of

as
se

t/l
ia

bi
lit

y
m

is
m

at
ch

es
an

d
ex

ce
ss

iv
e

le
ve

ra
ge

in
th

is
pa

rt
of

th
e

he
dg

e
fu

nd
sp

ac
e.

Lo
ng

/s
ho

rt
eq

ui
ty

Lo
ng

/s
ho

rt
eq

ui
ty

po
st

ed
so

lid
re

su
lts

fo
rt

he
qu

ar
te

r,
as

di
sp

er
si

on
,p

ar
tic

ul
ar

ly
in

U
S

eq
ui

tie
s,

pr
ov

id
ed

op
po

rtu
ni

ty
.

Po
pu

la
rl

on
g

po
si

tio
ns

ge
ne

ra
lly

ad
de

d
va

lu
e

ov
er

U
S

st
oc

ks
,y

et
ov

er
al

lp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

w
as

hu
rt

by
co

m
m

on
ly

-h
el

d
sh

or
tp

os
iti

on
s,

w
hi

ch
al

so
ou

tp
ac

ed
do

m
es

tic
eq

ui
tie

s.
H

ow
ev

er
,m

an
ag

er
di

sp
er

si
on

w
as

w
id

e
an

d
m

an
y

m
an

ag
er

s
w

er
e

ab
le

to
ge

ne
ra

te
sh

or
ta

lp
ha

,p
ro

du
ci

ng
m

or
e

fa
vo

ra
bl

e
re

su
lts

.
O

ve
ra

ll,
in

te
r-s

ec
to

r,
st

yl
e,

m
ar

ke
tc

ap
,

an
d

re
gi

on
al

di
sp

ar
iti

es
w

er
e

pl
en

tif
ul

,c
re

at
in

g
pl

en
ty

of
op

po
rtu

ni
tie

s

In
th

e
cu

rre
nt

en
vi

ro
nm

en
to

fd
is

pa
ra

te
se

cu
rit

y
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

,s
ec

ur
ity

se
le

ct
io

n
sp

ec
ia

lis
ts

(h
ed

ge
d

m
an

ag
er

s,
in

pa
rti

cu
la

r)
sh

ou
ld

be
ab

le
to

co
nt

in
ue

to
pr

od
uc

e
ad

de
d

va
lu

e.

26

Lo
ng

/s
ho

rt
cr

ed
it

Th
e

qu
ar

te
rp

ro
vi

de
d

a
re

as
on

ab
le

en
vi

ro
nm

en
tf

or
cr

ed
it

m
an

ag
er

s
br

oa
dl

y.
Pe

rfo
rm

in
g

cr
ed

it
be

ne
fit

te
d

fro
m

re
la

tiv
el

y
fa

vo
ra

bl
e

sp
re

ad
m

ov
em

en
ta

nd
id

io
sy

nc
ra

tic
is

su
er

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
,t

ho
ug

h
en

er
gy

-r
el

at
ed

na
m

es
co

nt
in

ue
d

to
la

g.
St

re
ss

ed
an

d
di

st
re

ss
ed

cr
ed

it
ha

d
a

re
la

tiv
el

y
qu

ie
tq

ua
rte

r,
w

ith
fe

w
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ts
in

co
m

m
on

ly
he

ld
si

tu
at

io
ns

.

St
ru

ct
ur

ed
cr

ed
it

pr
od

uc
ed

m
ix

ed
re

su
lts

in
th

e
qu

ar
te

r.
R

M
BS

al
lo

ca
tio

ns
ha

ve
co

nt
in

ue
d

to
sh

ift
to

w
ar

ds
m

or
e

co
m

pl
ex

an
d

ac
tiv

is
t-d

riv
en

op
po

rtu
ni

tie
s,

su
ch

as
m

or
tg

ag
e

se
ttl

em
en

t-r
el

at
ed

cl
ai

m
s.

Th
es

e
po

si
tio

ns
ha

ve
co

nt
in

ue
d

to
pr

od
uc

e
at

tra
ct

iv
e

re
su

lts
.

Pr
im

ar
y

de
al

er
in

ve
nt

or
y

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

de
cl

in
e,

re
pr

es
en

tin
g

a
fra

ct
io

n
of

20
07

le
ve

ls
,w

hi
le

th
e

am
ou

nt
of

co
rp

or
at

e
bo

nd
s

ou
ts

ta
nd

in
g

in
th

e
U

S
ha

s
do

ub
le

d.
Th

is
liq

ui
di

ty
ga

p
is

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

be
co

m
in

g
a

to
pi

c
of

co
nv

er
sa

tio
n.

W
ith

th
e

Vo
lk

er
R

ul
e

pu
tti

ng
lim

ita
tio

ns
on

th
e

de
al

er
s’

ab
ili

ty
to

pr
ov

id
e

liq
ui

di
ty

,w
e’

ve
se

en
m

as
si

ve
m

ov
es

oc
cu

ri
n

a
va

rie
ty

of
m

ar
ke

ts
,p

un
ct

ua
te

d
by

th
e

S
w

is
s

Fr
an

c’
s

un
pr

ec
ed

en
te

d
m

ov
e

fo
llo

w
in

g
th

e
Sw

is
s

N
at

io
na

lB
an

k’
s

de
ci

si
on

to
ab

an
do

n
th

e
cu

rr
en

cy
pe

g.
W

hi
le

th
is

ob
vi

ou
sl

y
in

tro
du

ce
s

ris
k,

th
e

op
po

rtu
ni

tie
s

to
be

a
liq

ui
di

ty
pr

ov
id

er
m

ay
ul

tim
at

el
y

co
m

pe
ns

at
e

fo
rt

he
se

ris
ks

.

G
lo

ba
lm

ac
ro

Sy
st

em
at

ic
m

ac
ro

st
ra

te
gi

es
co

nt
in

ue
d

20
14

’s
st

el
la

rp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

.
Tr

en
ds

w
er

e
pl

en
tif

ul
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r,

w
ith

in
te

re
st

ra
te

s,
pa

rti
cu

la
rly

G
er

m
an

Bu
nd

s,
re

pr
es

en
tin

g
a

pr
im

ar
y

dr
iv

er
to

re
tu

rn
s

fo
rm

an
y

m
an

ag
er

s.

D
is

cr
et

io
na

ry
m

ac
ro

st
ra

te
gi

es
al

so
po

st
ed

a
po

si
tiv

e
re

tu
rn

du
rin

g
th

e
qu

ar
te

r,
be

ne
fit

tin
g

fro
m

cu
rr

en
cy

an
d

se
le

ct
eq

ui
ty

po
si

tio
ns

,b
ut

w
er

e
hu

rt
by

co
m

m
od

ity
-

re
la

te
d

ex
po

su
re

,p
ar

tic
ul

ar
ly

en
er

gy
an

d
ag

ric
ul

tu
re

.

O
ve

ra
ll,

di
sp

er
si

on
w

as
el

ev
at

ed
,w

ith
a

nu
m

be
ro

fp
or

tfo
lio

sh
ur

tb
y

th
e

Sw
is

s
N

at
io

na
lB

an
k’

s
de

ci
si

on
to

ab
an

do
n

its
pe

g
to

th
e

Eu
ro

.

D
iv

er
ge

nt
gl

ob
al

m
on

et
ar

y
po

lic
y

ex
pe

ct
at

io
ns

sh
ou

ld
co

nt
in

ue
to

dr
iv

e
m

ea
ni

ng
fu

l
di

sp
er

si
on

ac
ro

ss
as

se
tc

la
ss

es
,c

re
at

in
g

op
po

rtu
ni

tie
s

fo
rm

ac
ro

-fo
cu

se
d

m
an

ag
er

s
to

ex
pl

oi
t.

Page 148



M
ER

C
ER

D
ue

to
th

e
lo

ng
-te

rm
na

tu
re

of
pr

iv
at

e
eq

ui
ty

in
ve

st
in

g
an

d
th

e
la

ck
of

re
lia

bl
e

va
lu

at
io

n
da

ta
,w

e
do

no
t

pl
ac

e
a

fo
rm

al
ra

tin
g

on
th

e
as

se
tc

la
ss

.I
ns

te
ad

,w
e

co
m

m
en

to
n

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
an

d
tre

nd
s,

an
d

w
e

id
en

tif
y

ar
ea

s
of

fo
cu

s
fo

rt
he

ne
xt

6
to

18
m

on
th

s.

W
e

re
m

ai
n

ca
ut

io
us

ly
po

si
tiv

e
on

th
e

gl
ob

al
pr

iv
at

e
eq

ui
ty

m
ar

ke
ta

ga
in

st
a

ba
ck

dr
op

of
fu

ll
va

lu
at

io
ns

fo
rb

uy
ou

ts
be

in
g

fu
el

ed
by

pl
en

tif
ul

am
ou

nt
s

of
de

bt
.C

ap
ita

lm
ar

ke
ts

ha
ve

be
en

ve
ry

su
pp

or
tiv

e
fo

r
ex

its
an

d
th

e
am

ou
nt

of
liq

ui
di

ty
be

in
g

ge
ne

ra
te

d
fo

rp
riv

at
e

eq
ui

ty
in

ve
st

or
s

ha
s

be
en

ro
bu

st
.

O
ur

ov
er

al
lv

ie
w

is
a

sh
ift

fro
m

be
in

g
un

de
rw

ei
gh

ts
pe

ci
al

si
tu

at
io

ns
to

a
ne

ut
ra

lp
os

tu
re

ac
ro

ss
bu

yo
ut

s,
sp

ec
ia

ls
itu

at
io

ns
an

d
ve

nt
ur

e
ca

pi
ta

l/g
ro

w
th

eq
ui

ty
.

Th
e

bu
yo

ut
m

ar
ke

ti
s

fu
lly

pr
ic

ed
,b

ut
th

er
e

ar
e

so
m

e
po

ck
et

s
of

va
lu

e,
an

d
w

e
ar

e
fo

cu
se

d
on

fu
nd

s
w

ith
st

ra
te

gi
es

pr
ed

ic
at

ed
on

fu
nd

am
en

ta
lly

im
pr

ov
in

g
co

m
pa

ni
es

.

W
e

re
m

ai
n

po
si

tiv
e

on
U

S
ve

nt
ur

e
ca

pi
ta

l,
bu

tt
he

le
ve

lo
fa

ct
iv

ity
on

bo
th

th
e

in
ve

st
m

en
ta

nd
re

al
iz

at
io

n
fro

nt
s

is
un

us
ua

lly
ro

bu
st

.

Th
e

di
st

re
ss

ed
en

er
gy

de
bt

pl
ay

m
ay

be
th

e
m

os
to

ve
r-

hy
pe

d,
ov

er
-in

ve
st

ed
op

po
rtu

ni
ty

in
re

ce
nt

m
em

or
y.

Pr
iv

at
e

de
bt

yi
el

ds
ha

ve
co

m
e

do
w

n
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

ly
fo

rt
he

hi
gh

es
tq

ua
lit

y
cr

ed
its

,b
ut

ar
e

st
ill

qu
ite

st
ro

ng
at

th
e

su
b-

in
ve

st
m

en
tg

ra
de

le
ve

l.

Be
nc

hm
ar

k
re

tu
rn

s
fo

rQ
4

20
14

ar
e

no
ty

et
av

ai
la

bl
e.

G
lo

ba
lp

oo
le

d
pr

iv
at

e
eq

ui
ty

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
fla

tte
ne

d
in

th
e

th
ird

qu
ar

te
ro

f2
01

4
(s

ee
C

ha
rt

1)
w

ith
re

tu
rn

s
co

m
in

g
in

at
-0

.4
%

ve
rs

us
a

gl
ob

al
pu

bl
ic

eq
ui

ty
in

de
x

re
tu

rn
of

-2
.2

%
.

Th
e

1-
ye

ar
re

tu
rn

w
as

14
.9

%
,v

er
su

s
th

e
11

.9
%

re
tu

rn
of

th
e

M
SC

I
AC

W
I.

Th
e

th
re

e
ye

ar
po

ol
ed

re
tu

rn
la

gs
pu

bl
ic

m
ar

ke
ts

by
3.

8%
w

ith
a

re
tu

rn
of

13
.4

%
ve

rs
us

17
.2

%
,

bu
t5

-y
ea

rt
o

20
-y

ea
rc

om
pa

ris
on

s
sh

ow
ou

tp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

of
ro

ug
hl

y
3%

-5
%

pe
ra

nn
um

.

Th
e

fu
nd

ra
is

in
g

en
vi

ro
nm

en
th

as
be

en
ve

ry
ac

tiv
e,

bu
ts

til
lr

em
ai

ns
be

lo
w

th
e

pe
ak

ye
ar

s
of

20
06

-2
00

8
as

sh
ow

n
in

C
ha

rt
2.

St
ro

ng
de

m
an

d
fo

rf
irm

s
w

ith
go

od
ne

ar
-te

rm
tra

ck
re

co
rd

s,
re

al
iz

at
io

ns
,a

nd
di

st
rib

ut
io

ns
co

nt
in

ue
s.

Th
e

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
de

m
an

d
fo

rh
ig

h
pe

rfo
rm

in
g

fu
nd

m
an

ag
er

s
re

qu
ire

s
a

pa
rti

cu
la

rly
pr

o-
ac

tiv
e

ap
pr

oa
ch

to
po

rtf
ol

io
m

an
ag

em
en

ti
n

or
de

rt
o

ga
in

ac
ce

ss
.

Ve
nt

ur
e

C
ap

ita
l–

20
14

w
as

a
pa

rti
cu

la
rly

bu
oy

an
ti

nv
es

tm
en

te
nv

iro
nm

en
tf

or
ve

nt
ur

e-
ba

ck
ed

co
m

pa
ni

es
.A

to
ta

lo
f$

48
.3

bi
lli

on
w

as
in

ve
st

ed
in

20
14

,a
60

%
in

cr
ea

se
ov

er
20

13
,w

ith
ex

pa
ns

io
n

st
ag

e
fin

an
ci

ng
s

do
ub

lin
g

to
$1

9
bi

lli
on

of
th

e
to

ta
l.

Su
ch

fin
an

ci
ng

s
ar

e
ha

vi
ng

po
si

tiv
e

im
pa

ct
s

on
ou

r
un

re
al

iz
ed

VC
fu

nd
in

ve
st

m
en

ts
.H

ow
ev

er
,w

e
ha

ve
re

du
ce

d
ou

rv
ie

w
on

th
e

at
tra

ct
iv

en
es

s
of

ad
di

ng
ne

w
ex

po
su

re
to

la
te

st
ag

e
IT

.G
ro

w
th

eq
ui

ty
m

ay
of

fe
ra

be
tte

rv
al

ue
pr

op
os

iti
on

an
d

ca
n

se
rv

e
as

an
at

tra
ct

iv
e

su
bs

tit
ut

e.

Bo
th

M
&A

an
d

IP
O

m
ar

ke
ts

ha
ve

be
en

ve
ry

go
od

fo
rp

riv
at

e
eq

ui
ty

in
ve

st
or

s,
bu

tt
he

fir
st

qu
ar

te
ro

f
20

15
sa

w
a

sl
ow

do
w

n
in

ac
tiv

ity
.T

he
17

IP
O

s
re

pr
es

en
te

d
a

54
%

de
cl

in
e

in
th

e
nu

m
be

ro
fi

ss
ue

rs
an

d
ab

ou
tt

he
sa

m
e

de
cl

in
e

in
ca

pi
ta

lr
ai

se
d.

H
ow

ev
er

,l
ife

sc
ie

nc
e

co
m

pa
ni

es
ha

ve
en

jo
ye

d
a

pa
rti

cu
la

rly
w

el
co

m
in

g
IP

O
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
nd

13
of

th
e

17
IP

O
s

in
th

e
fir

st
qu

ar
te

rw
er

e
lif

e
sc

ie
nc

e
co

m
pa

ni
es

.
27

C
ha

rt
1

C
ha

rt
2

P
riv

at
e

E
qu

ity
–

a
sl

ow
in

g
m

ar
ke

tb
ut

pr
ic

es
re

m
ai

n
hi

gh

S
ou

rc
e:

Th
om

so
n

O
ne

S
ou

rc
e:

Th
om

so
n

O
ne

Page 149



M
ER

C
ER

B
uy

ou
t–

Lo
os

e
cr

ed
it

te
nd

s
to

be
th

e
en

ab
lin

g
fo

rc
e

in
ris

in
g

va
lu

at
io

ns
fo

rb
uy

ou
td

ea
ls

.O
ne

re
su

lt
of

th
e

fin
an

ci
al

cr
is

is
is

st
ric

te
rs

cr
ut

in
y

th
at

is
ho

ld
in

g
ba

ck
le

nd
er

s
fro

m
ge

tti
ng

to
o

ca
rr

ie
d

aw
ay

.
W

hi
le

le
ve

ra
ge

is
hi

gh
an

d
te

rm
s

ar
e

ce
rta

in
ly

ac
co

m
m

od
at

in
g,

w
e

ar
e

no
ts

ee
in

g
th

e
ex

tre
m

e
ex

ce
ss

es
of

th
e

la
st

cy
cl

e.
As

a
re

su
lt,

pr
ic

es
ar

e
hi

gh
,b

ut
ha

ve
fla

tte
ne

d.
Tr

an
sa

ct
io

n
vo

lu
m

es
ha

ve
de

cl
in

ed
an

d
it

is
a

se
lle

r’s
m

ar
ke

ti
fo

ne
ha

s
qu

al
ity

as
se

ts
to

se
ll.

W
e

ar
e

w
at

ch
in

g
fo

rs
ig

ns
th

at
th

e
m

ar
ke

th
as

be
co

m
e

un
te

na
bl

e,
bu

tr
at

io
na

lh
ea

ds
ar

e
pr

ev
ai

lin
g.

W
he

n
m

ar
ke

tc
on

di
tio

ns
ge

tp
re

ca
rio

us
w

e
em

ph
as

iz
e

th
e

im
po

rta
nc

e
of

m
an

ag
er

qu
al

ity
,r

ev
en

ue
gr

ow
th

,v
al

ua
tio

n
se

ns
iti

vi
ty

,a
nd

le
ve

ra
ge

m
an

ag
em

en
ta

s
w

el
la

s
th

e
im

po
rta

nc
e

of
op

er
at

io
na

l
im

pr
ov

em
en

ti
n

bu
yo

ut
s.

A
re

vi
ew

of
va

lu
e

dr
iv

er
s

sh
ou

ld
sh

ow
E

BI
TD

A
gr

ow
th

as
a

ke
y

de
te

rm
in

an
t

of
su

cc
es

s.
Th

e
ab

ili
ty

to
im

pr
ov

e
bu

si
ne

ss
es

ca
n

se
rv

e
as

a
bu

ffe
ra

ga
in

st
hi

gh
er

in
te

re
st

ra
te

s
an

d
is

a
m

or
e

du
ra

bl
e

so
ur

ce
of

va
lu

e
ad

de
d

th
an

cl
ev

er
fin

an
ci

al
m

an
ag

em
en

t.
Th

is
ta

le
nt

ca
n

be
fo

un
d

ac
ro

ss
th

e
si

ze
sp

ec
tru

m
,f

ro
m

sm
al

la
nd

m
id

m
ar

ke
tb

uy
ou

ts
th

ro
ug

h
la

rg
er

fu
nd

m
an

ag
er

s.
Th

e
ke

y
is

be
in

g
ab

le
to

se
pa

ra
te

ou
tg

oo
d

m
an

ag
em

en
tf

ro
m

go
od

fu
nd

m
ar

ke
tin

g.

D
is

tr
es

se
d

–
La

st
qu

ar
te

rw
e

hi
gh

lig
ht

ed
th

e
op

po
rtu

ni
tie

s
em

er
gi

ng
in

th
e

en
er

gy
se

ct
or

as
a

re
su

lt
of

th
e

st
ee

p
fa

ll
in

en
er

gy
pr

ic
es

.H
ow

ev
er

,w
e

w
er

e
ob

vi
ou

sl
y

no
ta

lo
ne

in
re

co
gn

iz
in

g
th

is
m

ar
ke

t
dy

na
m

ic
.I

n
th

e
in

te
rim

w
e

ha
ve

se
en

a
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

am
ou

nt
of

ca
pi

ta
lb

ei
ng

ra
is

ed
to

ta
rg

et
th

e
se

ct
or

.
W

hi
le

it
se

em
s

ce
rta

in
th

at
so

m
e

fu
nd

s
w

ill
su

cc
ee

d
in

th
is

sp
ac

e,
it

fe
el

s
lik

e
th

e
ca

pi
ta

lw
av

e
w

ill
di

lu
te

w
ha

te
ve

ro
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s
ex

is
t.

If
th

e
ba

nk
s

ar
e

ex
pe

ct
ed

to
pl

ay
a

ro
le

as
ca

ta
ly

st
to

fo
rc

e
de

bt
re

st
ru

ct
ur

in
gs

,w
e

le
ar

ne
d

in
th

e
la

st
cy

cl
e

th
at

th
ey

m
ig

ht
ju

st
si

tt
hi

s
on

e
ou

t.
Le

nd
er

s
m

ay
al

lo
w

th
e

en
er

gy
bo

rr
ow

er
s

en
ou

gh
fle

xi
bi

lit
y

to
ge

tt
he

m
se

lv
es

ou
to

ft
he

fin
an

ci
al

ho
le

in
w

hi
ch

th
ey

fin
d

th
em

se
lv

es
.

Se
co

nd
ar

ie
s

-S
ec

on
da

ry
pr

iv
at

e
eq

ui
ty

re
m

ai
ns

an
ar

ea
th

at
ca

n
be

ne
fit

in
ve

st
or

s
bu

ild
in

g
ne

w
po

rtf
ol

io
s,

bu
tt

he
cu

rre
nt

m
ar

ke
te

nv
iro

nm
en

t
fa

vo
rs

se
lle

rs
ov

er
bu

ye
rs

.T
he

re
ar

e
st

ill
tra

ns
ac

tio
ns

to
be

do
ne

,b
ut

w
e

fin
d

th
at

po
st

-a
cq

ui
si

tio
n

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
of

th
e

se
co

nd
ar

y
in

te
re

st
s

is
no

w
th

e
dr

iv
er

of
re

tu
rn

s
ra

th
er

th
an

di
sc

ou
nt

to
N

AV
at

w
hi

ch
th

ey
ar

e
ac

qu
ire

d.
M

or
e

de
ep

ly
di

sc
ou

nt
ed

as
se

ts
te

nd
to

ha
ve

m
or

e
un

ce
rta

in
ty

ov
er

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
po

te
nt

ia
la

nd
th

e
qu

al
ity

of
th

e
fu

nd
m

an
ag

er
.

Pr
iv

at
e

D
eb

t–
Th

e
m

ar
ke

td
yn

am
ic

s
of

th
e

la
st

ye
ar

re
m

ai
n

un
ch

an
ge

d,
bu

tc
re

di
ts

pr
ea

ds
ha

ve
na

rr
ow

ed
fo

rl
ar

ge
rt

ra
ns

ac
tio

ns
of

go
od

qu
al

ity
.S

m
al

le
ra

nd
le

ss
st

an
da

rd
tra

ns
ac

tio
ns

of
fe

rh
ig

he
r

re
tu

rn
s,

bu
tm

ay
al

so
ha

ve
a

co
m

m
en

su
ra

te
hi

gh
er

le
ve

lo
fe

ve
nt

ris
k.

O
ve

ra
ll

w
e

be
lie

ve
th

e
co

rp
or

at
e

de
bt

se
ct

or
st

ill
of

fe
rs

an
at

tra
ct

iv
e

in
cr

em
en

ta
lr

et
ur

n
ve

rs
us

pu
bl

ic
ly

tra
de

d
de

bt
.H

ig
h

de
m

an
d

fo
rs

en
io

rd
eb

tf
ro

m
in

ve
st

m
en

tg
ra

de
is

su
er

s
,a

nd
se

ni
or

de
bt

ba
ck

ed
by

re
al

es
ta

te
an

d
in

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e

in
pa

rti
cu

la
r,

ha
ve

dr
iv

en
th

os
e

yi
el

ds
do

w
n

to
le

ve
ls

th
at

m
ig

ht
no

tj
us

tif
y

th
e

ill
iq

ui
di

ty
fo

r
so

m
e

in
ve

st
or

s.

28

C
ha

rt
3

C
ha

rt
4

P
riv

at
e

E
qu

ity
–

a
sl

ow
in

g
m

ar
ke

tb
ut

pr
ic

es
re

m
ai

n
hi

gh
(c

on
t’d

)

S
ou

rc
e:

V
en

tu
re

E
co

no
m

ic
s

S
ou

rc
e:

S
ta

nd
ar

d
&

P
oo

rs
Le

ve
ra

ge
d

B
uy

ou
t

R
ev

ie
w

Page 150



M
ER

C
ER

29

W
e

co
nt

in
ue

to
be

lie
ve

th
at

th
e

in
flu

en
ce

of
th

e
br

oa
d

m
ac

ro
-e

co
no

m
ic

en
vi

ro
nm

en
tw

ill
re

m
ai

n
a

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
dr

iv
er

of
co

m
m

od
ity

pr
ic

es
fo

rt
he

fo
re

se
ea

bl
e

fu
tu

re
-e

ve
n

if
m

or
e

co
m

m
od

ity
-s

pe
ci

fic
st

or
ie

s
w

ill
di

ffe
re

nt
ia

te
th

e
un

de
rly

in
g

re
tu

rn
s.

O
ve

rt
he

fir
st

qu
ar

te
ro

f
20

15
,t

he
fo

cu
s

ha
d

be
en

on
th

e
po

lit
ic

al
in

st
ab

ili
ty

in
th

e
M

id
dl

e
Ea

st
,e

co
no

m
ic

de
ve

lo
pm

en
ts

in
C

hi
na

an
d

th
e

co
nt

in
ue

d
fa

ll
in

th
e

pr
ic

e
of

oi
lf

ol
lo

w
in

g
in

cr
ea

se
d

su
pp

ly
fro

m
th

e
U

S
an

d
st

ag
na

nt
de

m
an

d.

Th
e

lo
ng

-te
rm

un
de

rly
in

g
de

m
an

d
gr

ow
th

fo
rm

an
y

co
m

m
od

iti
es

is
dr

iv
en

by
gl

ob
al

po
pu

la
tio

n
gr

ow
th

,u
rb

an
is

at
io

n
in

th
e

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
m

ar
ke

ts
an

d
th

e
em

er
gi

ng
m

id
dl

e
cl

as
s

th
er

e.
Th

e
de

m
an

d
gr

ow
th

fro
m

As
ia

,a
nd

in
pa

rti
cu

la
rC

hi
na

co
nt

in
ue

s
to

be
po

si
tiv

e
fo

r
co

m
m

od
ity

pr
ic

es
.

In
de

ed
,o

ve
rt

he
lo

ng
er

-te
rm

,i
fw

e
ex

pe
ct

th
at

co
m

m
od

ity
de

m
an

d
w

ill
co

nt
in

ue
to

in
cr

ea
se

st
ea

di
ly

,t
he

m
ar

ke
tw

ill
ne

ed
to

fo
cu

s
on

ac
ce

ss
in

g
ne

w
so

ur
ce

s
of

su
pp

ly
or

al
te

rn
at

iv
es

.
W

ith
ou

tt
hi

s,
if

th
is

is
to

o
sl

ow
,o

ri
fa

lte
rn

at
iv

es
do

no
te

xi
st

,t
he

re
w

ill
lik

el
y

be
m

or
e

pe
rs

is
te

nt
up

w
ar

d
pr

es
su

re
on

co
m

m
od

ity
pr

ic
es

,a
s

in
ve

nt
or

y
le

ve
ls

di
m

in
is

h.
Th

is
w

ill
m

ak
e

co
m

m
od

iti
es

po
te

nt
ia

lly
m

or
e

se
ns

iti
ve

to
sh

or
t-t

er
m

su
pp

ly
sh

oc
ks

(s
uc

h
as

flo
od

in
g

or
dr

ou
gh

ts
).

Th
e

un
ce

rta
in

ty
in

th
e

M
id

dl
e

Ea
st

,f
or

ex
am

pl
e,

al
so

ra
is

es
th

e
po

te
nt

ia
lf

or
sh

ar
p

su
pp

ly
sh

oc
ks

fo
rc

om
m

od
iti

es
su

ch
as

G
as

ol
in

e
an

d
Pe

tro
le

um
.

Th
e

Bl
oo

m
be

rg
C

om
m

od
ity

In
de

x
(B

C
O

M
)(

pr
ev

io
us

ly
th

e
D

ow
-J

on
es

-U
BS

C
om

m
od

ity
In

de
x)

po
st

ed
lo

ss
es

fo
rt

he
fir

st
qu

ar
te

ro
f2

01
5,

re
tu

rn
in

g
-6

.0
%

.T
he

m
aj

or
ity

of
th

e
In

de
x’

s
su

b-
se

ct
or

s
po

st
ed

ne
ga

tiv
e

re
tu

rn
s

w
ith

th
e

ex
ce

pt
io

n
of

th
e

Pr
ec

io
us

M
et

al
s

su
b-

se
ct

or
,w

hi
ch

re
tu

rn
ed

1.
3%

.T
he

w
or

st
pe

rfo
rm

in
g

su
b

se
ct

or
s

ov
er

th
e

qu
ar

te
rw

er
e

th
e

So
fts

an
d

Li
ve

st
oc

k
se

ct
or

s,
w

hi
ch

re
tu

rn
ed

-1
3.

7%
an

d
-9

.8
%

re
sp

ec
tiv

el
y.

(A
ll

re
tu

rn
s

qu
ot

ed
in

U
SD

).

Lo
ok

in
g

at
sp

ec
ifi

c
co

m
m

od
iti

es
,a

m
on

g
th

e
So

fts
su

b-
se

ct
or

bo
th

co
ffe

e
an

d
su

ga
r

ex
pe

rie
nc

ed
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

de
cl

in
es

,a
ttr

ib
ut

ed
to

in
cr

ea
se

d
su

pp
ly

fro
m

B
ra

zi
l.

Th
e

Li
ve

st
oc

k
su

b
se

ct
or

al
so

ex
pe

rie
nc

ed
la

rg
e

lo
ss

es
ov

er
th

e
qu

ar
te

r,
w

ith
th

e
Le

an
H

og
s

su
b

se
ct

or
th

e
w

or
st

pe
rfo

rm
in

g
co

m
po

ne
nt

of
th

e
BC

O
M

in
de

x
in

th
e

fir
st

qu
ar

te
r.

Th
e

po
si

tiv
e

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
in

th
e

Pr
ec

io
us

M
et

al
s

su
b-

se
ct

or
w

as
dr

iv
en

by
th

e
st

ro
ng

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
of

Si
lv

er
,w

hi
ch

ou
tp

er
fo

rm
ed

G
ol

d
du

e
to

dw
in

dl
in

g
su

pp
ly

an
d

co
nt

in
ue

d
ro

bu
st

de
m

an
d.

A
ke

y
dy

na
m

ic
fo

rt
he

fu
tu

re
of

th
e

co
m

m
od

ity
m

ar
ke

ts
w

ill
be

th
e

im
pa

ct
of

ne
w

en
er

gy
su

pp
lie

s.
Th

e
ab

ili
ty

to
ac

ce
ss

ne
w

so
ur

ce
s

of
re

se
rv

es
th

ro
ug

h
fra

ck
in

g
ha

s
m

ar
ke

dl
y

ch
an

ge
d

th
e

en
er

gy
ou

tlo
ok

fo
rt

he
U

ni
te

d
S

ta
te

s
an

d
ha

s
th

e
po

te
nt

ia
lt

o
do

so
gl

ob
al

ly
.

C
hi

na
re

po
rte

dl
y

ha
s

th
e

la
rg

es
tu

nt
ap

pe
d

re
se

rv
es

of
sh

al
e

ga
s

gl
ob

al
ly

.
H

ow
fa

r
th

is
go

es
,a

nd
th

e
po

te
nt

ia
lim

pa
ct

on
ot

he
rc

om
m

od
iti

es
(p

os
iti

ve
ly

if
it

tri
gg

er
s

ne
w

m
an

uf
ac

tu
rin

g
/i

nf
ra

st
ru

ct
ur

e;
ne

ga
tiv

el
y

to
th

e
ex

te
nt

th
at

it
re

du
ce

s
tra

ns
po

rt
co

st
s)

w
ill

be
a

ke
y

is
su

e
ov

er
th

e
ne

xt
fe

w
ye

ar
s.

In
th

e
sh

or
te

rt
er

m
,a

m
pl

e
su

pp
lie

s
ha

ve
co

nt
rib

ut
ed

to
th

e
re

ce
nt

w
ea

kn
es

s
in

en
er

gy
pr

ic
es

-e
xa

sp
er

at
ed

by
w

ea
ke

rd
em

an
d

du
e

to
re

du
ce

d
gl

ob
al

gr
ow

th
.

C
om

m
od

ity
su

pp
ly

/d
em

an
d

dy
na

m
ic

s
co

nt
in

ue
to

ev
ol

ve

Page 151



M
ER

C
ER

C
yc

lic
al

di
ve

rg
en

ce
ha

s
m

or
e

to
gi

ve
to

th
e

U
S

do
lla

r

30

U
S

D
co

nt
in

ue
d

to
st

re
ng

th
en

ag
ai

ns
ta

br
oa

d
ra

ng
e

of
cu

rr
en

ci
es

in
20

15
Q

1,
th

e
br

oa
d

cu
rre

nc
y

in
de

x
ris

in
g

a
fu

rth
er

4.
5%

,a
nd

th
e

m
aj

or
cu

rr
en

cy
in

de
x

8.
1%

.M
uc

h
of

th
e

ga
in

s
in

bo
th

in
de

xe
s

fo
llo

w
ed

a
13

%
ju

m
p

ag
ai

ns
tE

U
R

,w
hi

le
th

e
ris

es
ag

ai
ns

tJ
P

Y
an

d
G

BP
w

er
e

m
uc

h
m

or
e

m
od

es
t.

Lo
ng

do
lla

rr
em

ai
ns

th
e

co
ns

en
su

s
gl

ob
al

tra
de

,a
lth

ou
gh

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

cr
ow

de
d

po
si

tio
ni

ng
su

gg
es

ts
a

pe
rio

d
of

co
ns

ol
id

at
io

n
ah

ea
d.

In
a

qu
ar

te
ri

n
w

hi
ch

U
S

da
ta

di
sa

pp
oi

nt
ed

,t
he

Fe
d

tu
rn

ed
ev

en
m

or
e

do
vi

sh
,a

nd
gr

ow
th

in
cr

ea
si

ng
ly

st
re

ng
th

en
ed

ou
ts

id
e

th
e

U
S,

su
st

ai
ne

d
ga

in
s

ha
ve

hi
ng

ed
la

rg
el

y
on

es
ca

la
tin

g
as

se
tp

ur
ch

as
e

by
th

e
EC

B
an

d
Bo

J.

N
ev

er
th

el
es

s,
w

e
be

lie
ve

th
is

w
id

en
in

g
di

ve
rg

en
ce

in
m

on
et

ar
y

po
lic

y
cy

cl
es

ca
n

gi
ve

m
or

e
to

U
SD

in
th

e
cu

rre
nt

cy
cl

e.
U

nd
er

cu
rre

nt
pr

op
os

al
s,

bo
th

th
e

EC
B

an
d

Bo
J

w
ill

m
or

e
th

an
do

ub
le

ba
la

nc
e

sh
ee

ts
fro

m
cu

rr
en

tl
ev

el
s

in
th

e
ne

xt
18

m
on

th
s.

In
th

at
tim

e,
w

e
an

tic
ip

at
e

th
e

Fe
d

w
ill

be
w

el
la

dv
an

ce
d

in
no

rm
al

is
in

g
U

S
in

te
re

st
ra

te
s.

W
e

ex
pe

ct
th

e
st

ro
ng

do
lla

r
w

el
lr

em
ai

n
m

or
e

of
a

pr
ob

le
m

fo
rU

S
ea

rn
in

gs
gr

ow
th

th
an

U
S

G
D

P.

W
e

no
te

th
e

pa
st

tw
o

U
SD

up
cy

cl
es

ha
ve

la
st

ed
ar

ou
nd

fiv
e

ye
ar

s.
Th

e
cu

rr
en

tc
yc

le
co

m
m

en
ce

d
in

m
id

-2
01

1.

0.
6

0.
8

1.
0

1.
2

1.
4

1.
6

1.
8 19

90
19

92
19

94
19

96
19

98
20

00
20

02
20

04
20

06
20

08
20

10
20

12
20

14

Sp
ot

Ex
ch

an
ge

R
at

es
vs

PP
P

A
U

D
/U

SD
G

B
P

/U
SD

So
ur

ce
:D

at
as

tre
am

,
Bl

oo
m

be
rg

-4
1.

1%

-3
4.

3%

-1
8.

7%

-5
.4

%

-5
.3

%

-3
.6

%

7.
2%

12
.1

%16
.2

%

23
.1

%

-5
0%

-4
0%

-3
0%

-2
0%

-1
0%

0%
10

%
20

%
30

%

Ja
pa

ne
se

Y
en

S
w

ed
is

h
K

ro
na

N
or

ew
gi

an
K

ro
ne

E
ur

o
C

an
ad

ia
n

D
ol

la
r

D
an

is
h

K
ro

ne
B

rit
is

h
P

ou
nd

A
us

tra
lia

n
D

ol
la

r
S

w
is

s
Fr

an
c

N
ew

Ze
al

an
d

D
ol

la
r

%
O

ve
r/U

nd
er

Va
lu

ed

R
el

at
iv

e
PP

P
-M

aj
or

s
vs

U
SD

So
ur

ce
:B

lo
om

be
rg

-5
2.

1%

-4
4.

8%

-2
8.

0%

-1
3.

6%

-1
3.

5%

-1
1.

7%

-7
.8

%

5.
3%

9.
7%

17
.1

%

-6
0%

-5
0%

-4
0%

-3
0%

-2
0%

-1
0%

0%
10

%
20

%
30

%

S
w

ed
is

h
K

ro
na

Ja
pa

ne
se

Y
en

N
or

ew
gi

an
K

ro
ne

E
ur

o
C

an
ad

ia
n

D
ol

la
r

D
an

is
h

K
ro

ne
U

ni
te

d
S

ta
te

s
D

ol
la

r
A

us
tra

lia
n

D
ol

la
r

S
w

is
s

Fr
an

c
N

ew
Ze

al
an

d
D

ol
la

r

%
O

ve
r/U

nd
er

Va
lu

ed

R
el

at
iv

e
PP

P
-M

aj
or

s
vs

G
B

P

So
ur

ce
:B

lo
om

be
rg

Page 152



M
ER

C
ER

M
aj

or
Fo

re
ig

n
E

xc
ha

ng
e

C
ro

ss
R

at
es

31

0.
8

0.
9

1.
0

1.
1

1.
2

1.
3

1.
4

1.
5

1.
6 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

EU
R

/U
SD

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

5010
0

15
0

20
0

25
0

30
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

JP
Y/

U
SD

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

1.
0

1.
3

1.
6

1.
9

2.
2

2.
5 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

G
B

P/
U

SD

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

0.
5

0.
6

0.
7

0.
8

0.
9

1.
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

EU
R

//G
B

P

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

Page 153



M
ER

C
ER

M
aj

or
N

om
in

al
E

ffe
ct

iv
e

E
xc

ha
ng

e
R

at
es

32

70809010
0

11
0

12
0

13
0

14
0

15
0

16
0

17
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

U
SD

N
om

in
al

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e
Ex

ch
an

ge
R

at
e

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

70809010
0

11
0

12
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

EU
R

N
om

in
al

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e
Ex

ch
an

ge
R

at
e

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

507510
0

12
5

15
0

17
5

20
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

JP
Y

N
om

in
al

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e
Ex

ch
an

ge
Ra

te

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

70758085909510
0

10
5

11
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

G
B

P
N

om
in

al
Ef

fe
ct

iv
e

Ex
ch

an
ge

R
at

e

S
ou

rc
e:

B
an

k
of

E
ng

la
nd

,
D

at
as

tre
am

Page 154



M
ER

C
ER

M
aj

or
R

ea
lE

ffe
ct

iv
e

E
xc

ha
ng

e
R

at
es

33

70809010
0

11
0

12
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

U
SD

R
ea

lE
ffe

ct
iv

e
Ex

ch
an

ge
R

at
e

S
ou

rc
e:

JP
M

or
ga

n,
D

at
as

tre
am

9010
0

11
0

12
0

13
0

14
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

EU
R

R
ea

lE
ffe

ct
iv

e
Ex

ch
an

ge
R

at
e

S
ou

rc
e:

JP
M

or
ga

n,
D

at
as

tre
am

506070809010
0

11
0

12
0

13
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

JP
Y

R
ea

lE
ffe

ct
iv

e
Ex

ch
an

ge
R

at
e

S
ou

rc
e:

JP
M

or
ga

n,
D

at
as

tre
am

70809010
0

11
0

12
0 19

80
19

84
19

88
19

92
19

96
20

00
20

04
20

08
20

12

G
B

P
R

ea
lE

ffe
ct

iv
e

Ex
ch

an
ge

R
at

e

S
ou

rc
e:

JP
M

or
ga

n,
D

at
as

tre
am

Page 155



M
ER

C
ER

M
er

ce
rD

A
A

S
ig

na
ls

Fo
llo

w
in

g
a

m
ee

tin
g

of
th

e
G

lo
ba

lD
AA

te
am

in
Ap

ril
20

12
,i

th
as

be
en

de
ci

de
d

to
ch

an
ge

th
e

no
m

en
cl

at
ur

e
of

th
e

D
AA

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

fro
m

a
va

lu
at

io
n-

ba
se

d
to

a
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

-b
as

ed
si

gn
al

.T
he

fo
rm

er
si

gn
al

s
of

“F
ai

rV
al

ue
”,

“O
ve

rv
al

ue
d”

,a
nd

“U
nd

er
va

lu
ed

”(
an

d
th

ei
r“

Ex
tre

m
e”

eq
ui

va
le

nt
s)

w
ill

be
re

pl
ac

ed
by

“N
eu

tra
l”,

“U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e”

an
d

“A
ttr

ac
tiv

e”
re

sp
ec

tiv
el

y
(w

ith
,o

nc
e

ag
ai

n,
“E

xt
re

m
e”

va
ria

nt
s

w
he

n
ap

pr
op

ria
te

).

R
at

io
na

le

M
er

ce
r’s

D
AA

se
rv

ic
e

be
ga

n
as

a
va

lu
at

io
n

ba
se

d
se

rv
ic

e,
to

w
ar

n
cl

ie
nt

s
w

he
n

as
se

tc
la

ss
es

w
er

e
pe

rc
ei

ve
d

to
be

m
ov

in
g

aw
ay

fro
m

lo
ng

te
rm

eq
ui

lib
riu

m
va

lu
es

.H
ow

ev
er

,
cl

ie
nt

s
ar

e
in

cr
ea

si
ng

ly
lo

ok
in

g
to

ut
ili

se
D

AA
si

gn
al

s
to

ad
ju

st
th

ei
rs

tra
te

gi
c

as
se

ta
llo

ca
tio

n
in

or
de

rt
o

en
ha

nc
e

re
tu

rn
s

or
re

du
ce

pe
rc

ei
ve

d
ris

ks
.

C
le

ar
ly

,t
he

m
os

ti
m

po
rta

nt
pa

ra
m

et
er

w
he

n
co

ns
id

er
in

g
til

tin
g

a
po

rtf
ol

io
is

th
e

ex
pe

ct
ed

re
tu

rn
of

th
e

as
se

to
ve

rt
he

tim
e

ho
riz

on
of

th
e

an
al

ys
is

(a
lth

ou
gh

th
e

pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
di

st
rib

ut
io

n
of

su
ch

ex
pe

ct
ed

re
tu

rn
s,

an
d

pa
rti

cu
la

rly
do

w
ns

id
e

ris
ks

,a
re

al
so

re
le

va
nt

).
As

D
AA

is
ai

m
ed

at
m

ed
iu

m
te

rm
tim

ef
ra

m
es

(1
to

3
ye

ar
s)

,v
al

ua
tio

n
is

th
e

m
os

t
im

po
rta

nt
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n

in
de

te
rm

in
in

g
su

ch
re

tu
rn

s,
bu

ti
ti

s
no

tt
he

on
ly

fa
ct

or
th

at
sh

ou
ld

be
co

ns
id

er
ed

.A
lth

ou
gh

w
el

l-c
ho

se
n

va
lu

at
io

n
va

ria
bl

es
ar

e
ge

ne
ra

lly
m

ea
n

re
ve

rti
ng

ov
er

th
e

lo
ng

te
rm

,i
tc

an
ta

ke
a

ve
ry

lo
ng

tim
e

(1
0

to
20

ye
ar

s)
fo

ra
pr

oc
es

s
ba

se
d

on
va

lu
at

io
n

al
on

e
to

ad
d

va
lu

e.

In
or

de
rt

o
de

ve
lo

p
si

gn
al

s
th

at
w

ill
ad

d
va

lu
e

ov
er

tim
ef

ra
m

es
m

or
e

su
ita

bl
e

fo
rc

lie
nt

s,
M

er
ce

rs
up

pl
em

en
ts

its
va

lu
at

io
n

an
al

ys
is

w
ith

ot
he

rf
ac

to
rs

w
hi

ch
w

e
be

lie
ve

in
flu

en
ce

as
se

tr
et

ur
ns

in
th

e
sh

or
tt

o
m

ed
iu

m
te

rm
.T

he
in

flu
en

ce
of

th
e

bu
si

ne
ss

cy
cl

e
on

as
se

tv
al

ua
tio

ns
is

w
id

el
y

re
co

gn
is

ed
(p

ar
tly

du
e

to
th

e
in

flu
en

ce
of

th
e

cy
cl

e
on

th
e

in
pu

ts
to

va
lu

at
io

n
ra

tio
s)

an
d

w
e

an
al

ys
e

th
e

ec
on

om
ic

ou
tlo

ok
to

as
se

ss
ho

w
th

es
e

fa
ct

or
s

m
ig

ht
in

flu
en

ce
m

ar
ke

tp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

.

W
e

de
sc

rib
e

th
es

e
as

C
yc

lic
al

Fa
ct

or
s.

W
e

al
so

re
co

gn
is

e
be

ha
vi

ou
ra

li
nf

lu
en

ce
s

on
fin

an
ci

al
m

ar
ke

ts
,a

nd
co

ns
id

er
bo

th
se

nt
im

en
ta

nd
in

ve
st

or
po

si
tio

ni
ng

(S
en

tim
en

tF
ac

to
rs

)b
ef

or
e

w
e

re
ac

h
a

fin
al

de
ci

si
on

on
ou

rD
AA

si
gn

al
.T

hu
s

w
e

de
sc

rib
e

ou
ro

ve
ra

ll
D

AA
vi

ew
s

as
“v

al
ua

tio
n

in
flu

en
ce

d”
,b

ut
no

t“
va

lu
at

io
n

dr
iv

en
”.

In
or

de
rt

o
re

fle
ct

th
es

e
ot

he
rf

ac
to

rs
th

at
ar

e
ta

ke
n

in
to

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n
w

he
n

fo
rm

in
g

ou
rD

AA
vi

ew
s,

w
e

be
lie

ve
it

is
ap

pr
op

ria
te

to
ch

an
ge

th
e

na
m

es
of

th
e

si
gn

al
s

in
or

de
rt

o
av

oi
d

am
bi

gu
ity

.

D
ef

in
iti

on
s

O
ur

D
AA

si
gn

al
s

ar
e

in
te

nd
ed

to
pr

ov
id

e
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
th

at
w

ill
as

si
st

ou
rc

lie
nt

s
to

ad
ju

st
th

e
St

ra
te

gi
c

As
se

tA
llo

ca
tio

n
of

th
ei

rp
or

tfo
lio

s
to

ad
d

va
lu

e
in

th
e

m
ed

iu
m

te
rm

.S
in

ce
ou

rl
on

g
te

rm
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
ar

e
em

be
dd

ed
in

cl
ie

nt
s’

st
ra

te
gi

c
al

lo
ca

tio
ns

,i
ti

s
de

vi
at

io
ns

fro
m

th
es

e
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
th

at
w

ou
ld

ca
us

e
us

to
re

co
m

m
en

d
ch

an
ge

s
to

th
e

po
rtf

ol
io

.
Th

us
,o

ur
re

tu
rn

ba
se

d
si

gn
al

s
ar

e
ba

se
d

on
th

e
ex

pe
ct

ed
as

se
tc

la
ss

re
tu

rn
s

re
la

tiv
e

to
ou

rl
on

g
te

rm
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
.F

or
ex

am
pl

e,
an

“A
ttr

ac
tiv

e”
as

se
ti

s
on

e
w

he
re

w
e

ex
pe

ct
th

e
re

tu
rn

on
th

e
as

se
tt

o
ex

ce
ed

its
lo

ng
te

rm
eq

ui
lib

riu
m

re
tu

rn
ov

er
th

e
ne

xt
on

e
to

th
re

e
ye

ar
s.

W
e

w
ill

co
nt

in
ue

to
de

ve
lo

p
ou

rD
AA

an
al

ys
is

to
re

fin
e

an
d

de
ve

lo
p

ou
rr

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
in

or
de

rt
o

pr
ov

id
e

th
e

be
st

ad
vi

ce
to

ou
rc

lie
nt

s.

34

Page 156



M
ER

C
ER

M
er

ce
r’s

lo
ng

te
rm

as
se

tc
la

ss
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
–

as
at

31
D

ec
em

be
r2

01
4

35

1
Ar

ith
m

et
ic

m
ea

n
re

tu
rn

-t
he

an
nu

al
is

ed
re

tu
rn

w
hi

ch
gi

ve
s

th
e

av
er

ag
e

ex
pe

ct
ed

£
as

se
tv

al
ue

.

Th
e

ta
bl

e
sh

ow
s

ou
rc

en
tra

lc
ap

ita
lm

ar
ke

ta
ss

um
pt

io
ns

fo
ra

10
ye

ar
pe

rio
d

be
gi

nn
in

g
31

D
ec

em
be

r2
01

4.
A

ss
et

cl
as

s
re

tu
rn

s
in

th
e

m
od

el
ar

e
no

tn
or

m
al

ly
di

st
rib

ut
ed

an
d

th
us

th
e

‘m
ea

n-
va

ria
nc

e’
st

at
is

tic
s

do
no

tf
ul

ly
de

fin
e

th
ei

rd
is

tri
bu

tio
n.

As
se

tC
la

ss
Eq

ui
lib

riu
m

R
et

ur
n

1

(%
p.

a.
)

St
an

da
rd

D
ev

ia
tio

n
(%

p.
a.

)
D

ev
el

op
ed

G
lo

ba
lE

qu
ity

5.
8

17
.4

E
m

er
gi

ng
M

ar
ke

tE
qu

ity
7.

5
29

.5

Lo
w

Vo
la

til
ity

E
qu

ity
5.

3
14

.0

G
lo

ba
lS

m
al

lC
ap

E
qu

ity
7.

1
22

.9

U
K

C
as

h
2.

0
4.

6

Fi
xe

d
in

te
re

st
gi

lts
(a

ll
st

oc
ks

)
1.

8
3.

7

C
or

e
E

ur
oz

on
e

G
ov

er
nm

en
tB

on
ds

(>
5

ye
ar

s)
1.

9
6.

8

In
de

x-
lin

ke
d

gi
lts

(>
5

ye
ar

s)
1.

5
8.

3

N
on

-G
ov

er
nm

en
tB

on
ds

(£
A

ll-
S

to
ck

s)
2.

7
3.

6

N
on

-G
ov

er
nm

en
tB

on
ds

(€
A

ll-
S

to
ck

s)
2.

9
3.

6

H
ig

h
Yi

el
d

D
eb

t
4.

5
9.

2

E
m

er
gi

ng
M

ar
ke

tD
eb

t
5.

1
13

.3

H
ed

ge
Fu

nd
s

4.
0

8.
2

P
riv

at
e

E
qu

ity
8.

2
24

.2

U
K

P
ro

pe
rty

4.
9

15
.1

Page 157



M
ER

C
ER

R
at

in
gs

ch
an

ge
s

ov
er

th
e

la
st

tw
o

ye
ar

s

36
Va

lu
at

io
n

Sc
al

e:
Ex

tre
m

el
y

At
tra

ct
iv

e
At

tra
ct

iv
e

N
eu

tra
l

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

Ex
tre

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e,
Sh

ad
ed

Ite
m

s
re

pr
es

en
tv

ie
w

s
th

at
ha

ve
ch

an
ge

d
fro

m
th

e
pr

ev
io

us
m

ee
tin

g

A
ss

et
C

la
ss

Ju
l2

01
3

O
ct

20
13

Ja
n

20
14

A
pr

il
20

14
Ju

ly
20

14
O

ct
20

14
Ja

n
20

15
A

pr
il

20
15

Fi
xe

d
In

te
re

st
G

ilt
s

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

In
de

x-
Li

nk
ed

G
ilt

s
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e

Eu
ro

zo
ne

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

Bo
nd

s
E

xt
re

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
E

xt
re

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
E

xt
re

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e
E

xt
re

m
el

y
U

na
ttr

ac
tiv

e

No
n-

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

B
on

ds
(£

A
ll-

St
oc

ks
)

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

No
n-

G
ov

er
nm

en
t

B
on

ds
(€

A
ll-

St
oc

ks
)

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

E
xt

re
m

el
y

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

G
lo

ba
lE

qu
iti

es
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

N
eu

tra
l

Em
er

gi
ng

M
ar

ke
t

Eq
ui

tie
s

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

Sm
al

lC
ap

Eq
ui

tie
s

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

Lo
w

Vo
la

til
ity

Eq
ui

tie
s

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

UK
Pr

op
er

ty
N

eu
tra

l
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l

Hi
gh

yi
el

d
bo

nd
s

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

N
eu

tra
l

N
eu

tra
l

Lo
ca

lc
ur

re
nc

y
em

er
gi

ng
m

ar
ke

t
de

bt
N

eu
tra

l
A

ttr
ac

tiv
e

A
ttr

ac
tiv

e
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l
N

eu
tra

l

UK
C

as
h

n/
a

n/
a

n/
a

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

U
na

ttr
ac

tiv
e

Page 158



M
ER

C
ER

Im
po

rta
nt

N
ot

ic
es

R
ef

er
en

ce
s

to
M

er
ce

r
sh

al
lb

e
co

ns
tru

ed
to

in
cl

ud
e

M
er

ce
r

LL
C

an
d/

or
its

as
so

ci
at

ed
co

m
pa

ni
es

.
©

20
15

M
er

ce
r

LL
C

.A
ll

rig
ht

s
re

se
rv

ed
.

Th
is

co
nt

ai
ns

co
nf

id
en

tia
la

nd
pr

op
rie

ta
ry

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

of
M

er
ce

r
an

d
is

in
te

nd
ed

fo
rt

he
ex

cl
us

iv
e

us
e

of
th

e
pa

rti
es

to
w

ho
m

it
w

as
pr

ov
id

ed
by

M
er

ce
r.

Its
co

nt
en

t
m

ay
no

tb
e

m
od

ifi
ed

,
so

ld
or

ot
he

rw
is

e
pr

ov
id

ed
,

in
w

ho
le

or
in

pa
rt,

to
an

y
ot

he
r

pe
rs

on
or

en
tit

y,
w

ith
ou

t
M

er
ce

r’s
pr

io
r

w
rit

te
n

pe
rm

is
si

on
.

Th
e

fin
di

ng
s,

ra
tin

gs
an

d/
or

op
in

io
ns

ex
pr

es
se

d
he

re
in

ar
e

th
e

in
te

lle
ct

ua
lp

ro
pe

rty
of

M
er

ce
r

an
d

ar
e

su
bj

ec
t

to
ch

an
ge

w
ith

ou
t

no
tic

e.
Th

ey
ar

e
no

ti
nt

en
de

d
to

co
nv

ey
an

y
gu

ar
an

te
es

as
to

th
e

fu
tu

re
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

of
th

e
in

ve
st

m
en

t
pr

od
uc

ts
,a

ss
et

cl
as

se
s

or
ca

pi
ta

l
m

ar
ke

ts
di

sc
us

se
d.

P
as

tp
er

fo
rm

an
ce

do
es

no
tg

ua
ra

nt
ee

fu
tu

re
re

su
lts

.M
er

ce
r’s

ra
tin

gs
do

no
tc

on
st

itu
te

in
di

vi
du

al
iz

ed
in

ve
st

m
en

t
ad

vi
ce

.
In

fo
rm

at
io

n
co

nt
ai

ne
d

he
re

in
ha

s
be

en
ob

ta
in

ed
fro

m
a

ra
ng

e
of

th
ird

pa
rty

so
ur

ce
s.

W
hi

le
th

e
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
is

be
lie

ve
d

to
be

re
lia

bl
e,

M
er

ce
r

ha
s

no
ts

ou
gh

t
to

ve
rif

y
it

in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

.
A

s
su

ch
,M

er
ce

r
m

ak
es

no
re

pr
es

en
ta

tio
ns

or
w

ar
ra

nt
ie

s
as

to
th

e
ac

cu
ra

cy
of

th
e

in
fo

rm
at

io
n

pr
es

en
te

d
an

d
ta

ke
s

no
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y

or
lia

bi
lit

y
(in

cl
ud

in
g

fo
ri

nd
ire

ct
,

co
ns

eq
ue

nt
ia

l
or

in
ci

de
nt

al
da

m
ag

es
),

fo
ra

ny
er

ro
r,

om
is

si
on

or
in

ac
cu

ra
cy

in
th

e
da

ta
su

pp
lie

d
by

an
y

th
ird

pa
rty

.

Th
is

do
es

no
tc

on
st

itu
te

an
of

fe
r

or
a

so
lic

ita
tio

n
of

an
of

fe
r

to
bu

y
or

se
ll

se
cu

rit
ie

s,
co

m
m

od
iti

es
an

d/
or

an
y

ot
he

r
fin

an
ci

al
in

st
ru

m
en

ts
or

pr
od

uc
ts

or
co

ns
tit

ut
e

a
so

lic
ita

tio
n

on
be

ha
lf

of
an

y
of

th
e

in
ve

st
m

en
t

m
an

ag
er

s,
th

ei
r

af
fil

ia
te

s,
pr

od
uc

ts
or

st
ra

te
gi

es
th

at
M

er
ce

r
m

ay
ev

al
ua

te
or

re
co

m
m

en
d.

Fo
r

th
e

m
os

tr
ec

en
t

ap
pr

ov
ed

ra
tin

gs
of

an
in

ve
st

m
en

t
st

ra
te

gy
,

an
d

a
fu

lle
r

ex
pl

an
at

io
n

of
th

ei
r

m
ea

ni
ng

s,
co

nt
ac

t
yo

ur
M

er
ce

r
re

pr
es

en
ta

tiv
e.

Fo
r

M
er

ce
r’s

co
nf

lic
to

fi
nt

er
es

t
di

sc
lo

su
re

s,
co

nt
ac

t
yo

ur
M

er
ce

r
re

pr
es

en
ta

tiv
e

or
se

e
w

w
w

.m
er

ce
r.c

om
/c

on
fli

ct
so

fin
te

re
st

.

TH
E

FO
LL

O
W

IN
G

PR
O

VI
SI

O
N

S
A

PP
LY

TO
D

AT
A

O
R

O
TH

ER
SE

R
VI

C
ES

PR
O

VI
D

ED
B

Y
TH

E
FO

LL
O

W
IN

G
C

O
M

PA
N

IE
S

:
W

he
re

“E
nd

U
se

r”
ap

pe
ar

s
be

fo
re

th
e

Ve
nd

or
na

m
e,

a
di

re
ct

en
d-

us
er

lic
en

se
w

ith
th

e
V

en
do

r
is

re
qu

ire
d

to
re

ce
iv

e
so

m
e

in
di

ce
s.

Yo
u

ar
e

re
sp

on
si

bl
e

fo
r

en
su

rin
g

yo
u

ha
ve

in
pl

ac
e

al
ls

uc
h

lic
en

se
s

as
ar

e
re

qu
ire

d
by

V
en

do
rs

.
B

A
R

C
LA

Y
S:

©
B

ar
cl

ay
s

B
an

k
P

LC
20

14
.

Th
is

da
ta

is
pr

ov
id

ed
by

Ba
rc

la
ys

Ba
nk

PL
C

.
Ba

rc
la

ys
B

an
k

P
LC

an
d

its
af

fil
ia

te
d

co
m

pa
ni

es
ac

ce
pt

no
lia

bi
lit

y
fo

r
th

e
ac

cu
ra

cy
,

tim
el

in
es

s
or

co
m

pl
et

en
es

s
of

su
ch

da
ta

w
hi

ch
is

pr
ov

id
ed

“a
s

is
.”

Al
lw

ar
ra

nt
ie

s
in

re
la

tio
n

to
su

ch
da

ta
ar

e
he

re
by

ex
te

nd
ed

to
th

e
fu

lle
st

ex
te

nt
pe

rm
itt

ed
un

de
r

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
la

w
.

B
A

R
C

LA
Y

S
C

A
PI

TA
L:

Th
e

B
ar

cl
ay

s
In

di
ce

s
ar

e
a

pr
op

rie
ta

ry
pr

od
uc

t
of

B
ar

cl
ay

s.
B

ar
cl

ay
s

sh
al

lm
ai

nt
ai

n
ex

cl
us

iv
e

ow
ne

rs
hi

p
of

an
d

rig
ht

s
to

th
e

B
ar

cl
ay

s
In

di
ce

s
an

d
th

at
in

cl
us

io
n

of
th

e
B

ar
cl

ay
s

In
di

ce
s

in
th

is
S

er
vi

ce
sh

al
ln

ot
be

co
ns

tru
ed

to
ve

st
in

th
e

su
bs

cr
ib

er
an

y
rig

ht
s

w
ith

re
sp

ec
t

to
th

e
In

di
ce

s.
Th

e
su

bs
cr

ib
er

ag
re

es
th

at
it

w
ill

no
t

re
m

ov
e

an
y

co
py

rig
ht

no
tic

e
or

ot
he

r
no

tif
ic

at
io

n
or

tra
de

na
m

e
or

m
ar

ks
of

B
ar

cl
ay

s
th

at
m

ay
ap

pe
ar

in
th

e
Ba

rc
la

ys
In

di
ce

s
an

d
th

at
an

y
re

pr
od

uc
tio

n
an

d/
or

di
st

rib
ut

io
n

of
th

e
B

ar
cl

ay
s

In
di

ce
s

(if
au

th
or

iz
ed

)
sh

al
lc

on
ta

in
su

ch
no

tic
es

an
d/

or
m

ar
ks

.

B
LO

O
M

B
ER

G
L.

P.
:

©
20

14
B

lo
om

be
rg

L.
P

.
A

ll
rig

ht
s

re
se

rv
ed

.
B

LO
O

M
B

E
R

G
,

B
LO

O
M

B
E

R
G

P
R

O
FE

S
S

IO
N

A
L,

B
LO

O
M

B
E

R
G

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L
M

A
R

K
E

TS
,B

LO
O

M
B

E
R

G
N

E
W

S
,B

LO
O

M
B

E
R

G
TR

A
D

E
M

A
R

K
,B

LO
O

M
B

E
R

G
B

O
N

D
TR

A
D

E
R

,A
N

D
B

LO
O

M
B

E
R

G
TE

LE
V

IS
IO

N
ar

e
tra

de
m

ar
ks

an
d

se
rv

ic
e

m
ar

ks
of

B
lo

om
be

rg
L.

P
.a

D
el

aw
ar

e
Li

m
ite

d
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
.

IB
N

Y
M

el
lo

n
As

se
t

Se
rv

ic
in

g:
S

ou
rc

e:
©

20
14

BN
Y

M
el

lo
n

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

R
is

k
an

d
An

al
yt

ic
s,

LL
C

.
A

ll
R

ig
ht

s
R

es
er

ve
d.

C
IT

IG
R

O
U

P
G

LO
B

A
L

M
A

R
K

ET
S

(fo
rm

er
ly

SA
LO

M
O

N
SM

IT
H

B
A

R
N

EY
):

S
m

ith
B

ar
ne

ysm
an

d
C

iti
gr

ou
p

G
lo

ba
lE

qu
ity

In
de

xsm
ar

e
se

rv
ic

e
m

ar
ks

of
C

iti
gr

ou
p

In
c.

"B
E

C
A

U
S

E
A

C
C

U
R

A
C

Y
C

O
U

N
TS

®
"i

s
a

re
gi

st
er

ed
se

rv
ic

e
m

ar
k

of
C

iti
gr

ou
p

In
c.

Fl
oa

tW
at

ch
©

is
a

tra
de

m
ar

k
of

C
iti

gr
ou

p
In

c.
C

iti
gr

ou
p

G
lo

ba
lE

qu
ity

In
de

x
S

ys
te

m
sm

,C
iti

gr
ou

p
B

ro
ad

M
ar

ke
t

In
de

xsm
,

C
iti

gr
ou

p
P

rim
ar

y
M

ar
ke

t
In

de
xsm

,
C

iti
gr

ou
p

E
xt

en
de

d
M

ar
ke

t
In

de
xsm

,
C

iti
gr

ou
p

C
ap

-R
an

ge
In

de
xsm

,
C

iti
gr

ou
p

In
te

rn
et

In
de

x
(N

IX
)sm

,C
iti

gr
ou

p
S

ty
le

In
di

ce
s

(G
ro

w
th

/V
al

ue
)sm

,
C

iti
gr

ou
p

P
ro

pe
rty

In
de

xsm
ar

e
se

rv
ic

e
m

ar
ks

of
C

iti
gr

ou
p

In
c.

©
20

14
C

iti
gr

ou
p

In
c

Al
lr

ig
ht

s
re

se
rv

ed
.

An
y

un
au

th
or

iz
ed

us
e,

du
pl

ic
at

io
n

or
di

sc
lo

su
re

is
pr

oh
ib

ite
d

by
la

w
an

d
m

ay
re

su
lt

in
pr

os
ec

ut
io

n.
C

iti
gr

ou
p,

in
cl

ud
in

g
its

pa
re

nt
,

su
bs

id
ia

rie
s

an
d/

or
af

fil
ia

te
s

("
th

e
Fi

rm
")

,u
su

al
ly

m
ak

es
a

m
ar

ke
t

in
th

e
se

cu
rit

ie
s

di
sc

us
se

d
or

re
co

m
m

en
de

d
in

its
re

po
rt

an
d

m
ay

se
ll

to
or

bu
y

fro
m

cu
st

om
er

s,
as

pr
in

ci
pa

l,
se

cu
rit

ie
s

di
sc

us
se

d
or

re
co

m
m

en
de

d
in

its
re

po
rt.

Th
e

Fi
rm

or
em

pl
oy

ee
s

pr
ep

ar
in

g
its

re
po

rt
m

ay
ha

ve
a

po
si

tio
n

in
se

cu
rit

ie
s

or
op

tio
ns

of
an

y
co

m
pa

ny
di

sc
us

se
d

or
re

co
m

m
en

de
d

in
its

re
po

rt.
A

n
em

pl
oy

ee
of

th
e

Fi
rm

m
ay

be
a

di
re

ct
or

of
a

co
m

pa
ny

di
sc

us
se

d
or

re
co

m
m

en
de

d
in

its
re

po
rt.

Th
e

Fi
rm

m
ay

pe
rfo

rm
or

so
lic

it
in

ve
st

m
en

t
ba

nk
in

g
or

ot
he

r
se

rv
ic

es
fro

m
an

y
co

m
pa

ny
di

sc
us

se
d

or
re

co
m

m
en

de
d

in
its

re
po

rt.
S

ec
ur

iti
es

re
co

m
m

en
de

d,
of

fe
re

d,
or

so
ld

by
SS

B:
(i)

ar
e

no
ti

ns
ur

ed
by

th
e

Fe
de

ra
l

D
ep

os
it

In
su

ra
nc

e
C

or
po

ra
tio

n;
(ii

)a
re

no
td

ep
os

its
or

ot
he

r
ob

lig
at

io
ns

of
an

y
in

su
re

d
de

po
si

to
ry

in
st

itu
tio

n
(in

cl
ud

in
g

C
iti

ba
nk

);
an

d
(ii

i)
ar

e
su

bj
ec

tt
o

in
ve

st
m

en
t

ris
ks

,i
nc

lu
di

ng
th

e
po

ss
ib

le
lo

ss
of

th
e

pr
in

ci
pa

la
m

ou
nt

in
ve

st
ed

.
A

lth
ou

gh
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
ha

s
be

en
ob

ta
in

ed
fro

m
an

d
is

ba
se

d
up

on
so

ur
ce

s
S

SB
be

lie
ve

s
to

be
re

lia
bl

e,
w

e
do

no
tg

ua
ra

nt
ee

its
ac

cu
ra

cy
an

d
it

m
ay

be
in

co
m

pl
et

e
or

co
nd

en
se

d.
Al

lo
pi

ni
on

s
an

d
es

tim
at

es
co

ns
tit

ut
e

S
S

B
’s

ju
dg

m
en

t
as

of
th

e
da

te
of

th
e

re
po

rt
an

d
ar

e
su

bj
ec

t
to

ch
an

ge
w

ith
ou

t
no

tic
e.

Its
re

po
rt

is
fo

r
in

fo
rm

at
io

na
l

pu
rp

os
es

on
ly

an
d

is
no

ti
nt

en
de

d
as

an
of

fe
r

or
so

lic
ita

tio
n

fo
rt

he
pu

rc
ha

se
or

sa
le

of
a

se
cu

rit
y.

Its
re

po
rt

do
es

no
tt

ak
e

in
to

ac
co

un
t

th
e

in
ve

st
m

en
t

ob
je

ct
iv

es
or

fin
an

ci
al

si
tu

at
io

n
of

an
y

pa
rti

cu
la

r
pe

rs
on

.
In

ve
st

or
s

sh
ou

ld
ob

ta
in

ad
vi

ce
ba

se
d

on
th

ei
r

ow
n

in
di

vi
du

al
ci

rc
um

st
an

ce
s

be
fo

re
m

ak
in

g
an

in
ve

st
m

en
t

de
ci

si
on

.

37

Page 159



38

Page 160



Mercer Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority
Registered in England No. 984275 Registered Office: 1 Tower Place West, Tower Place, London EC3R 5BU

Mercer Limited
One Christchurch Way
Woking GU21 6JG
+44 (0)1483 777 100

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

Section 1 - Proposed Rebalancing Policy  

 
Rebalancing Ranges 

1. Allocations to be kept within the appropriate rebalancing ranges set out in Table 
1.  The neutral range is the range within which the allocation can move before 
any rebalancing is required, regardless of whether the asset class is deemed 
attractive or unattractive.   

2. If the asset outlook is deemed attractive, then the allocation can be higher than 
the higher band of the neutral range but it cannot be below the lower band of 
the neutral range (as per the “Attractive” column in Table 1).  

If the asset outlook is deemed unattractive, then the allocation can be lower 
than the lower band of the neutral range but it cannot be higher than the higher 
band of the neutral range (as per the “Unattractive” column in Table 1). 

3. Where allocations breach the neutral rebalancing range boundary, action will be 
taken to rebalance to the benchmark allocation, unless it is decided that the 
outlook for an asset class is judged to be materially attractive or unattractive to 
warrant the use of a wider rebalancing range as set out in Table 1. 

 
Table 1: Rebalancing Ranges 

Asset class Benchmark 

Permitted 
Range 

Neutral 
rebalancing 

range 

“Unattractive” 
rebalancing 

range 

"Attractive” 
rebalancing 

range SIP 

Growth assets 80% 65-85% +/- 3% 65%-83% 77%-85% 

Equities 50% 45-55% +/- 2% 45%-52% 48%-55% 

Developed 40% 35-45% +/- 2% 35%-42% 38%-45% 

Emerging 10% 5-15% +/- 1% 5%-11% 9%-15% 

Diversified Growth 
Funds 

10% 5-15% +/- 2% 5%-12% 8%-15% 

Illiquid Growth, of 
which: 

20% 15-25% - N/A N/A 

Hedge Funds 5% 0-7.5% - N/A N/A 

Property 10% 5-15% - N/A N/A 

Infrastructure 5% 0-7.5% - N/A N/A 

Other Growth 0% 0-5% 
Depends on 
investment 

N/A N/A 

Stabilising Assets 20% 15-35% +/- 3% 15%-23% 17%-35% 

Government Bonds 3% 0-10% +/- 1% 0%-4% 2%-10% 

Index Linked Bonds 6% 3-10% +/- 1% 3%-7% 5%-10% 

Corporate Bonds 8% 4-20% +/- 2% 4%-10% 6%-20% 

Other Bonds 3% 0-5% 
Depends on 
investment 

N/A N/A 

Cash 0% 0-5% - N/A N/A 

 

 

 

Page 163



Appendix 3 

Illiquid and Other Allocations 

4. Illiquid asset classes will be allowed to vary within the permitted range (as per 
Table 1).  

5. The Panel will review illiquid allocations when they breach the permitted range 
boundary and may do so as they approach the top or bottom of the permitted 
range but no more frequently than 6 monthly. The timeframe for any 
rebalancing of illiquid asset allocations will be made with due consideration for 
liquidity and transaction costs. 

6. Neutral rebalancing ranges for the opportunistic ‘other’ investments categories 
to be agreed on implementation of such investments. 

Section 2 – Policy Implementation 

Decision Making Process 

1. Rebalancing within the neutral rebalancing range will be implemented by 
Officers.  

2. To allow an allocation to remain outside of the neutral rebalancing range but 
within the relevant (attractive or unattractive) rebalancing range, the process is 
as follows: 

a. Investment Consultant view of outlook for the asset class must be either 
attractive or unattractive.  

b. Officers decide it may be beneficial to make use of the wider ranges as 
set out in Table 1.  

c. Confirmation advice is sought from Investment Consultant before 
allowing an allocation to remain outside of the neutral rebalancing range 
(but within the relevant attractive/unattractive rebalancing range). 

3. Any positions outside the neutral rebalancing range will be reviewed at Panel 
meetings. 

Implementation Considerations  

4. Rebalancing within equities and bonds will take account of performance (of 
active managers), cost and efficiency considerations.  

5. Net new money should be invested pro rata in line with the strategic policy, 
taking account of tactical positions, and net new money should be utilised first 
if a rebalancing is triggered.  

6. Any positions outside of the neutral rebalancing range will be reviewed at 
Panel meetings, and all rebalancing activity will be reported to Committee at 
the following quarterly meeting. 

7. This rebalancing policy is overridden by any triggers decided upon when an 
active tactical asset allocation is put in place on advice from the Investment 
Consultant. 

8. There may be exceptional circumstances where Officers and Advisors agree 
that the rebalancing framework should be suspended. Committee will be 
notified of such circumstances. 

 
For approval by Investment Panel, 18 November 2015 

Page 164



Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING: AVON PENSION FUND INVESTMENT PANEL

MEETING 
DATE: 18 NOVEMBER 2015

AGENDA
ITEM
NUMBER

TITLE: Review Of Investment Performance For Periods Ending 30 September 
2015

WARD: ALL
AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:
Appendix 1 – Fund Valuation
Appendix 2 – Mercer performance monitoring report (shortened version) 
Exempt Appendix 3 – RAG Monitoring Summary Report

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 This paper reports on the performance of the Fund’s investment managers and 
seeks to update the Panel on routine aspects of the Fund’s investments. The 
report contains performance statistics for period ending 30 September 2015.

1.2 The report focuses on the performance of the individual investment managers. 
The full performance report with aggregate investment and funding analysis will be 
reported to the Committee meeting on 11 December 2015.  

2 RECOMMENDATION

That the Investment Panel:

2.1 Notes the information as set out in the reports.

2.2 Identifies any issues to be notified to the Committee.                                              

1Page 165

Agenda Item 10



FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

2.3 The returns achieved by the Fund for the three years commencing 1 April 2013 
will impact the next triennial valuation which will be calculated as at 31 March 
2016. The returns quoted are net of investment management fees.

3 INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE 
A – Fund Performance  
3.1 The Fund’s assets decreased by £129m (return of c. -3.4%) in the quarter ending 

30 September 2015 giving a value for the investment Fund of £3,601m. Appendix 
1 provides a breakdown of the Fund valuation and allocation of monies by asset 
class and managers. 

3.2 All Equity markets produced negative returns over the quarter in Sterling terms.  
Emerging Markets was the worst performing region (-15.6%) whilst the UK All 
Share Index fell by -5.7%. Bond yields fell across all maturities leading to positive 
returns from Gilts 5.1% and Corporate Bonds 1%.    

3.3 The Fund’s overall performance relative to benchmarks is unavailable at the time 
of publishing. Full performance data will be reported to the Pensions Committee 
on 11 December 2015. 

B – Investment Manager Performance
3.4 A detailed report on the performance of each investment manager has been 

produced by Mercer – see pages 26 to 46 of Appendix 2. 
3.5 Jupiter, TT, Invesco, SSgA (Europe and Pacific), Genesis, BlackRock, RLAM and 

Schroders Property are all outperforming their three year performance targets. 
Signet, Gottex and Schroder global equity are underperforming their respective 3 
year targets. 

3.6 Exempt Appendix 3 summarises the latest Performance Monitoring Report used 
internally to monitor manager performance. The summary report highlights the 
managers that are rated Amber or Red, detailing the performance and/or 
organisational issue(s), how they are being monitored and any actions taken by 
officers and/or the Panel. This quarter 1 manager remains on an amber rating, 
Schroder global equity. There is an update on this in Exempt Appendix 3.  It 
should be noted that the Fund has terminated its mandate with Signet and Gottex. 

3.7 The Panel met with BlackRock, Royal London, Unigestion and Pyrford at a 
workshop on 9 November.

3.8 The Panel previously agreed that the Strategic Benchmark for Partners is to 
remain the IPD Global Benchmark whilst the mandate specific benchmark to be 
used is cash plus 4% from 1st October. This change will be implemented within the 
RAG reporting from Q4 onwards where Internal Rates of Return (IRR) will also be 
used to assess Partners performance as agreed. Mercer and Officers are satisfied 
that performance is in line with long term expectations based on current IRR’s.  

4 INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND PORTFOLIO REBALANCING
4.1 Fund of Hedge Funds: JPMorgan has recently been appointed to manage the 

Fund’s allocation to Hedge Funds via a bespoke arrangement. Two tranche 
payments have been invested with JPMorgan on 1 August and 1 October 2015.  

2Page 166



Further investments will be made as the proceeds from the terminating mandates 
are realised.  

4.2 Infrastructure: The Fund’s investments in infrastructure are awaiting drawdown by 
the manager IFM who anticipate the first tranche of funds being drawn down early 
2016.

4.3 Rebalancing: Following the second tranche payment to JPMorgan, the Equity (inc 
DGFs):Bond allocation is estimated to be 76.75: 23.25. This remains within the 
acceptable range requiring no action. A separate agenda item reviews the current 
rebalancing policy.

5 RISK MANAGEMENT 
5.1 The Avon Pension Fund Committee is the formal decision-making body for the 

Fund.  As such it has responsibility to ensure adequate risk management 
processes are in place.  A key risk to the Fund is that the investments fail to 
generate the returns required to meet the Fund’s future liabilities.  This risk is 
managed via the Asset Liability Study which determines the appropriate risk 
adjusted return profile (or strategic benchmark) for the Fund and through the 
selection process followed before managers are appointed.  This report monitors 
the performance of the investment managers.  The Investment Panel has been 
established to consider in greater detail investment performance and related 
matters and report back to the Committee on a regular basis.

6 EQUALITIES
6.1 An equalities impact assessment is not necessary as the report is primarily for 

information only.

7 CONSULTATION
7.1 This report is primarily for information and therefore consultation is not necessary.

8 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION
8.1 The issues to consider are contained in the report.

9 ADVICE SOUGHT
9.1 The Council’s Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director – Business Support) has 

had the opportunity to input to this report and has cleared it for publication.

Contact person Matt Betts, Assistant Investments Manager (Tel: 01225 
395420)

Background papers Data supplied by The WM Company

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format

3Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Passive 

Multi-

Asset

Active 

Bonds

Funds of 

Hedge 

Funds

In House 

Cash
TOTAL

Avon 

Asset 

Mix %

All figures in £m BlackRock TT Int'l
Jupiter 

(SRI)
Genesis Unigestion

Schroder 

Global
Invesco SSgA

Royal 

London
Pyrford

Standard 

Life

Schroder - 

UK

Partners - 

Overseas

Currency 

Hedging

EQUITIES

UK 198.1 186.1 158.2 36.3 578.7 16.07%

North America 201.3 110.9 312.1 8.7%

Europe 144.1 40.9 40.1 225.0 6.2%

Japan 35.1 18.3 39.5 92.9 2.6%

Pacific Rim 35.7 6.9 30.2 72.9 2.0%

Emerging Markets 132.4 161.6 16.8 0.0 310.8 8.6%

Global ex-UK 260.0 260.0 7.2%

Global inc-UK 17.9 17.9 0.5%

Total Overseas 416.2 0.0 0.0 132.4 161.6 193.8 260.0 109.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.9 1291.6 35.9%

Total Equities 614.3 186.1 158.2 132.4 161.6 230.1 260.0 109.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.9 1870.3 51.9%

DGFs 120.9 237.0 357.9 9.9%

BONDS

Index Linked Gilts 236.2 236.2 6.6%

Conventional Gilts 109.1 109.1 3.0%

Corporate Bonds 23.7 281.0 304.8 8.5%

Overseas Bonds 111.3 111.3 3.1%

Total Bonds 480.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 281.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 761.3 21.1%

Hedge Funds 157.3 157.3 4.4%

Property 177.4 150.5 327.8 9.1%

Cash 5.2 7.7 10.6 2.3 12.1 88.2 126.1 3.5%

TOTAL 1099.8 193.7 168.8 132.4 161.6 232.4 260.0 109.8 281.0 157.3 120.9 237.0 189.4 150.5 106.1 3600.7 100.0%

Property

AVON PENSION FUND VALUATION - 30 SEPTEMBER 2015

Active Equities
Enhanced 

Indexation
DGFs

P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NOVEMBER 2015

H E A L T H  W E A L T H  C A R E E R

A V O N  P E N S I O N  F U N D
P A N E L  I N V E S T M E N T
P E R F O R M A N C E  R E P O R T
Q U A R T E R  T O  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 5

P
age 171



© MERCER 2015 1

I M P O R T A N T  N O T I C E S

References to Mercer shall be construed to include Mercer LLC and/or its associated companies.
© 2015 Mercer LLC. All rights reserved.

This contains confidential and proprietary information of Mercer and is intended for the exclusive use of the parties to whom it was provided by Mercer. Its content may not be
modified, sold or otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity, without Mercer’s prior written permission.

The findings, ratings and/or opinions expressed herein are the intellectual property of Mercer and are subject to change without notice. They are not intended to convey any
guarantees as to the future performance of the investment products, asset classes or capital markets discussed.  Past performance does not guarantee future results. Mercer’s
ratings do not constitute individualized investment advice.

Information contained herein has been obtained from a range of third party sources. While the information is believed to be reliable, Mercer has not sought to verify it
independently. As such, Mercer makes no representations or warranties as to the accuracy of the information presented and takes no responsibility or liability (including for
indirect, consequential or incidental damages), for any error, omission or inaccuracy in the data supplied by any third party.

This does not contain regulated investment advice in respect of actions you should take. No investment decision should be made based on this information without obtaining prior
specific, professional advice relating to your own circumstances.

This does not constitute an offer or a solicitation of an offer to buy or sell securities, commodities and/or any other financial instruments or products or constitute a solicitation on
behalf of any of the investment managers, their affiliates, products or strategies that Mercer may evaluate or recommend.

For the most recent approved ratings of an investment strategy, and a fuller explanation of their meanings, contact your Mercer representative.

For Mercer’s conflict of interest disclosures, contact your Mercer representative or see www.mercer.com/conflictsofinterest.

Mercer’s universes are intended to provide collective samples of strategies that best allow for robust peer group comparisons over a chosen timeframe. Mercer does not assert
that the peer groups are wholly representative of and applicable to all strategies available to investors.

Please also note:

• The value of investments can go down as well as up and you may not get back the amount you have invested. In addition investments denominated in a foreign currency will
fluctuate with the value of the currency.

• The valuation of investments in property based portfolios, including forestry, is generally a matter of a valuer’s opinion, rather than fact.

• When there is no (or limited) recognised or secondary market, for example, but not limited to property, hedge funds, private equity, infrastructure, forestry, swap and other
derivative based funds or portfolios it may be difficult for you to obtain reliable information about the value of the investments or deal in the investments.

• Where the investment is via a fund of funds the investment manager typically has to rely on the underlying managers for valuations of the interests in their funds.

• Care should be taken when comparing private equity / infrastructure performance (which is generally a money-weighted performance) with quoted investment performance
(which is generally a time-weighted performance). Direct comparisons are not always possible.

P
age 172



© MERCER 2015 2

• Executive Summary 3

• Market Background 10

• Strategic Assumptions 13

• Fund Valuations 18

• Performance Summary 22

• Manager Performance 26

• Appendices 47

C O N T E N T S

P
age 173



© MERCER 2015 3
3

SECTION 1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

P
age 174



© MERCER 2015 4

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y

This report has been prepared for the Investment Panel of the Avon Pension Fund (“the Fund”), to assess the
performance and risks of the investment managers of the Fund.

Fund performance

• The value of the Fund’s assets decreased by £129m over the quarter, to £3,601m at 30 September 2015.

Strategy

• Global (developed) equity returns over the last three years at 11.3% p.a. have been significantly ahead of
the assumed strategic return of 8.25% p.a. from the strategic review in March 2013. We remain neutral in
our medium term outlook for developed market equities (over the next one to three years), and expect
returns to be more modest over the next three years.

• The three year return from emerging market equities has fallen back into negative territory at -2.2% p.a.
from 5.0% p.a. last quarter. The three year return remains well below the assumed strategic return (of
8.75% p.a.) as returns were affected by negative sentiment from fears of slowing growth in China and
uncertainty created by the threat of US interest rates being hiked. As for developed markets, we are
neutral in our medium term outlook for emerging market equities over the next one to three years.

• UK government bond returns over the three years to 30 September 2015 remain above the long term
strategic assumed returns (with fixed interest gilts returning 6.7% p.a. against an assumed return of 4.5%
p.a., and index-linked gilts returning 9.4% p.a. versus an assumed return of 4.25% p.a.) as investor
demand for gilts remains high. Whilst from an absolute return perspective government bonds remain
unattractive due to the low yields available, we continue to believe that their value in the context of the
overall portfolio is important from a liability risk management perspective.

P
age 175



© MERCER 2015 5

Strategy (continued)

• UK corporate bonds returned 5.1% p.a. over the three year period, falling behind their assumed return of
5.5% p.a., while property returns of 13.7% continue to be above the assumed strategic return of 7% p.a.,
driven by the economic recovery in the US and the UK.

• Hedge fund returns remain below long term averages and the strategic return of 6% p.a., as they are
affected by low cash rates.

• With most listed assets looking close to fully valued if not fully valued, we would expect ‘alpha’ driven
investments such as hedge funds and dynamic multi-asset strategies to play an increasingly important
role in return generation over the coming three years, particularly if ‘beta’ (i.e. market-driven) returns are
lower looking forward.  The same also applies to assets that are able to provide a relatively secure source
of income (e.g. Infrastructure, Property and Credit), as the overall return is less dependent on capital
appreciation.

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y

P
age 176



© MERCER 2015 6

Managers

• Absolute returns over the quarter were mixed but generally negative as equities produced negative
returns over the quarter.  Bond markets remained resilient over the quarter, with RLAM returning 0.8%.
The lowest absolute return was from Genesis, at -13.1%, however this was a positive relative return of
1.7% as emerging markets fell significantly over the quarter on the back of Chinese concerns and the
strong US dollar.

• Returns over the year were more positive. The Fund’s global equity mandates in particular fared well,
however emerging market returns were still very negative, with Genesis and Unigestion returning -14.1%
and -12.9% respectively against a benchmark of -13.4%.

• Over three years, all funds we have performance data for produced positive absolute returns (with the
exception of Genesis), with Partners and Gottex failing to beat their benchmarks (although see comments
on the measurement of Partners Group’s performance later). In addition, Schroder failed to achieve its
three-year performance objectives despite beating their benchmark. The remainder of the active
managers achieved their objectives.

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y

P
age 177



© MERCER 2015 7

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y

Key points for consideration

• The hedge fund of funds transition into JP Morgan is ongoing, with £60m invested by 30 September 2015
(with a further £60m invested on 1 October 2015).  Stenham has been completely sold down, with
£58.4m remaining in Gottex and £38.9m remaining in Signet.

• Global and most regional equity markets produced negative performance over the quarter, hitting the
Fund’s asset level.  This negative experience was compounded by positive performance from bond
markets, meaning the present value of the liabilities is expected to have increased.

• After the end of the third quarter, global equity markets rebounded significantly. The FTSE All World fell
5.8% in Q3, but over Q4 to date at the time of writing (29 October) has returned +6.8% in sterling terms.

• Emerging Markets saw significantly negative performance over the quarter, as fears over China’s growth
slowing (and whether it had ever been as high as has been stated in the past) took their toll.  This,
combined with uncertainty created by the US Federal Reserve’s potential interest rate hike, caused a
significant sell off.

• Property continues its strong performance, despite other growth assets falling over the quarter.

• The Fund is in the process reviewing the Stabilising Asset portfolio.

P
age 178



© MERCER 2015 8

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y
M A N A G E R  I N F O R M AT I O N

Manager Mandate Research
Rating

Short Term
Performance

(1 year)

Long Term
Performance

(3 year)
Page

BlackRock Passive Multi-Asset ✓ ✓ ✓ 27

Jupiter UK Equities - ✓ ✓ 28

TT International UK Equities - ✓ ✓ 29

Schroder Global Equities ✓ - - 30

Genesis Emerging Market
Equities ✓ ✕ ✓ 31

Unigestion Emerging Market
Equities - - N/A 32

Invesco Global ex-UK Equities ✓ ✕ ✓ 33

SSgA Europe ex-UK - ✓ ✓ 34

SSgA Pacific inc. Japan
Equities - ✓ ✓ 35

Record Currency Management Dynamic Currency
Hedging - N/A N/A 36

Pyrford DGF - ✕ N/A 37

Standard Life DGF ✓ N/A N/A 38

Meets criteria ✓ A or B+ rating; achieved performance target

Partially meets criteria - B, N or R rating; achieved benchmark return but not performance target

Does not meet criteria ✕ C rating; did not achieve benchmark

Focus Points

§ Apart from the passive funds recategorisation explained in detail on page 27, there were no changes to any ratings over the quarter.

P
age 179



© MERCER 2015 9

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y
M A N A G E R  I N F O R M A T I O N  C O N T I N U E D

Manager Mandate Research
Rating

Short Term
Performance

(1 year)

Long Term
Performance

(3 year)
Page

Signet* Fund of Hedge Funds - ✕ ✕ 40

Gottex Fund of Hedge Funds - ✕ ✕ 41

JP Morgan Fund of Hedge Funds ✓ N/A N/A 42

Schroder UK Property - ✕ ✓ 43

Partners* Global Property ✓ ✕ ✕ 45

RLAM Bonds ✓ - ✓ 46

Meets criteria ✓ A or B+ rating; achieved performance target

Partially meets criteria - B, N or R rating; achieved benchmark return but not performance target

Does not meet criteria ✕ C rating; did not achieve benchmark

Focus Points

§ Schroders announced the departure of three Real Estate Portfolio Managers: Jennifer Murray, Tony Doherty and Keeran Kang. See page 43 for
detail.

§ Partners’ performance relative to benchmark is explained in more detail on page 45.

§ Apart from the passive funds recategorisation explained in detail on page 27, there were no changes to any ratings over the quarter.

* Performance shown to 30 June 2015 as data to 30 September 2015 was unavailable at the time of writing.

P
age 180



© MERCER 2015 10
10

SECTION 2
MARKET BACKGROUND

P
age 181



© MERCER 2015 11
Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.

Equity Market Review

Growth assets continued their downward trend in Q3 as market volatility spiked. In August 2015, intraday equity market volatility rose to levels not seen
since the global financial crisis. The sharp sell-off in risk assets was largely attributed to a surprise devaluation of the Chinese Yuan in August 2015.
Global equities posted negative returns of 8.1% and 5.8% respectively in local currency and sterling terms over the quarter, with the relative depreciation
of sterling partially offsetting the losses of un-hedged investors. Small capitalisation stocks, as measured by the FTSE World Small Cap Index,
underperformed the broader market over the quarter, returning -10.8% and -7.4% in local currency and sterling terms, respectively.

Emerging Markets were the worst performing sector, returning -13.2% and -15.6% in local currency and sterling terms, with Latin American and Asian
economies leading much of this negative performance. Brazil, in particular, looks set for a deep recession following deteriorating macroeconomic
conditions and a downgrade in its credit rating status to junk over the quarter. Within developed market equities, Japanese equities underperformed the
broader market following aggressive net selling by foreign investors, returning -13.3% in local currency terms (-8.0% in sterling terms). This
underperformance followed the release of mixed economic data which showed Japan falling into deflation in August 2015 (for the first time since April
2013) in spite of improving consumer spending and corporate earnings.

In the United Kingdom, the FTSE All-Share Index fell by 5.7% over the quarter. The FTSE 100 returned -6.1% and continued to underperform the smaller
segments of the market represented by the FTSE 250 and FTSE Small Cap indices, largely due to the ongoing weakness of resource-led stocks which
constitute a significantly larger proportion of the FTSE 100.

Bond Market Review

Bond yields fell across all maturities over the quarter, resulting in
positive returns for investors.

Nominal gilt yields decreased across all maturities during the third
quarter, resulting in a return of 5.1% for Over 15 Year Gilts Index.

The real yield curve also moved down, although by less than nominal
yields, resulting in a degree of normalization of previously depressed
breakeven inflation rates. Index-linked gilts posted a quarterly gain of
2.3%, as measured by the Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts index.

Total returns from global credit were +3.0% in the third quarter in sterling
terms, with a moderate loss of 0.8% in local currency terms. Credit
spreads widened slightly in the UK, but yields still fell overall, resulting in
a 1.0% total return on All Stocks UK corporate bonds.

M A R K E T  B A C K G R O U N D
I N D E X  P E R F O R M A N C E

Currency Market Review

Sterling depreciated by 3.7%, 3.9% and 5.7% respectively against the
US dollar, euro and yen. The depreciation of sterling against its major
counterparts was driven by safe haven demand which lifted the dollar
and the unwinding of leveraged currency positions which bolstered the
euro and the yen. The rise in the yen over the quarter erased most of its
depreciation over the last 12 months.

Commodity Market Review

Energy prices led commodity prices lower, returning -24.4% over the
quarter, as oil prices reached a six year low in August 2015 on the back
of increased stockpiles in the United States and concerns that a slowing
Chinese economy would adversely impact global demand.

Gold prices fell over the period by 4.7%. The negative price impact from
the stronger Dollar was partially offset by safe haven demand on the
back of increased global market volatility.

P
age 182



© MERCER 2015 12

M A R K E T  B A C K G R O U N D
I N D E X  P E R F O R M A N C E

Return over the 12 months to 30 September 2015

Return p.a. over the 3 years to 30 September 2015

Return over the 3 months to 30 September 2015

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.

P
age 183



© MERCER 2015 13
13

SECTION 3
STRATEGIC
ASSUMPTIONS

P
age 184



© MERCER 2015 14
Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream.

M A R K E T  B A C K G R O U N D
I N D E X  P E R F O R M A N C E  V E R S U S  S T R A T E G Y

Asset Class Strategy Assumed Return

% p.a.

3 year Index Return

% p.a.

Comment

Developed Equities
(Global)

(FTSE All-World Developed)

8.25 11.3

Remains significantly ahead of the assumed strategic return.

This has decreased from 14.6% p.a. last quarter as the latest quarter’s return of -4.8% was
lower than the 3.9% return of Q3 2012, which fell out of the 3 year return.

Emerging Market Equities

(FTSE AW Emerging)
8.75 -2.2

The 3 year return from emerging market equities has fallen from 5.0% p.a. last quarter, driven
by  a negative return of -15.6% experienced last quarter, which was considerably lower than
the quarter that fell out (+4.6%).  The 3 year return remains below the assumed strategic
return.

Diversified Growth Libor + 4% / RPI + 5% 4.5 / 7.1

DGFs are expected to produce an equity like return over the long term but with lower volatility
– this is the basis for the Libor and RPI based benchmarks.  Low cash rates means that the
Libor based benchmark has significantly underperformed the inflation (RPI) based benchmark
and the long term expected return from equity.  During periods of strong equity returns, such
as the recent three year period, we would expect DGF to underperform equities.

UK Gilts

(FTSE Actuaries Over 15 Year Gilts)
4.5 6.7

UK gilt returns remain above the long term strategic assumed return as yields remain
depressed relative to historic averages.  Returns have increased compared to the previous
quarter as a result of the fall in yields (and hence negative total returns) experienced in the
last quarter. On the other hand, corporate bond returns have reduced this quarter, and looking
back over three years are now below the strategic assumed return.

Index Linked Gilts

(FTSE Actuaries Over 5 Year Index-
Linked Gilts)

4.25 9.4

UK Corporate Bonds

(BofAML Sterling Non Gilts)
5.5 5.1

Overseas Fixed Interest

(JP Morgan Global Government Bonds
ex UK)

5.5 -0.6
The 3 year performance remains in negative territory despite positive returns this quarter as a
result of the fall in global bond yields.

Fund of Hedge Funds

(HFRX Global Hedge Fund Index)
6.0 1.3

Hedge fund returns remain below long term averages and the strategic return, as they are
affected by low cash rates.  Volatility remains low but recent returns have improved slightly
given signs of volatility emerging.

Property

(IPD UK Monthly)
7.0 13.7

Property returns continue to be above the expected returns, driven by the economic recovery
in the US and the UK.

P
age 185



© MERCER 2015 15

D Y N A M I C  A S S E T  A L L O C A T I O N
( D A A )  D A S H B O A R D  – Q 4  2 0 1 5

These charts summarise Mercer’s views on the medium term outlook for returns from the key asset classes; by medium term we mean one to three
years. These views are relevant for reflecting medium term market views in determining appropriate asset allocation. We do not expect investors to make
frequent tactical changes to their asset allocation based upon these views. These are also based from the view of an absolute return investor, and so do
not take into account pension scheme liabilities.

DEVELOPED MARKET EQUITIES

Monetary policies remain generally
supportive of equity markets

Valuations have fallen closer to historical
averages following price deterioration

Slowdown in global growth has led to a
deterioration in market sentiment and
increased volatility!

EMERGING MARKET EQUITIES

Valuations significantly below long-term
averages, though vary by region and country

Decline in investor sentiment with added
uncertainty over prospect of a Fed rate rise

Interrelated headwinds include slowing
Chinese growth, weak commodity prices and
risk of further currency depreciation!

!

P
age 186



© MERCER 2015 16

D Y N A M I C  A S S E T  A L L O C A T I O N
( D A A )  D A S H B O A R D  – Q 4  2 0 1 5

FIXED INTEREST GILTS (ALL STOCK)

Ongoing extraordinary monetary policy
continues to restrain yield moves

Disappointing growth and inflation data
reports led to long dated yields drifting lower
over the quarter

Eventual policy rate hikes in the US could
hurt performance of fixed income assets

!

!

INDEX-LINKED GILTS

Real yields have remained broadly
stable over the quarter despite a
decline in nominal yields

Breakeven inflation has fallen to
cyclical lows

Real yields remain historically low!

P
age 187



© MERCER 2015 17

D Y N A M I C  A S S E T  A L L O C A T I O N
( D A A )  D A S H B O A R D  – Q 4  2 0 1 5

NON-GOVERNMENT BONDS (£ ALL-STOCK)

Credit spreads have increased over the quarter
and provide reasonable compensation against
current default rates

Credit yields remain historically low and
prospective returns are limited

Lack of trading liquidity has led to risk of
increased volatility in credit markets

!

!

UK PROPERTY

Yields look reasonable relative to other
assets, despite a small decrease in Q3

Supply side imbalances remain with
regions outside London starting to see
a pickup in rental growth

Cautious of opportunistic strategies,
and of London market over-heating!

P
age 188



© MERCER 2015 18
18

SECTION 4
FUND VALUATIONS

P
age 189



© MERCER 2015 19

F U N D  V A L U A T I O N S
V A L U A T I O N  B Y  A S S E T  C L A S S

Source: WM Performance Services, Mercer.  Green numbers indicate the allocation is within tolerance ranges, whilst red numbers indicate the allocation is outside of tolerance ranges.

Invested assets decreased over the quarter by £129m due to negative returns across major asset classes. At the start of the
quarter, developed equities were overweight relative to benchmark (and outside the range in the SIP); at 30 September 2015 they
remained overweight but within the agreed tolerance ranges.

Asset Allocation

Asset Class Start of Quarter
(£’000)

End of Quarter
(£’000)

Start of Quarter
(%)

End of Quarter
(%)

Target Strategic
Benchmark

(%)

Ranges
(%)

Difference
(%)

Developed Market Equities 1,700,572 1,568,521 45.6 43.6 40.0 35 - 45 +3.6

Emerging Market Equities 333,534 293,957 8.9 8.2 10.0 5 - 15 -1.8

Diversified Growth Funds 362,564 357,914 9.7 9.9 10.0 5 - 15 -0.1

Fund of Hedge Funds 162,952 157,291 4.4 4.4 5.0 0 - 7.5 -0.6

Property 314,626 327,832 8.4 9.1 10.0 5 - 15 -0.9

Infrastructure - - - - 5.0 0 - 7.5 -5.0

Bonds 759,781 761,311 20.4 21.1 20.0 15 - 35 +1.1

Cash (including currency
instruments) 96,070 133,923 2.6 3.7 - 0 - 5 +3.7

Total 3,730,099 3,600,749 100.0 100.0 100.0 0.0

P
age 190



© MERCER 2015 20

F U N D  V A L U A T I O N S
V A L U A T I O N  B Y  M A N A G E R

Manager Allocation

Manager Asset Class Start of Quarter
(£’000)

Cashflows
(£’000)

End of Quarter
(£’000)

Start of Quarter
(%)

End of Quarter
(%)

BlackRock Passive Multi-Asset 1,155,704 -40,000 1,099,762 31.0 30.5

Jupiter UK Equities 178,108 - 168,771 4.8 4.7

TT International UK Equities 198,482 - 193,736 5.3 5.4

Schroder Global Equities 242,720 - 232,442 6.5 6.5

Genesis Emerging Market Equities 152,092 - 132,393 4.1 3.7

Unigestion Emerging Market Equities 181,442 - 161,564 4.9 4.5

Invesco Global ex-UK Equities 273,939 - 260,036 7.3 7.2

SSgA Europe ex UK  & Pacific inc.
Japan Equities 118,061 - 109,756 3.2 3.0

Record Currency
Management

Overseas Equities (to fund
currency hedge) 34,093 - 3,430 0.9 0.1

Pyrford DGF 121,530 - 120,916 3.3 3.4

Standard Life DGF 241,035 - 236,999 6.5 6.6

Source: WM Services, Avon. Totals may not sum due to rounding.

P
age 191



© MERCER 2015 21

F U N D  V A L U A T I O N S
V A L U A T I O N  B Y  M A N A G E R

Manager Allocation

Manager Asset Class Start of Quarter
(£’000)

Cashflows
(£’000)

End of Quarter
(£’000)

Start of Quarter
(%)

End of Quarter
(%)

MAN Fund of Hedge Funds 549 - 593 0.0 0.0

Signet Fund of Hedge Funds 63,153 -22,611 38,877 1.7 1.1

Stenham Fund of Hedge Funds 39,745 -39,927 - 1.1 -

Gottex Fund of Hedge Funds 59,505 - 58,405 1.6 1.6

JP Morgan* Fund of Hedge Funds - 59,879 59,416 - 1.7

Schroder UK Property 183,792 - 189,410 4.9 5.3

Partners Property 140,391 - 150,487 3.8 4.2

RLAM Bonds 298,655 -20,000 281,004 8.0 7.8

Internal Cash Cash 47,103 62,659 102,710 1.3 2.9

Total 3,730,099 - 3,600,749 100.0 100.0

Source: WM Services, Avon. Totals may not sum due to rounding.
* £59,611k tranche to be invested on 1 October included in cash.

P
age 192



© MERCER 2015 22
22

SECTION 5
PERFORMANCE
SUMMARY

P
age 193



© MERCER 2015 23

M A N A G E R  M O N I T O R I N G
R I S K  R E T U R N  A N A L Y S I S

Comments

• The most significant movement seen over the quarter was emerging market equity, which saw a
significant decrease in three-year trailing return, driven by Latin American and Asian economies (with
similar – albeit less pronounced – movements seen for UK and overseas equities).

• Index-linked gilts and property saw absolute returns rise and experienced volatility fall over the quarter.

This chart shows the 3 year
absolute returns against three
year volatility (based on
monthly data in sterling terms),
to the end of September 2015,
for each of the broad underlying
asset benchmarks (using the
indices set out in the
Appendix), along with the total
Fund strategic benchmark
(using the benchmark indices
and allocations from WM
Services).  We also show the
positions as at last quarter, in
grey.

P
age 194



© MERCER 2015 24

M A N A G E R  M O N I T O R I N G
R I S K  R E T U R N  A N A L Y S I S

Comments

• In general absolute returns of the funds decreased over the quarter, whilst volatility increased. Genesis
was the fund where this impact was most noticeable given the significantly negative returns delivered by
emerging market equities.

An
nu

al
ab

so
lu

te
re

tu
rn

(%
)

Annual Risk (%)

An
nu

al
ab

so
lu

te
re

tu
rn

(%
)

Annual Risk (%)

3 year Risk vs 3 year Return  to 30 September 20153 year Risk vs 3 year Return  to 30 June 2015

P
age 195



© MERCER 2015 25

M A N A G E R  M O N I T O R I N G
M A N A G E R  P E R F O R M A N C E  – R E L A T I V E  R E T U R N S  T O  B E N C H M A R K
( T O  3 0  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 5 )

Source: WM Services, Avon.
Returns in blue text exceeded their respective benchmarks, those in red underperformed, and black text shows performance in line with benchmark.
In the table above, and throughout this report, relative returns have been calculated geometrically (i.e. the portfolio return is divided by the benchmark return) rather than arithmetically (where
the benchmark return is subtracted from the portfolio return).
* Performance shown to 30 June 2015 as data to 30 September 2015 was unavailable at the time of writing.

Manager / fund 3 months (%) 1 year (%) 3 years (% p.a.) 3 year versus performance
target

BlackRock Multi-Asset 0.1 0.1 0.2 Target met

Jupiter 0.5 5.5 4.0 Target met

TT International 3.5 7.8 4.5 Target met

Schroder Equity 1.7 3.4 0.8 Target not met

Genesis 1.7 -0.9 0.9 Target met

Unigestion 4.3 0.7 NA NA

Invesco -0.3 -0.2 0.5 Target met

SSgA Europe 1.0 0.9 0.8 Target met

SsgA Pacific 0.5 1.1 1.3 Target met

Pyrford -1.7 -3.3 NA NA

Standard Life -3.2 NA NA NA

Signet* -2.0 -9.0 -3.6 Target not met

Gottex -2.7 -4.3 -0.5 Target not met

JP Morgan NA NA NA NA

Schroder Property 0.1 -0.6 1.2 Target met

Partners Property* -1.8 -11.5 -3.2 Target not met

RLAM -0.1 0.4 1.9 Target met

Internal Cash 0.0 0.0 0.1 NA

P
age 196



© MERCER 2015 26
26

SECTION 6
MANAGER
PERFORMANCE

P
age 197



© MERCER 2015 27

Performance

BLACKROCK – PASSIVE MULTI-ASSET (POOLED EQUITIES, SEGREGATED BONDS)
£1,099.8M END VALUE (£1,155.7M START VALUE)

30.5
%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● A  (recategorised from Preferred Provider)

Performance Objective
In line with the benchmark ● Outperformed benchmark by 0.2% p.a. over

three years

Manager Research and Developments
• Returns have been broadly in line with benchmark over the quarter, as expected for

a passive mandate with a benchmark based on monthly mean fund weights.
• The exposure to the international equity fund was sold down by mid 2014 in order

to fund the emerging market equity allocation managed by Unigestion (see page
32), but then subsequently increased with the proceeds of the disinvestment from
Barings (and since sold down again to fund the investments in Standard Life GARS
and JP Morgan – see pages 38 and 42 respectively).

• Current holdings in UK and overseas government bonds are approximately £457m,
or 13% of the total Fund – these assets could be used as part of any liability risk
management framework.

• We previously assigned “Preferred Provider” status to strategies we rated highly
where the primary goal is not outperformance of a benchmark - for example,
passively managed funds and cash funds. Going forwards, we will no longer be
using the “Preferred Provider” rating, and will give these strategies ratings on our A-
C scale reflecting our degree of confidence in a manager’s ability to achieve a
strategy’s stated aims. These changes of rating do not represent an upgrade, rather
the change of the rating scale applied to these strategies.

Asset Allocation

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified portfolio

Reason for manager
• To provide low cost market exposure across multi asset classes
• Provide efficient way for rebalancing between bonds and equities within a single

portfolio

P
age 198



© MERCER 2015 28

Performance

JUPITER ASSET MANAGEMENT – UK EQUITIES (SRI) (SEGREGATED)
£168.8M END VALUE (£178.1M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +2% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 4.0% p.a. over

three years

Tracking error was 3.5% p.a.
(Q2: 3.5%) – source: Jupiter Number of stocks: 58

Manager Research and Developments
• The fund achieved its target over the quarter, year and three year periods.
• The outperformance over the quarter was generated from the fund’s underweight

position in oil and gas and mining sector companies, which underperformed the
wider market.

• However, the fund’s natural underweight in tobacco detracted from relative
performance, as defensive stocks outperformed the wider market over the quarter.

• The fund made two key stock purchases over the quarter.  The first was a new
holding in Thomas Cook (1% of the portfolio) due to Jupiter’s view of long-term plans,
which they expect to deliver debt reduction.  The second was an addition to Centrica
(2.2% of the portfolio) due to Jupiter’s growing confidence around their operational
performance.  Jupiter sold all holdings in Rexam to realise recent profits.

• Tracking error remains reasonably high as a result of the fund’s concentration and
divergence from the index (in particular, its underweight to large cap stocks and
overweight in mid cap).

4.7%

Rolling relative returns

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
• Clear and robust approach to evaluating SRI factors within the investment process
• Dedicated team of SRI analysts to research SRI issues and lead engagement and

voting activities
• Corporate commitment to SRI investment approach  within a more mainstream

investment team

P
age 199



© MERCER 2015 29

Performance

TT INTERNATIONAL – UK EQUITIES (UNCONSTRAINED) (SEGREGATED)
£193.7M END VALUE (£198.5M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +3-4% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 4.5% p.a. over

three years

Historic tracking error was 4.0%
p.a. (Source: Mercer) Number of stocks: 51

Manager Research and Developments
• TT significantly outperformed their benchmark by 3.5% over the quarter, and 7.8%

over the year to 30 September 2015.
• This outperformance over the quarter was largely due to strong stock selection in

the Consumer Services and Basic Materials sectors (adding 1.6% to returns in
total).

• In terms of sector positioning, the fund gained from being underweight Basic
Materials and overweight the Consumer sectors. It also benefited from a higher
than normal cash holding (at 5.4% at the start of the quarter and 7.5% by the end)
in a time of falling markets.

• Turnover decreased from 28.9% in Q2 to 25.2% in Q3 2015 while the three year
tracking error (a proxy for risk relative to benchmark) rose from 3.8% to 4.0%.

• Three-year information ratios have increased over the quarter, as a result of the
outperformance achieved.

• Assets under management in TT’s UK equity strategies decreased slightly over the
quarter given the negative performance to c. £495m (compared to £506m in June
2015, £474m in September 2014 and £576m in September 2012). This is a
significant decrease over the three year period and should be kept under review.

5.4%

Rolling relative returns

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
• Favoured the partnership structure that aligns manager’s and Fund’s interests
• Focussed investment activity and manages its capacity
• Clear, robust stock selection and portfolio construction

P
age 200



© MERCER 2015 30

Performance

SCHRODER – GLOBAL EQUITY PORTFOLIO (SEGREGATED)
£232.4M END VALUE (£242.7M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B+  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +4% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 0.8% p.a. over

three years, but lagged target

Historic tracking error was 2.0% p.a. (Source: Mercer)

Manager Research and Developments
• The fund outperformed the benchmark over the quarter, largely through stock

selection in technology, healthcare and materials. Being underweight materials and
energy also helped as both sectors underperformed the wider market.

• Looking on a region by region basis, the fund gained the most from UK holdings,
with stock selection in North America and Europe positive. The underweight
exposure to Asia Pacific (ex Japan) also had a positive impact on performance.
The main detractor, from a regional perspective, was stock selection in Japan.

• The largest contributor over the quarter was Google where shares rose to an all-
time high on the back of strong Q2 earnings results.

6.5%

Rolling relative returns

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
• Clear philosophy and approach
• Long term philosophy aligned with Fund’s goals, commitment to incorporating ESG

principles throughout the investment process
• Evidence of ability to achieve the Fund’s performance target

P
age 201



© MERCER 2015 31

Performance

GENESIS ASSET MANAGERS – EMERGING MARKET EQUITIES (POOLED)
£132.4M END VALUE (£152.1M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● A  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark ● Outperformed benchmark by 0.9% p.a. over

three years

Three year tracking error was
3.5% p.a. (Q2: 3.5%) – source:
Genesis

Number of stocks: 159

Manager Research and Developments
• The fund outperformed its benchmark over the quarter. Relative to the index, the

portfolio benefitted from stock selection in India and South Africa, and from being
underweight the weak Chinese market. This was partly offset by being underweight
in South Korea and Taiwan (comparatively strong markets).

• The biggest contributor was SABMiller (South Africa) whilst the biggest detractor
was First Quantum Minerals (Zambia). Turnover over the quarter was 22%,
approximately one third of which related to trading in Chinese equities given
volatility in that market.

• The portfolio one-year returns are 0.8% below benchmark, while three year returns
are 0.9% ahead. Some short-term volatility relative to benchmark is to be expected
given  their long-term approach of identifying under-priced companies and investing
with a five year time horizon.

• Over the quarter our researchers met with Genesis as part of our regular research
on the manager and from this have  confirmed that the “A” rating should remain.

3.7%

Rolling relative returns

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager

• Long term investment approach which takes advantage of evolving growth
opportunities

• Niche and focussed expertise in emerging markets
• Partnership structure aligned to delivering performance rather than growing assets

under management

P
age 202



© MERCER 2015 32

Performance

UNIGESTION – EMERGING MARKET EQUITIES (POOLED – SUB-FUND)
£161.6M END VALUE (£181.4M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● R  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +2-4% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 0.7% over the

year

Historic tracking error since
inception was 7.3% p.a. (Source:
Unigestion)

Number of stocks: 88

Manager Research and Developments
• The Fund outperformed by 4.3% over the quarter and by 0.7% over the year to 30

September 2015.
• This outperformance largely occurred in July, where the fund returned -3.1%

against a benchmark return of -6.2%, benefiting from its defensive profile, with an
overweight position in Food and Telecoms helping relative performance. From a
geographical point of view, notable outperformance was generated by allocations to
South Korea, China and South Africa. The fund also outperformed over the months
of August and September.

• Volatility since inception is 15.0%, lower than the index (at 17.2%) and consistent
with their objectives (and the strategy’s bias towards quality and large- or mega-cap
stocks).

4.5%

Rolling relative returns

Note: Chart is pooled fund performance, gross of fees

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
• Risk-based active  management approach
• Aim for lower volatility than the MSCI Emerging Markets Index
• Combine fundamental and quantitative analysis

P
age 203



© MERCER 2015 33

Performance

INVESCO – GLOBAL EX-UK EQUITIES (ENHANCED INDEXATION) (POOLED)
£260.0M END VALUE (£273.9M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B+  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +0.5% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 0.5% p.a. over

three years

Tracking error since inception was
1.5% p.a. – source: Invesco Number of stocks: 422 (up from 407)

Manager Research and Developments
• The fund underperformed its benchmark by 0.3% over the last quarter (source:

WM), and is in line with its outperformance target over 3 years. Beta remains near
to one, as expected.

• The sector and country allocations were broadly in line with the benchmark. All
industry and country allocations were within +/- 1.2% of benchmark weightings, in
line with general expectations for an enhanced indexation product.

7.2%

Rolling relative returns

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
• Robust investment process  supported by historical performance record, providing

a high level of assurance that the process  could generate the outperformance
target on a consistent basis

• One of few to offer a Global ex UK pooled fund

P
age 204



© MERCER 2015 34

Performance

SSGA – EUROPE EX-UK EQUITIES (ENHANCED INDEXATION) (POOLED)
£40.1M END VALUE (£41.5M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● R  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +0.5% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 0.8% p.a. over

three years

Historic tracking error was 0.8%
p.a. (Source: Mercer) Number of stocks: 203

Manager Research and Developments
• The Fund’s return has outperformed its performance target over 3 years.
• The total pooled fund size on 30 September 2015 was £40.1m. This means that the

Fund is practically the only investor, although the Panel has previously concluded
that the Fund could be sustained even if the Avon Pension Fund was the only
investor.

• The fund holds 203 out of 389 stocks in the index, around 52%, within the expected
range of 35-65%. Beta over three years is as expected at around 1.

1.1%

Rolling relative returns

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
• Strength of their quantitative model and process, and ongoing research to develop

the model
• Historic performance met the risk return  parameters the Fund  was seeking
• Two Funds (European and Pacific) to achieve the Fund’s customised asset

allocation within overseas equities

P
age 205



© MERCER 2015 35

Performance

SSGA – PACIFIC INCL. JAPAN EQUITIES (ENHANCED INDEXATION) (POOLED)
£69.8M END VALUE (£76.5M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● N  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +0.5% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 1.3% p.a. over

three years

Historic tracking error was 0.7%
p.a. (Source: Mercer) Number of stocks: 400

Manager Research and Developments
• The Fund’s return has met its performance target over 3 years.
• The total pooled fund size on 30 September 2015 was £69.8m. As with the

European fund, the conclusion has been that the Fund could be sustained even
with the Avon Pension Fund as the only investor.

• As with the European fund, Beta is around 1 (i.e. broadly in line with a market cap
approach).

1.9%

Rolling relative returns

Reason for investment
To provide asset growth as part of diversified equity portfolio

Reason for manager
• Strength of their quantitative model and process, and ongoing research to develop

the model
• Historic performance met the risk return  parameters the Fund  was seeking
• Two Funds (European and Pacific) to achieve the Fund’s customised asset

allocation within overseas equities

P
age 206



© MERCER 2015 36

Currency Hedging 3 Month Performance (£ terms)

Currency
Start

Exposure
(£)

End
Exposure

(£)

Currency
Return

(%)

50%
Hedge
Return

(%)

Record
Hedge
Return

(%)

Net
Return

(%)

USD 512,547,836 491,943,312 3.83% (1.85%) (3.03%) 0.72%

EUR 200,472,608 188,257,965 4.02% (1.90%) (3.56%) 0.40%

JPY 144,091,744 120,361,671 6.08% (2.90%) (4.55%) 1.42%

Total 857,112,188 800,562,949 4.22% (2.02%) (3.39%) 0.75%

RECORD – ACTIVE CURRENCY HEDGING (SEGREGATED)
£3.4M END VALUE (£34.1M START VALUE)

0.1%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● N  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
N/A ● Underperformed a 50% passive hedge by

0.3% p.a. over three years

Manager Research and Developments
Over the quarter, the US dollar, the euro and the yen all strengthened
relative to sterling.

A 50% hedge on each currency would have had an overall negative return
as some of the appreciation of the three currencies would have been
protected against. Record had a higher hedge ratio against the US dollar,
euro and yen, which resulted in a negative relative performance – see right.

Hedging Return

Performance (Total Hedging Portfolio)
3 months

(%)
1 year

(%)
3 years
(% p.a.)

Record Hedge -3.39 -1.50 0.28

50% Illustrative Hedge -2.02 -1.42 0.53

Relative -1.40 -0.08 -0.25

Reason for investment
To manage the volatility arising from overseas currency exposure, whilst attempting to minimise
negative cashflows that can arise from currency hedging

Reason for manager
• Straightforward technical (i.e. based on price information) process
• Does not reply on human intervention
• Strong IT infrastructure and currency specialists

P
age 207



© MERCER 2015 37

Performance

Asset Allocation

PYRFORD – DGF (POOLED)
£120.9M END VALUE (£121.5M START VALUE)

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● R  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
RPI +5% p.a. ● Underperformed benchmark by 3.3% p.a. over

one year

Manager Research and Developments
• The fund has underperformed the benchmark over the quarter and year by 1.7%

and 3.3% respectively.
• The asset allocation of the fund remained nearly unchanged over the quarter at

30% equities, 66% bonds and 5% cash.
• Performance in Q3 was disappointing, with a return of -0.2% although they did

provide downside protection as equities fell.
• Pyrford continues to adopt a defensive stance by owning short duration securities

in order to protect the capital value of the portfolio from expected rises in yields. At
the end of the quarter the modified duration of the fixed income portfolio fell to 1.8
years.

3.4%

Reason for investment
To provide equity like return over the long term but with a lower level of volatility

Reason for manager
• Asset allocation skill between equities, bonds and cash
• Fundamental approach to stock selection

Annual data prior to Q1 2015.

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q
3

'1
2

Q
4

'1
2

Q
1

'1
3

Q
2

'1
3

Q
3'

13

Q
4'

13

Q
1'

14

Q
2

'1
4

Q
3'

14

Q
4'

14

Q
1'

15

Q
2'

15

Q
3'

15

Pyrford - Diversified Growth Pooled Fund

Cash Overseas Bonds UK Bonds
Overseas Equities UK Equities

P
age 208



© MERCER 2015 38

Performance

Asset Allocation/Risk Exposure

STANDARD LIFE – DGF (POOLED)
£237.0M END VALUE (£241.0M START VALUE)

6.6%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B+  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Cash +5% p.a.

●

●

Underperformed benchmark by 3.2% p.a. over
the quarter

Underperformed benchmark since inception by
4.7% (-1.3% vs 3.6% gross of fees)

Manager Research and Developments
• Over the quarter the Fund returned -1.8% against a benchmark of 1.4%.
• The charts to the right (and overleaf) provide analysis of the performance of the

pooled fund (net of fees) over the three years to 30 September 2015, illustrating
that while returns have been broadly in line with the median DGF manager, the risk
taken to produce these returns has been significantly lower and as a result risk
adjusted returns are in the top quartile.

• The equity market falls hurt the fund’s European and Japanese equity strategies,
with global commodity price falls leading to negative returns from a global equity
miners position.  The market turmoil led to US Treasury bonds appreciating, which
meant that the fund’s strategy to benefit from rising treasury yields also produced
negative returns.

• In July Gerry Fowler joined the Multi-Asset Investing Team as Investment Director,
Idea Generation. He will be part of the 56 person team providing idea generation,
investment recommendations and detailed implementation strategies for their
range of multi-asset funds and will report directly to Guy Stern, Executive Director
of Multi-Asset and Macro Investing. We are not proposing any changes to ratings.

Reason for investment
To provide equity like return over the long term but with a lower level of volatility

Reason for manager
• Diversification from equities
• Exposure to market-neutral trades, and different approach to Pyford’s asset

allocation approach.

Standard Life - GARS Pooled Fund
Performance characteristics vs. 3 Month Sterling LIBOR (after fees) over 3 years ending September-15 (quarterly calculations)
Comparison with the International Multi-Asset GBP (Net) universe (Actual Ranking)

Name
n Standard Life 5.0 (15) 4.0 (26) 1.1 (3) 4.0 (26) 1.1 (3)
95th Percentile 9.7 8.0 1.4 8.0 1.4
Upper Quartile 5.7 6.7 1.0 6.7 1.0
Median 4.9 5.8 0.8 5.8 0.8
Lower Quartile 3.6 4.9 0.6 4.9 0.6
5th Percentile 2.4 2.8 0.4 2.8 0.4
Number of Funds 30 30 30 30 30

Ret (% p.a.) Std Dev (% p.a.) Sharpe TE (% p.a.) IR

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q4
'12

Q1
'13

Q2
'13

Q3
'13

Q4
'13

Q1
'14

Q2
'14

Q3
'14

Q4
'14

Q1
'15

Q2
'15

Q3
'15

Equities Credit FX Duration Volatility Inflation Stock Selection Real Estate

P
age 209



© MERCER 2015 39

DGF MANDATES

Commentary

• Over the year to 30 September 2015, the Standard Life
GARS pooled fund outperformed Pyrford by 0.2% (however
the Fund has only been invested since January 2015).

• This placed both Standard Life and Pyrford above the
median manager of the  DGF universe for performance. It
should be noted that this universe is very diverse in styles.

• However this was achieved whilst taking different levels of
risk, with Standard Life’s volatility standing at 5.8% against
Pyrford’s 4.9%.

• Both managers were below the median manager for risk,
meaning they took less risk than most managers in the
universe.

• As a result, information ratios (a measure of risk adjusted
returns) for both Pyrford and Standard Life were above the
median of the universe.

• Note that this is a short time-frame over which to measure
risk, and reflects the limited period the Fund has been
invested for. More telling analysis will emerge as the track
record grows.

P
age 210



© MERCER 2015 40

Performance to 30 June 2015

Allocation

SIGNET – FUND OF HEDGE FUNDS
£38.9M END VALUE (£63.2M START VALUE)

1.1%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● N  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Cash +3% p.a. ● Underperformed benchmark by 3.6% p.a.

over three years to 30 June 2015

Item

Number of funds 30

Strategy Approximate Contribution to
Performance over Q2 2015 (%)

Long-Biased Credit +0.21

Long-Short Credit -0.13

Long Only Credit +0.03

Recovery Plays -0.23

Global Rates and FX +0.26

Mortgaged Backed Securities +0.06

Event Driven and Special
Situations Fund

+0.08

Reason for investment
To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Reason for manager
• Niche fixed income strategy focus
• Established team with strong track record
• Complemented other funds in the portfolio

Source: Signet, Mercer. Approximate calculations based on largest holdings.

As at 30 June 2015

P
age 211



© MERCER 2015 41

Performance to 30 September 2015

Allocation

GOTTEX – FUND OF HEDGE FUNDS
£58.4M END VALUE (£59.5M START VALUE)

1.6%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● R  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Cash +3% p.a. ● Underperformed benchmark by 0.5% p.a.

over three years

Item

Number of funds Not Available

Top 5 most
significant
contributing
strategies

Gross Contribution to Performance
over Q2 2015 (%)

Fundamental MN Equity +0.43

Distressed Securities +0.36

Asset-Backed Securities +0.23

Long/Short Equity +0.20

Long/Short Credit +0.19

Reason for investment
To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Reason for manager
• Niche market neutral investment strategy
• Established team with strong track record
• Complemented other funds in the portfolio

As at 30 June 2015

P
age 212



© MERCER 2015 42

Performance to 31 August 2015 (in USD)
Since Inception (1 August 2015) -1.45%

Benchmark 0.27%

Allocation

JP MORGAN – FUND OF HEDGE FUNDS
£59.4M END VALUE (£0.0M START VALUE)

1.7%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B+  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Cash +3% p.a. ● Underperformed benchmark by 1.7% p.a.

over August 2015

Item

Number of funds 23

Strategy Contribution to Performance over
August 2015 (%)

Relative Value 0.00

Opportunistic/Macro -0.15

Long/Short Equities -0.77

Merger Arbitrage/Event Driven -0.46

Cash/Fees/Other -0.07

Total -1.45

Reason for investment
To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Reason for manager
• Niche market neutral investment strategy
• Established team with strong track record
• Complemented other funds in the portfolio

Source: JP Morgan.
As at 31 August 2015

Inception date: 1 August 2015.

P
age 213



© MERCER 2015 43

FUND OF HEDGE FUND MANDATES

Manager 30 September 2015 holding Comments

Signet £38.9m

Signet saw significant underperformance over the year to 30 June 2015, which led to a
negative overall contribution to relative performance. This largely stemmed from the
underperformance of their illiquid holdings in the Event Driven & Special Situations Fund
(with the main holdings in the Global Fixed Income strategy returning -1.8% in US dollar
terms over the twelve month period to 30 June 2015).

Gottex £58.4m Gottex’s market neutral approach underperformed over the year (with poor returns in Q4
2014 and Q3 2015 in particular, and relatively weak returns in Q2 2015).

JP Morgan £121.8m

With the first investment being made at the beginning of August 2015, the JP Morgan fund
underperformed its benchmark over that month (too short a time scale for reasonable
analysis) . The long/short equities strategy that detracted the most from performance over
the month.
At the end of August the asset allocation was broadly in line with the target allocation of:
• 15-50% long/short equities
• 15-50% relative value
• 15-50% opportunistic/macro
• 0-40% event driven

After the termination of the Stenham mandate, the Fund is in the process of divesting from Signet and Gottex, with
the allocation to be managed by JP Morgan in a bespoke fund of funds vehicle.

P
age 214



© MERCER 2015 44

Performance

SCHRODER – UK PROPERTY FUND OF FUNDS
£189.4M END VALUE (£183.8M START VALUE)

5.3%

Manager and Investment type splits

Reason for investment

To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Reason for manager

• Demonstrable track record of delivering consistent above average performance
• Team though small is exclusively dedicated to UK multi-manager property

management but can draw on extensive resources of Schroder’s direct property team
• Well structured and research orientated investment process

Top 5 Holdings Proportion of
Total Fund (%)

BlackRock UK
Property Fund 12.9

L&G Managed
Property Fund 12.9

Industrial Property
Investment Fund 9.8

Standard Life
Pooled Pension
Property Fund

9.8

Schroder Real
Estate Fund 8.6

Top 5 Contributing and Detracting Funds over 12 Months

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B (no change over quarter)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +1% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 1.2% p.a. over

three years

Manager Research and Developments
• The fund slightly outperformed the benchmark over the quarter by 0.1%.
• Over the three year period, the fund has outperformed its target by 0.3% p.a.
• Attribution analysis as of Q3 2015 is not available at the time of writing.
• Over the quarter, the fund purchased c. £0.4m of units in the Multi-Let Industrial

Property Unit Trust.
• Over the last few months, Schroder announced the departure of three Real Estate

Portfolio Managers: Jennifer Murray, Tony Doherty and Keeran Kang. Head of Real
Estate, Graeme Rutter will inevitably take a more hands-on role on the majority of
portfolios. Neil Turner will step back into the role of managing client portfolios and a
new senior PM will be recruited. We continue to believe that Rutter is a suitable
leader for the business but there will be short-term pressures on him. Our
researchers have therefore recommended that this strategy is placed on Watch.
This is to be confirmed by our UK Ratings Ratification Committee.

As at 30 June 2015

As at 30
September 2015

P
age 215



© MERCER 2015 45

PARTNERS – OVERSEAS PROPERTY
£150.5M END VALUE (£140.4M START VALUE)

4.2%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● B+  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +2% p.a. ● Underperformed benchmark by 3.2% p.a.

over three years to 30 June 2015

Manager Research and Developments
• Over Q2 2015, the fund underperformed the benchmark by 1.8%, and

3.2% p.a. over the three year period.
• Partners’ drawdowns are made gradually over time, and the Fund is

not yet fully invested. As a result of the volatile timing of cash flows
for such investments, for example the initial costs of purchasing
and developing properties, focus should be on longer term
performance. Their IRR from inception to 30 June 2015 at 9.5% p.a.
is slightly below their target of 10% p.a. but broadly consistent.

• Over Q2, the allocation to Europe increased (from 45% to 50%) while
Asia Pacific and North America both fell slightly (from 28% to 27%, and
20% to 17% respectively. These remain within the guidelines.

• Exposure to Secondary opportunities fell during the first quarter (from
42% to 40%), with Direct increasing by 3% and Primary by 1%. Primary
exposure continues to be below the guidelines. Short-term deviation from
the guidelines are expected whilst the amount drawn-down is below
target.

• Note that Partners are rated B+ for global real estate, but A for secondary
global real estate (as a result of their private equity skill set).

Portfolio update as at 30 June 2015

Partners Fund Total Drawn
Down (£m)

Total
Distributions
(£m)

Net Asset
Value  (30 June
2015) (£m)

Since
Inception
Net IRR

Global Real Estate
2008 31.66 15.29 22.62 8.5

Real Estate Secondary
2009 19.01 4.38 19.53 13.9

Asia Pacific and
Emerging Market Real
Estate 2009

15.76 5.39 13.99 6.5

Distressed US Real
Estate 2009 14.75 12.35 8.57 9.9

Global Real Estate
2011 24.70 4.80 23.42 12.2

Direct Real Estate
2011 10.79 1.85 12.08 9.6

Real Estate Secondary
2013 3.90 0.00 4.56 21.9

Global Real Estate
2013 29.27 0.00 26.86 3.8

Real Estate Income
2014 7.85 0.00 7.09 1.7

Total 157.69 44.06 138.71 9.5

Geographical and Investment type splits as at 30 June 2015 Reason for investment
To reduce volatility of the Growth portfolio and increase diversification

Reason for manager
• Depth of experience in global property investment and the resources they committed

globally to the asset class
• The preferred structure for the portfolio was via a bespoke fund of funds (or private

account) so the investment could be more tailored to the Fund’s requirements

As at 30 June 2015

30 September asset value estimated based on 30 June valuation and cash movements over the quarter.

P
age 216



© MERCER 2015 46

Performance

ROYAL LONDON ASSET MANAGEMENT – FIXED INTEREST (POOLED)
£281.0M END VALUE (£298.7M START VALUE)

7.8%

Item Monitored Outcome

Mercer Rating ● A  (no change over period under review)

Performance Objective
Benchmark +0.8% p.a. ● Outperformed benchmark by 1.9% p.a.

over three years

Manager Research and Developments
• Royal London remain underweight AAA-A bonds, and overweight BBB-unrated, a

strategy which has performed strongly over the three year period.

Credit Rating Allocation

Weighted Duration Start of Quarter End of Quarter

Fund 7.5 7.5

Benchmark 7.8 7.7

Risk and Return relative to benchmark

Reason for investment
To maintain stability in the Fund as part of a diversified fixed income portfolio

Reason for manager
• Focussed research strategy to generate added value
• Focus on unrated bonds provided a “niche” where price inefficiencies are more

prevalent.  Product size means can be flexible within market

P
age 217



© MERCER 2015 47
47

APPENDIX 1
SUMMARY OF MANDATES

P
age 218



© MERCER 2015 48

S U M M A R Y  O F  M A N D A T E S
Manager Mandate Benchmark Outperformance target (p.a.)

Jupiter Asset Management UK Equities (Socially Responsible Investing) FTSE All Share +2%

TT International UK Equities (Unconstrained) FTSE All Share +3-4%

Schroder Global Equities (Unconstrained) MSCI AC World Index Free +4%

Genesis Emerging Market Equities MSCI EM IMI TR -

Unigestion Emerging Market Equities MSCI EM NET TR +2-4%

Invesco Global ex-UK Equities (Enhanced Indexation) MSCI World ex UK NDR +0.5%

SSgA Europe ex-UK Equities (Enhanced Indexation) FTSE AW Europe ex UK +0.5%

SSgA Pacific inc. Japan  Equities (Enhanced Indexation) FTSE AW Dev Asia Pacific +0.5%

Record Active Currency Hedging N/A -

Pyrford Diversified Growth Fund RPI +5% p.a. -

Standard Life Diversified Growth Fund 3 Month LIBOR +5% p.a. -

Signet Fund of Hedge Funds 3 Month LIBOR +3% p.a. -

Gottex Fund of Hedge Funds 3 Month LIBOR +3% p.a. -

JP Morgan Fund of Hedge Funds 3 Month LIBOR +3% p.a. -

Schroder UK Property IPD UK Pooled +1%

Partners Overseas Property IPD Global Pooled +2%

Royal London Asset Management UK Corporate Bonds iBoxx £ Non-Gilts All Maturities +0.8%

BlackRock Passive Multi-Asset In line with customised benchmarks using
monthly mean fund weights -

Cash Internally Managed 7 Day LIBID -

P
age 219



© MERCER 2015 49
49

APPENDIX 2
MARKET STATISTICS
INDICES

P
age 220



© MERCER 2015 50

M A R K E T  S T A T I S T I C S  I N D I C E S

Asset Class Index

UK Equities FTSE All-Share
Global Equity FTSE All-World
Overseas Equities FTSE World ex UK
US Equities FTSE USA
Europe (ex-UK) Equities FTSE W Europe ex UK
Japanese Equities FTSE Japan
Asia Pacific (ex-Japan) Equities FTSE W Asia Pacific ex Japan
Emerging Markets Equities FTSE AW Emerging
Global Small Cap Equities FTSE World Small Cap
Hedge Funds HFRX Global Hedge Fund
High Yield Bonds BofA Merrill Lynch Global High Yield
Emerging Market Debt JP Morgan GBI EM Diversified Composite
Property IPD UK Monthly Total Return: All Property
Commodities S&P GSCI
Over 15 Year Gilts FTA UK Gilts 15+ year
Sterling Non Gilts BofA Merrill Lynch Sterling Non Gilts All Stocks
Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts FTA UK Index Linked Gilts 5+ year
Global Bonds BofA Merrill Lynch Global Broad Market
Global Credit Barclays Capital Global Credit
Eurozone Government Bonds BofA Merrill Lynch EMU Direct Government
Cash BofA Merrill Lynch United Kingdom Sterling LIBOR 3 month constant maturity

These are the indices used in this report for market commentary; individual strategy returns are shown against their specific benchmarks.

P
age 221



© MERCER 2015 51
51

APPENDIX 3
CHANGES IN YIELDS

P
age 222



© MERCER 2015 52

C H A N G E S  I N  Y I E L D S

Asset Class Yields (% p.a.) 30 September
2015 30 June 2015 30 September

2014
30 September

2013
UK Equities 3.71 3.46 3.34 3.41

Over 15 Year Gilts 2.38 2.63 2.98 3.41

Over 5 Year Index-Linked Gilts -0.83 -0.75 -0.35 -0.02

Sterling Non Gilts 3.16 3.15 3.39 3.64

Nominal yield curves. Real yield curves.

• After a sharp rise during the second quarter
of the year, bond yields fell across all
maturities over the quarter, resulting in
positive returns for investors.

• Nominal gilt yields decreased across all
maturities during the third quarter, resulting in
a return of 5.1% for Over 15 Year Gilts Index.

• The real yield curve also moved down,
although by less than nominal yields,
resulting in a degree of normalization of
previously depressed breakeven inflation
rates. Index-linked gilts posted a quarterly
gain of 2.3%, as measured by the Over 5
year Index-Linked Gilts index.

• The total returns from global credit rose by
3.0% in the third quarter in Sterling terms,
with a moderate loss of 0.8% in local currency
terms, with a moderate loss of 0.8% in local
currency terms. Credit spreads widened
slightly in the UK, but yields still fell overall,
resulting in a 1.0% total return on All Stocks
UK corporate bonds.P

age 223



© MERCER 2015 53
53

APPENDIX 4
GUIDE TO MERCER
RATINGS

P
age 224



© MERCER 2015 54

G U I D E  T O  M E R C E R  R AT I N G S
INTRODUCTION

This is a guide to the investment strategy research ratings (herein referred to as rating[s]) produced by Mercer’s Investments business (herein referred to as Mercer). It
describes what the ratings are intended to mean and how they should and should not be interpreted.

If you have any questions or would like more information about specific topics after reading this guide, please contact your Mercer consultant or click “Contact us” on our
website www.mercer.com.

WHAT DO MERCER’S RATINGS SIGNIFY?

Mercer’s ratings signify Mercer’s opinion of an investment strategy’s prospects for outperforming a suitable benchmark over a time frame appropriate for that particular
strategy (herein referred to as outperformance). The rating is recorded in the strategy’s entry on Mercer’s Global Investment Manager Database (GIMD™) at
www.mercergimd.com.

Mercer’s ratings are normally assigned to investment strategies rather than to specific funds or vehicles. In this context, the term “strategy” refers to the process that leads to
the construction of a portfolio of investments, regardless of whether the strategy is offered in separate account format or through one or more investment vehicles. There are
exceptions to this practice. These are primarily in real estate and private markets where the rating is normally applied to specific funds.

WHAT DO MERCER’S RATINGS NOT SIGNIFY?

This section contains important exclusions and warnings; please read it carefully.

Past Performance

The rating assigned to a strategy may or may not be consistent with its past performance. While the rating reflects Mercer’s expectations on future performance relative to a
suitable benchmark over a time frame appropriate for the particular strategy, Mercer does not guarantee that these expectations will be fulfilled.

Creditworthiness

Unlike those of credit rating agencies, Mercer’s ratings are not intended to imply any opinions about the creditworthiness of the manager providing the strategy.

Vehicle-Specific Considerations

As Mercer’s ratings are normally assigned to strategies rather than to specific investment vehicles, potential investors in specific investment vehicles should consider not
only the Mercer ratings for the strategies being offered through those investment vehicles but also any investment vehicle-specific considerations. These may include, for
example, frequency of dealing dates and any legal, tax, or regulatory issues relating to the type of investment vehicle and where it is domiciled. Mercer’s ratings do not
constitute individualized investment advice.

Management Fees

To determine ratings, Mercer does not generally take investment management fees into account. The rationale for this is that, due to differing account sizes, differing
inception dates, or other factors, the fees charged for a specific strategy will vary among clients. Potential investors in a specific strategy should therefore consider not only
the Mercer rating for that strategy but also the competitiveness of the fee schedule that they have been quoted. The area of Alternative Investments is an exception —
Mercer follows market practice for “Alternatives” and rates strategies on a net of fees basis.

P
age 225



© MERCER 2015 55

G U I D E  T O  M E R C E R  R AT I N G S
Operational Assessment

Mercer’s research process and ratings do not include an evaluation of a manager’s custodian, prime brokerage, or other vendor relationships, or an assessment of the
manager’s back office operations, including any compliance, legal, accounting, or tax analyses of the manager or the manager’s investment vehicles. Research is generally
limited to the overall investment decision-making process used by managers. In forming a rating, Mercer’s investment researchers do not generally perform corporate-level
operational infrastructure due diligence on a manager and do not perform financial or criminal background checks on investment management staff. Unless Mercer’s
investment researchers are aware of material information to the contrary (such as a view expressed by a manager’s auditors or Mercer Sentinel®; see section 9), they
assume that the manager’s operational infrastructure is reasonable. Operational weaknesses that Mercer’s investment researchers discover during their analysis of the four
factors outlined in section 4 will be noted and, where appropriate, taken into account in determining ratings.

FACTORS CONSIDERED IN FORMING A RATING

In order to determine the rating for a particular strategy, Mercer’s investment researchers review the strategy on the basis of four specific factors — idea generation, portfolio
construction, implementation, and business management — each of which is assigned one of four scores: negative (-), neutral (=), positive (+), or very positive (++).

Mercer believes that idea generation, portfolio construction, and implementation are the main components of every investment process. These factors are defined as:

Idea generation encompasses everything that the investment manager (herein referred to as manager) does to determine the relative attractiveness of different
investments.

Portfolio construction refers to the manner in which the manager translates investment ideas into decisions on which investments to include in a portfolio and what
weightings to give to each of these investments.

Implementation refers to the capabilities surrounding activities that are required to achieve the desired portfolio structure.

Mercer believes that managers that do these activities well should have above-average prospects of outperformance. However, Mercer also believes that to remain
competitive over longer periods, managers must be able to maintain and enhance their capabilities in these three areas. To do this, managers need to have significantly
strong business management, which is the fourth factor Mercer assesses.

Business management refers to the overall stability of the firm, firm resources, and overall operations.

The four factors above apply to most product categories that Mercer researches. Variations on these factors are used in some product categories. Examples here include
passive strategies, liability driven investment and private markets.

A strategy’s overall rating is not determined as a weighted average of the four factor scores, and no prescribed calculations are made to arrive at the four-factor score or the
overall rating. Instead, for each strategy, Mercer’s investment researchers identify which factors Mercer believes are most relevant to a manager's investment process and
place weight on the factors accordingly. Example considerations include:

§ Mercer’s confidence in the manager’s ability to generate value-adding ideas.
§ Mercer’s view on any specified outperformance target.
§ The opportunities available in the relevant market(s) to achieve outperformance.
§ An assessment of the risks taken to try to achieve outperformance.
§ An assessment of the strategy relative to peer strategies.
§ An assessment of the manager’s business management and its impact on particular strategies.

P
age 226



© MERCER 2015 56

G U I D E  T O  M E R C E R  R AT I N G S

Ratings Rationale

A Strategies assessed as having “above average” prospects of outperformance
B+ Strategies assessed as having “above average” prospects of outperformance, but which are qualified by at least one of the

following:
§ There are other strategies that Mercer believes are more likely to achieve outperformance
§ Mercer requires more evidence to support its assessment

B Strategies assessed as having “average” prospects of outperformance

C Strategies assessed as having “below average” prospects of outperformance

N/no rating Strategies not currently rated by Mercer
R The R rating is applied in three situations:

§ Where Mercer has carried out some research, but has not completed its full investment strategy research process
§ In product categories  where Mercer does not maintain formal ratings but where there are other strategies in which we

have a higher degree of confidence
§ Mercer has in the past carried out its full investment-strategy research process on the strategy, but we are no longer

maintaining full research coverage

MERCER RATING SCALE

The above definitions apply to the majority of product categories researched by Mercer. However for some product categories the rating scale reflects Mercer’s
degree of confidence in a manager’s ability to achieve a strategy’s stated aims. Examples of where this applies include low volatility equities, cash, passive, liability
driven strategies and DC specific solutions.

P
age 227



© MERCER 2015 57

G U I D E  T O  M E R C E R  R AT I N G S

SUPPLEMENTAL INDICATORS

Provisional (P)

If the Mercer strategy rating is followed by a (P) - for example, A (P) or B+ (P) - the rating is “provisional” - that is, there is temporary uncertainty about the rating, but it is
expected that this will soon be resolved. For example, should two managers announce a merger, but without further details, this uncertainty may be highlighted by modifying
the rating strategies for one or both of those firms - for instance, from A to A (P). (P) indicators are intended to be temporary and should normally last for no more than two
weeks. As soon as the temporary uncertainty has been resolved, or if it becomes apparent that this uncertainty is unlikely to be resolved quickly, the (P) indicator will be
removed and the rating confirmed or changed, or the strategy will be assigned the indicator “watch” (W).

Watch (W)

If the Mercer strategy rating is followed by a (W) – for example, A (W) or B+ (W) - the rating is “watch” - there is some uncertainty about the rating and resolution is not
expected soon, but Mercer believes there is a low probability that the resolution of this uncertainty will lead to a change in the strategy’s rating. (W) indicators are typically
issued when there is an expectation of long-term uncertainty surrounding the rating - for example, a change, or potential change, in a manager’s ownership.

Specifically Assigning (P) and (W) Supplemental Indicators

(P) and (W) indicators are assigned - and removed - by the regular ratings review process described earlier; however, there are circumstances where organizational or
reputational issues that affect a manager warrant the specific assignment of a (P) or (W) indicator to an existing rating. In such circumstances, the decision to apply - or
remove - a (P) or (W) indicator is taken by two senior members of the leadership group of the Manager Research team. These occasions are rare, and the relevant
investment researchers will contribute to any discussions before a (P) or (W) indicator is assigned or removed.

High Tracking Error (T)

If the Mercer strategy rating is followed by a (T) — for example, A (T) or B+ (T) — the strategy is considered to have the potential to generate a tracking error substantially
higher than the average for the relevant product category. In this context, “tracking error” refers to the variability of performance relative to the nominated benchmark for the
strategy. A strategy may be assigned the (T) indicator because the potential for high tracking error has been demonstrated by the strategy’s past performance and/or
because the nature of the investment process is such that a significantly higher than average tracking error could be expected. The absence of a (T) following a rating does
not guarantee that the strategy’s tracking error will not be higher than the average for the relevant product category.

NICHE STRATEGIES

Mercer categorize a limited number of strategies as Niche. The Niche categorization is applied to strategies that are perceived as highly differentiated. Mercer does not have
specific rules as to what characterizes a Niche strategy but examples might include strategies where a manager is seeking to exploit anomalies not generally recognized by
other market participants. It might also be applied to strategies with a short track record and/or limited assets under management.

P
age 228



© MERCER 2015 58

G U I D E  T O  M E R C E R  R AT I N G S

RESEARCH INDICATIONS – INDICATIVE VIEW

For strategies where Mercer  has conducted some initial research, we may apply Mercer Research Indications. Mercer’s Research Indications are an indication of
whether a strategy merits deeper / further due diligence. This indication is shown by an assigned indicative view, identified as a color. A Research Indication does not
necessarily result in future research. All Research Indications are assigned as R rating.

§ Red – further research has “below average” prospects of resulting in an investable rating.

§ Amber – further research has “average” prospects of resulting in an investable rating.

§ Green – further research has “above average” prospects of resulting in an investable rating.

An investable rating is defined as an A or B+.

OPERATIONAL RISK ASSESSMENTS

Mercer Sentinel, a division within Mercer, undertakes operational risk assessments (ORAs) on managers, most often on behalf of clients. These ORAs assess
managers’ operations and implementation risk profiles and cover some of the areas mentioned in section 3, as well as other areas related to operational risk. ORAs are
undertaken separately from the Manager Research process; however, the results are shared with the Lead Researcher for the manager. A Mercer Sentinel ORA that
concludes with an unsatisfactory rating (namely, a “Review” rating) for a manager will result in an immediate (P) rating for all that manager’s relevant rated strategies.
Discussions will follow and any subsequent change in investment rating will be ratified by the standard Manager Research process. Contact your Mercer consultant for
more information.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RATINGS

Mercer also assigns ratings to strategies that represent Mercer’s view on the extent to which environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) and active
ownership practices (voting and engagement) are integrated into the manager’s investment process and decision-making across asset classes. ESG factors are
incorporated into the investment process on the basis that these issues can impact revenue, operating costs, competitive advantage, and the cost of capital. During
discussions with managers about ESG integration, Mercer assesses the use of ESG information to generate outperformance.

P
age 229



© MERCER 2015 59

G U I D E  T O  M E R C E R  R AT I N G S

For passive strategies, Mercer applies an ESGp1 through to ESGp4. There are two key distinctions between ESG ratings for passive and active strategies. First, for
passive, the bulk of the focus is on voting and engagement practices. Second, most of Mercer’s analysis focuses on firm-wide levels of commitment rather than at the
individual strategy level.

RATINGS REVIEW COMMITTEES

Mercer has a process for reviewing and ratifying the ratings proposed by individual investment researchers. For most product categories, strategy ratings are reviewed
regularly by one of several RRCs that operate within Mercer. These committees are composed of professionals from Mercer’s investment research and consulting groups
who draw on research carried out by Mercer investment researchers and consultants. The role of the RRCs is to review this research from a quality control perspective
and ensure consistency of treatment across strategies within a product category.

For certain asset classes, ratings will not have been reviewed by an RRC; however, the rating will have been reviewed by at least two suitably qualified investment
researchers or consultants other than the recommending researcher. An R rating will not necessarily have been reviewed by an RRC but will have been subject to
Mercer's standard peer review process.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF MERCER’S RATINGS

Mercer’s ratings, along with all other information relating to Mercer’s opinions on managers and the investment strategies they offer, represent Mercer’s confidential and
proprietary intellectual property and are subject to change without notice. The information is intended for the exclusive use of the parties to whom it was provided by
Mercer and may not be modified, sold, or otherwise provided, in whole or in part, to any other person or entity (including managers) without Mercer’s prior written
permission.

ESG Rating Scale

ESG1
The highest ESG rating is assigned to strategies that Mercer believes to be leaders in integrating ESG and active ownership
into their core processes, and that provide clear evidence that ESG overall, or a particular ESG theme, is core to idea
generation and portfolio construction.

ESG2
The second highest rating is assigned to strategies that, in Mercer’s view, include ESG factors as part of decision making, with
a strong level of commitment made at a firmwide level and some indication that data and research are being taken into
account by the managers in their valuations and investment process.

ESG3
The penultimate rating is assigned to strategies for which, in Mercer’s view, the manager has made some progress with
respect to ESG integration and/or active ownership, but for which there is little evidence that ESG factors are taken into
consideration in valuations and investment process.

ESG4 The lowest ESG rating is assigned to strategies for which, in Mercer’s view, little has been done to integrate ESG and active
ownership into their core process.P

age 230



© MERCER 2015 60

Mercer Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority Registered in England No. 984275.
Registered Office: 1 Tower Place West, Tower Place, London EC3R 5BU.

P
age 231



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 2 

 
Access to Information Arrangements 

 
Exclusion of access by the public to Council meetings 

 
 
Information Compliance Ref: LGA-1541/15 
 
 
Meeting / Decision: AVON PENSION FUND INVESTMENT PANEL 
 

Date: 18 November 2015 
 
 
Author: Matt Betts 
 

Report Title: Review Of Investment Performance For Periods Ending 30 
September 2015 
 
Appendix 1 – Fund Valuation  

Appendix 2 – Mercer performance monitoring report (shortened version) 

Exempt Appendix 3 – RAG Monitoring Summary Report 

 
The Report contains exempt information, according to the categories set out 
in the Local Government Act 1972 (amended Schedule 12A). The relevant 
exemption is set out below. 
 

 
The public interest test has been applied, and it is concluded that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosure at this time. It is therefore recommended that the Report be 
withheld from publication on the Council website. The paragraphs below set 
out the relevant public interest issues in this case. 
 
 
PUBLIC INTEREST TEST 
 
If the Committee wishes to consider a matter with press and public excluded, 
it must be satisfied on two matters. 
 
Firstly, it must be satisfied that the information likely to be disclosed falls 
within one of the accepted categories of exempt information under the Local 

Stating the exemption: 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information). 
 

Page 233



 

Page 2 of 2 

Government Act 1972.  Paragraph 3 of the revised Schedule 12A of the 1972 
Act exempts information which relates to the financial or business affairs of 
the organisations which is commercially sensitive to the organisations. The 
officer responsible for this item believes that this information falls within the 
exemption under paragraph 3 and this has been confirmed by the Council’s 
Information Compliance Manager.  
 
Secondly, it is necessary to weigh up the arguments for and against 
disclosure on public interest grounds.  The main factor in favour of disclosure 
is that all possible Council information should be public and that increased 
openness about Council business allows the public and others affected by 
any decision the opportunity to participate in debates on important issues in 
their local area.  Another factor in favour of disclosure is that the public and 
those affected by decisions should be entitled to see the basis on which 
decisions are reached.   
 
Weighed against this is the fact that the exempt appendices contains the 
opinions of Council officers and Panel members.  It would not be in the public 
interest if advisors and officers could not express in confidence opinions 
which are held in good faith and on the basis of the best information available.  
 
The exempt appendices also contain details of the investment 
processes/strategies of the investment managers. The information to be 
discussed is commercially sensitive and if disclosed could prejudice the 
commercial interests of the investment managers. 
 
It is also important that the Committee should be able to retain some degree 
of private thinking space while decisions are being made, in order to discuss 
openly and frankly the issues under discussion relating to the investment 
managers in order to make a decision which is in the best interests of the 
Fund’s stakeholders. 
 
The Council considers that the public interest has been served by the fact 
that a significant amount of information regarding the Investment Panel 
Activity has been made available – by way of the main report.  Therefore it is 
recommended that exemption 3 of Schedule 12A stands, that the report be 
discussed in exempt session and that any reporting on the meeting is 
prevented in accordance with Section 100A(5A) 
 
 

Page 234



Document is Restricted

Page 235

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 MINUTES: 11 SEPTEMBER 2015
	Minutes
	EXEMPT MINUTES Public Pack, 11/09/2015 Avon Pension Fund Committee - Investment Panel

	8 MANAGING LIABILITIES - ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS
	Item 8 - Appendix 1
	Item 8 - Appendix 2

	9 REBALANCING POLICY
	Item 9 - Appendix 1
	Item 9 - Appendix 2
	Item 9 - Appendix 3

	10 REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE
	Item 10 - Appendix 1
	Item 10 - Appendix 2
	Item 10 - Exemption Notice
	Item 10 - Exempt appendix 3


